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Under this €5,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the “Programme”), Banca IFIS S.p.A. (the “Issuer” or “Banca 
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Notes. 
An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. For a discussion of these risks see “Risk Factors”. 
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requirements imposed under Irish and EU law pursuant to the Prospectus Directive. Such approval relates only to Notes which are to 
be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange or other regulated markets for the purposes of Directive 
2004/39/EC (the “Markets in Financial Instruments Directive”) and/or which are to be offered to the public in any Member State of 
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issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange and to be listed on the 
official list (the “Official List”) of the Irish Stock Exchange. 
References in this Base Prospectus to Notes being “listed” (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted 
to trading on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange (i.e. Main Securities Market) and have been admitted to the Official List 
of the Irish Stock Exchange. The regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in 
Financial Instruments Directive. The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such 
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rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating that may be assigned to the Issuer or to Notes already issued. Where a 
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IMPORTANT NOTICE 

This Base Prospectus comprises a base prospectus in respect of all Notes issued under the Programme for the 
purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive.  

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus and declares that, 
having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Base 
Prospectus to the best of its knowledge is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to 
affect its import. 

The Issuer has confirmed that this Base Prospectus (including, for this purpose, each applicable Final Terms 
(as defined below)) contains all information regarding the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries (together 
with the Issuer, the “Group”) and the Notes which is material in the context of the Programme and the issue 
of the Notes; such information is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading in any 
material respect; any opinions, predictions or intentions expressed in this Base Prospectus on the part of the 
Issuer are honestly held or made and are not misleading in any material respect; this Base Prospectus does not 
omit to state any material fact necessary to make such information, opinions, predictions or intentions (in such 
context) not misleading in any material respect.   

Important – EEA Retail Investors – If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled 
“Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors”, the Notes are not intended, from 1 January 2018, to be offered, 
sold or otherwise made available to and, with effect from such date, should not be offered, sold or otherwise 
made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). For these purposes, a retail 
investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of 
Directive 2014/65/EU (“MiFID II”); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC, where that 
customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) 
not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive. Consequently no key information document 
required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or 
otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or 
selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under 
the PRIIPS Regulation. 

The Issuer has not authorised the making or provision of any representation or information regarding the 
Issuer, the Group or the Notes other than as contained in this Base Prospectus.  Any such representation or 
information should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any Dealer. 

This Base Prospectus has not been submitted to the clearance procedure or registered with the Commissione 
Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa and may not be used in connection with the offering of the Notes in the 
Republic of Italy, its territories and possessions and any areas subject to its jurisdictions other than in 
accordance with applicable Italian securities laws and regulations, as more fully set out under “Subscription 
and Sale”. 

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms and the offering, sale and delivery of the Notes 
in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law.  Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any 
Final Terms comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any 
such restrictions.  This Base Prospectus may only be used for the purposes for which it has been published.  
For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of the Notes and on distribution of this 
Prospectus and other offering material relating to the Notes, see “Subscription and Sale”. 

In particular, the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and are subject to 
United States tax law requirements.  Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered, sold or 
delivered in the United States or to U.S. persons.  The Notes are subject to restrictions on transferability and 
resale and may not be transferred or resold in the United States or to U.S. persons except as permitted under 
applicable U.S. federal and state securities laws pursuant to a registration statement or an exemption from 
registration. 

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note 
shall in any circumstances create any implication that the information contained in this Base Prospectus is true 
subsequent to the date hereof or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or 
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supplemented or there has been no adverse change, or any event reasonably likely to involve any adverse 
change, in the condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Issuer or the Group since the date of this 
Base Prospectus or, if later, the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or 
supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct at any time 
subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the 
same. 

This Base Prospectus is to be read and construed in conjunction with any supplement hereto, all documents 
which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference and, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, the 
applicable Final Terms.  See “Information Incorporated by Reference” below. This Base Prospectus shall, 
save as specified herein, be read and construed on the basis that such documents are so incorporated and form 
part of this Base Prospectus. 

Neither the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates have authorised the whole or any part of this Base 
Prospectus and none of them makes any representation or warranty, expressed or implied, or accept any 
responsibility, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information in this Base Prospectus.  
Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms constitutes an offer or an invitation to subscribe for or 
purchase any Notes and are not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not 
be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer or the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or 
the Final Terms should purchase the Notes.  In making an investment decision, prospective investors must 
rely on their own examination of the Issuer’s and the Group’s business and the terms of the offering.  
Prospective investors should not consider any information contained in this Base Prospectus to be investment, 
legal, financial, business, accounting or tax advice.  Each prospective investor should consult its own counsel, 
business adviser, accountant, tax adviser and other advisers for legal, financial, business, accounting, tax and 
related advice regarding an investment in the Notes. 

The information set out in the sections of this Base Prospectus describing clearing arrangements is subject to 
any change or reinterpretation of the rules, regulations and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg (the “Clearing Systems”), in each case as currently in effect.  If prospective investors wish to 
use the facilities of any of the Clearing Systems, they should confirm the continued applicability of the rules, 
regulations and procedures of the relevant Clearing System.  The Issuer will not be responsible or liable for 
any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, book-entry interests held through the 
facilities of any Clearing System or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such 
book-entry interests. 

The language of this Base Prospectus is English.  Certain legislative references and technical terms have been 
cited in their original language in order that the correct technical meaning may be ascribed to them under 
applicable law. 

Certain figures included in this Base Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments; accordingly, 
figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown as totals 
in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which precede them. 

 

STABILISATION 

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes under the Programme, the Dealer or Dealers (if 
any) named as the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in 
the applicable Final Terms may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the 
market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. 
However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur.  Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the 
date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is 
made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the 
issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant 
Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the Stabilising 
Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable 
laws and rules. 
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MARKET SHARE INFORMATION AND STATISTICS 

This Base Prospectus contains statements regarding the Issuer’s and the Group’s industry and its relative 
competitive position in the industry that are not based on published statistical data or information obtained 
from independent third parties, but are based on the Issuer’s experience and its own investigation of market 
conditions, including its own elaborations of such published statistical or third-party data. Although the 
Issuer’s estimates are based on information obtained from its customers, sales force, trade and business 
organisations, market survey agencies and consultants, government authorities and associations in its industry 
which it believes to be reliable, there is no assurance that any of these assumptions are accurate or correctly 
reflect the Issuer’s or the Group’s position in the industry. None of the Issuer’s internal surveys or information 
has been verified by independent sources. 

While the Issuer has compiled, extracted and, to the best of its knowledge, correctly reproduced market or 
other industry data from external sources, including third parties or industry or general publications, the Issuer 
has not independently verified such data. The Issuer cannot assure investors of the accuracy and completeness 
of, and takes no responsibility for, such data other than the responsibility for the correct and accurate 
reproduction thereof. The Issuer confirms that this information has been accurately reproduced, and so far as 
the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information available from such external sources, no facts 
have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. 

 

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Financial information incorporated by reference and included in the Base Prospectus 

This Base Prospectus incorporates by reference the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as 
of 31 December 2016 and 2015, and for the years then ended, and the unaudited consolidated interim report of 
the Issuer as of 30 June 2017 and for the six months then ended. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016 
have been prepared by the Issuer’s management in accordance with IFRS and have been audited without 
qualification by EY S.p.A. as stated in the English translations of their audit reports incorporated by reference 
in this Base Prospectus. The unaudited consolidated interim report of the Issuer as of 30 June 2017 and for the 
six months then ended has been prepared by the Issuer’s management in accordance with IAS 34 and has been 
reviewed by EY S.p.A. as stated in the English translation of its unmodified review report incorporated by 
reference in this Base Prospectus. See “Information Incorporated by Reference”. 

Comparability of financial information 

The comparability of the Group’s results of operations and financial condition (i) as of and for the years ended 
on 31 December 2016 and 2015 and (ii) as of and for the six months ended on 30 June 2017 and 2016 is 
affected by the acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of Interbanca S.p.A. and its subsidiaries (together, the 
“Interbanca Group”), which was finalised on 30 November 2016. For additional information on the 
Acquisition, please see “Description of the Issuer – Acquisition of Interbanca” below. 

As a result of the Acquisition: (i) the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 
2016 includes the assets and liabilities of the Interbanca Group, (ii) the Group’s consolidated results of 
operations for the year ended 31 December 2016 include the contribution of the Interbanca Group’s results of 
operations from 30 November 2016 to 31 December 2016, (iii) the Group’s consolidated statement of 
financial position as of 30 June 2017 includes the assets and liabilities of the Interbanca Group, and (iv) the 
Group’s consolidated results of operations for the three months ended 30 June 2017 include the contribution 
of the Interbanca Group’s results of operations from 1 January 2017 to 30 June 2017. 

In this Base Prospectus, certain financial information of the Group as of 31 December 2016 has been 
presented so as to exclude the effects attributable to the Acquisition. This financial information has not been 
audited, reviewed or compiled, nor have any procedures been performed by the independent auditors of the 
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Issuer with respect thereto. Unless otherwise specified, the financial information in this Base Prospectus is 
presented on a historical basis. 

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

In order better to evaluate Banca IFIS’s financial management performance, management has identified 
Alternative Performance Measures (each an “APM”). Management believes that these APMs provide useful 
information for investors as regards the financial position, cash flows and financial performance of the same, 
because they facilitate the identification of significant operating trends and financial parameters.  

This Base Prospectus contains the following alternative performance measures as defined by the European 
Securities and Markets Authority’s Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures (ESMA/2015/1415), 
which are used by the management of the Issuer to monitor its financial and operating performance: 

“ROA”: Return on Assets is an indicator that measures the return on the invested capital or the business 
carried out. It is the ratio between pre-tax operating profit and total assets 

“ROE”: Return On Equity is a synthetic measure of the company’s operating results.  It is calculated as the 
ratio of net profit to the average of equity.  

“ROCA”: Return on Core Assets is an indicator of the return on the assets dedicated to the core business. It is 
calculated as the ratio between gross profit minus net earnings on debt securities and total assets excluding 
debt securities. 

“Cost/Income ratio”: Cost/Income ratio is a ratio of operating costs to net banking income. For this purpose, 
net impairment losses on receivables of the NPL Area were reclassified to interest receivable and similar 
income to present more fairly this particular business, for which net impairment losses represent an integral 
part of the return on the investment. 

It should be noted that: 

i. the APMs are based exclusively on Banca IFIS Group historical data and are not indicative of future 
performance; 

ii. the APMs are not derived from IFRS and, as they are derived from the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group prepared in conformity with these principles, they are not subject to audit; 

iii. the APMs are non-IFRS financial measures and are not recognised as a measure of performance or 
liquidity under IFRS and should not be recognised as alternative to performance measure derived in 
accordance with IFRS or any other generally accepted accounting principles; 

iv. the APMs should be read together with financial information for the Group taken from the 
consolidated financial statements of the Issuer; and 

v. the APMs and definitions used herein are consistent and standardised for all the period for which 
financial information in this Base Prospectus are included. 

 

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Base Prospectus may contain certain statements that are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking, 
including statements with respect to the Issuer’s and the Group’s business strategies, expansion of operations, 
trends in their business and their competitive advantage, information on technological and regulatory changes 
and information on exchange rate risk and generally includes all statements preceded by, followed by or that 
include the words “believe”, “expect”, “project”, “anticipate”, “seek”, “estimate”, “aim”, “intend”, “plan”, 
“continue” or similar expressions.  By their nature, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown 
risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur 
in the future.  Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and 
uncertainties, and actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements as a result 
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of various factors.  Potential investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. 

Any forward-looking statements are only made as of the date of this Base Prospectus, and the Issuer does not 
intend, and does not assume any obligation, to update forward-looking statements set forth in this Base 
Prospectus.  Many factors may cause the Issuer’s or the Group’s results of operations, financial condition, 
liquidity and the development of the industries in which they compete to differ materially from those 
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this Base Prospectus. 

The risks described under “Risk Factors” in this Base Prospectus are not exhaustive.  Other sections of this 
Base Prospectus describe additional factors that could adversely affect the Issuer’s and the Group’s results of 
operations, financial condition, liquidity and the development of the industries in which they operate.  New 
risks can emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for the Issuer to predict all such risks, nor can the 
Issuer assess the impact of all such risks on its business or the extent to which any risks, or combination of 
risks and other factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-
looking statements.  Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should not rely on forward-looking 
statements as a prediction of actual results. 
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CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS 

References to the “Issuer”, the “Bank” or the “Company” are to Banca IFIS S.p.A.; references to the 
“Group” are to the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries. 

References to the “Agent” are to BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch, as issuing and 
principal paying agent, and any successor issuing and principal paying agent appointed from time to time in 
connection with the Notes. 

References to the “Paying Agent” are to BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch, as paying 
agent, and any successor or additional paying agents appointed from time to time in connection with the 
Notes.  

References to “€” or “Euro” are to the single currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the 
European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union, as 
amended. 

References to “billions” are to thousands of millions.  

References to the “Conditions” are to the terms and conditions relating to the Notes set out in this Prospectus 
in the section “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” and any reference to a numbered “Condition” is to the 
correspondingly numbered provision of the Conditions.  

References to “IFRS” in this Prospectus are to International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Commission, which are those required to be used by companies listed on regulated markets in the 
European Union. 
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RISK FACTORS 

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued 
under the Programme. Most of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is 
not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of the occurrence of any such contingency. In addition, 
factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under 
the Programme are also described below. 

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in 
Notes issued under the Programme, but this is not an exhaustive list or explanation of all risks which investors 
may face when making an investment in Notes issued under the Programme and should be used as guidance 
only. The inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes 
may occur for other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the Issuer based on information 
currently available to it or which it may not currently be able to anticipate. Accordingly, the Issuer does not 
represent that the statements below regarding the risk of holding any Notes are exhaustive. In addition, the 
order in which the risk factors are presented below is not intended to be indicative either of the relative 
likelihood that each risk will materialise or of the magnitude of their potential impact on the business, 
financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer and the Group.  

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base Prospectus 
(including the information incorporated by reference herein) and consider carefully whether an investment in 
Notes issued under the Programme is suitable for them in light of the information contained in this Base 
Prospectus and their personal circumstances, based upon their own judgment and upon the advice from such 
financial, accounting, legal, tax and other advisers as they may deem necessary. 

Words and expressions defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” or elsewhere in this Base Prospectus 
have the same meaning in this section, unless otherwise noted. References to a “Condition” is to such 
numbered condition in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. Prospective investors should read the entire 
Base Prospectus, including the information incorporated by reference. 

Factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the 
Programme 

The Issuer’s business and results are affected by economic conditions in Italy and, more generally, by a 
volatile macroeconomic environment 

The global economy, the sovereign debt crisis in Europe, the condition of financial markets and adverse 
macroeconomic developments in Italy, the Issuer’s primary market, could all influence the Issuer’s 
performance. The Issuer’s earning capacity and stability could be affected by the overall economic situation 
and by the dynamics of financial markets. 

In 2016, the Issuer generated 98 per cent. of its operating income in Italy and its results therefore depend in 
particular on economic conditions in Italy which, in turn, are affected by European and global economic 
trends. Italy’s economic performance has been significantly influenced by the international financial crisis and 
has been characterised by stagnation. In particular, from the second half of 2011, the Italian economy went 
through a prolonged phase of recession that culminated at the end of 2014. Since 2015, the Italian economy 
has been in a phase of recovery, albeit weak, due to a gradual stabilisation in domestic demand, moderately 
favourable dynamics in foreign trade and an improved level of production with positive effects on 
employment.  

Following the crisis that hit global markets starting in August 2007, the global financial system and financial 
markets have found themselves operating under difficult and unstable conditions that have required action by 
governments, central banks and supranational organisations to support financial institutions, including the 
injection of liquidity and direct intervention in the recapitalisation of some of these entities. This situation has 
negatively affected the financial markets and has particularly penalised the Italian banking system. 

The scenarios described above have generated for European banks a slowdown in ordinary activity, a decline 
in the value of assets resulting from the decline in stock and bond prices, deterioration of loan portfolios with 
an increase in non-performing loans, and situations of insolvency and additional costs caused by a write-down 
and reduction in the price of assets, with a consequent reduction in the ability to produce profits.  



 

 

 2  
 

In addition, the introduction of austerity programmes has dampened economic growth, which could 
exacerbate the difficulty of Eurozone sovereigns and non-sovereigns in refinancing their debt as it comes due, 
further increasing pressure on the macroeconomic environment in the Eurozone and the global economy, 
which could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, results of operations and financial 
condition.  

If the European Central Bank (the “ECB”) continues to implement an expansionary monetary policy, the 
Issuer’s customers may expect the Issuer to reduce its fees in line with market interest rates and the ECB’s 
interventions and, as a result, unless the Issuer is able to reduce its funding costs, it may achieve lower 
margins.  

Even though tensions on the markets have eased, and some weak signs of recovery can be seen, substantial 
volatility on the markets remains. The uncertainties arising from the Brexit vote and the planned withdrawal 
of the United Kingdom from the European Union could have a material adverse effect on the economies of the 
EU Member States in general, and the Italian economy in particular, with a consequential deterioration of the 
sovereign debt crisis.  

Renewed turmoil in the banking system and financial markets, further consolidation in the banking and 
financial services industry or market failures could trigger a further crunch in credit access, low liquidity level 
and significant volatility in financial markets. Such factors could have a number of effects on the Issuer’s 
operations, including bankruptcy, financial instability or a reduction in the spending capacity of its clients, 
suppliers or partners, its inability to provide its products and services and the inability of its clients to access 
credit to finance the purchase of these services and products. Therefore, should Italian or global economic 
conditions worsen, the Issuer’s services and products may consequently decline due to a variety of factors, 
which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Economic uncertainty and changes in regulations could significantly affect the Issuer’s customer and 
debtor performance 

The Issuer’s business comprises the following operations:  

• factoring services, which allow customers to finance trade receivables and debtors to enter into 
customised payment plans; 

• leasing (both operating and finance leases); 

• corporate banking, designed to support companies in their growth through extraordinary transactions 
aimed at repositioning or expanding their business (through medium/long-term financing and 
structured finance); 

• purchasing and managing tax receivables, either from ongoing businesses or arising from insolvency 
proceedings; and 

• purchasing and managing retail non-performance loans. 

The Issuer is exposed to the risk that its customers or their debtors may become subject to bankruptcy or 
insolvency proceedings and, as a result, may not be able to meet their contractual obligations or enter into new 
contractual obligations or that debtors may cause the deterioration of its asset quality. 

In the case of customers, this could entail non-payment of commission for the Issuer’s credit management 
services. Such risk is heightened in dealing with new or small size corporates, although the Issuer carries out 
credit analysis prior to engaging with them. 

The Issuer is also exposed to sovereign risks in each of the countries in which it operates (mainly in Italy, but 
also in Poland). Although the Issuer believes that the risk of insolvency of public debtors in these countries is 
low, if the central governments of these countries were to default, the public debtors themselves would no 
longer be able to rely on government funding and as a result would no longer be able to repay their debts. 
Furthermore, the Issuer is exposed to the sovereign debt of the Italian government. The credit standing of the 
Italian government, like that of other sovereign states, is subject to monitoring and evaluation by rating 
agencies. The book value of Italian government securities held by the Issuer as at 31 December 2016 and 30 
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June 2017 amounted in each case to Euro 353 million (representing 4.1 per cent. and 3.7 per cent., 
respectively, of total assets).  

Therefore, any deterioration in economic conditions or any changes in the regulatory landscape could have a 
material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The Issuer may evaluate incorrectly the credit risk associated with the timing and/or the amount of future 
payments by debtors  

The Issuer aims to estimate the income that it can generate from its receivables portfolio on the basis of its 
past experience and databases of information relating to debtors. 

The pricing of each receivable acquired in the context of the Issuer’s non-recourse factoring business is 
determined on the basis of its “days sales outstanding” (“DSO”) and the credit assessment of the relevant 
customer and debtor. This formula allows the Issuer to manage the liquidity it needs to run its business and 
determine its margins. Therefore, an extension of the Issuer’s DSO may cause its liquidity no longer to be 
sufficient to cover the financing needs of its non-recourse factoring business. 

Although the Issuer carefully monitors the payment patterns of debtors through its database, which tracks 
payment patterns and average DSOs for each debtor in order to estimate the average timing for collection, it 
cannot rule out the possibility that its estimates may be incorrect. In addition, since certain of its debtors are 
public bodies, following the implementation of certain legislative measures aimed at the reorganisation of 
public administration (including the consolidation of local health authorities in a number of regions in Italy or 
the completion of mergers of municipalities in accordance with the so called Stability Law 2016 (Law 
208/2015)), the Issuer’s counterparties may be replaced by new entities and it may have to interact with new 
debtors not registered in its database, which could give rise to difficulties in estimating the DSOs and pricing. 

Increased inefficiencies in the public sector in Italy or Poland, or deficiencies in their resources, could lead to 
longer DSOs and, as a result, the Issuer’s estimates of timing for collection and future liquidity could be 
incorrect and management costs could increase. This could have a material adverse effect on its business, 
results of operations and financial condition. 

Distressed retail loans (“DRL”) are recorded at their amortised cost; the forecast cash-flows on which the 
calculation of the amortised cost is based are estimated by using a proprietary statistical model whose 
parameters are based both on internal historical data series and analysis performed by subject matter experts. 
Significant market deviations from the historical dataset can affect model predictability and the related amount 
and timing of the estimated cash inflows. 

In connection with the Corporate Banking and Leasing portfolios, which the Group has acquired in the context 
of the acquisition of the Interbanca Group, even though it has performed specific assessment activities, the 
Group is exposed to the risks associated with a further deterioration of such portfolios. Notwithstanding the 
assessment of the Corporate Banking and Leasing portfolios carried out by the Group, an unexpected 
deterioration in the quality of the assets could derive also from a further deterioration of the generalised 
economic situation or the reference sector of the customers of the Group. This could have a material adverse 
effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Extensive regulation in the banking sector may adversely affect the Issuer’s business 

The Issuer operates in a highly-regulated environment for banks and the laws and government regulations 
related to its industry may change from time to time. In particular, the Issuer is subject to extensive regulation 
and supervision by the Bank of Italy, the European Central Bank, the European Banking Authority and the 
European System of Central Banks. The Issuer is subject to law and regulations that govern the activities 
carried out by banks and are aimed at maintaining banks’ safety and soundness and limiting their exposure to 
risk. In addition, the Issuer must comply with any financial services law which may apply to its marketing and 
selling activities. 

The Issuer has established specific procedures and internal policies in order to comply with applicable 
regulations. However, the Issuer cannot rule out any breach of such regulations in the future, particularly with 
respect to anti money laundering and fairness in dealing with clients, or any failure by the competent 
authorities to interpret such regulations correctly or any inspections by the Bank of Italy having a negative 
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outcome. This could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, results of operations and financial 
condition. 

The Basel III Proposals were implemented by the Capital Requirements Directive 2013/36/EU (“CRD IV”) 
and Capital Requirements Regulation (Regulation (EU) No 575/2013) (“CRR”), which came into force 
following their adoption in June 2013. Full implementation began on 1 January 2014, with some elements to 
be phased in over a period of time. The requirements must become fully effective and applicable from 2019, 
though some minor transitional provisions will be introduced by 2024. Nevertheless, implementation in each 
country may require more time. See “—The Issuer may be unable to meet the minimum capital adequacy 
requirements” below. 

In addition, in June 2012 the European Commission published the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive 
(Directive 2014/59/EU) (“BRRD”), a legislative proposal for a directive providing for the establishment of an 
EU wide framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms. The stated aim 
of the BRRD is to provide authorities with common tools and powers to address banking crisis pre-emptively 
in order to safeguard financial stability and minimise taxpayers’ exposure to losses, including the so-called 
“bail-in” tool which has been applied by Member States since 1 January 2016. The powers set out in the 
BRRD will affect how credit institutions and investment firms are managed, as well as, in certain 
circumstances, the right of creditors such as Noteholders, as described in further details under “– Risks 
applicable to all Notes—The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive may affect the Notes”.  

As some of the banking laws and regulations which apply to the Issuer’s business have only recently been 
adopted, the manner in which those laws and regulations are applied to the operations of financial institutions 
is still evolving. There can be no assurance that such laws and regulations will be adopted, enforced or 
interpreted in a manner that will not have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Moreover, the Issuer’s factoring business is subject to extensive and complex legislation and regulations, the 
most significant of which is Directive 2011/7/EU, which is applicable to late payments and establishes, among 
other things, the rate of late payment interest. The application of this directive in Italy and Poland enables the 
Issuer with a reasonable degree of certainty and uniformity to make profit estimates for the Issuer’s non-
recourse factoring business. Any changes to the current regulations, including at an EU level, could lead to 
unanticipated costs and have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of 
operations. In particular, any significant reductions to late payment interest rates could adversely affect its 
profitability. 

Directive 2014/49/EU on deposit guarantee schemes (the so called “Deposit Guarantee Schemes Directive”) 
introduced a new mixed funding mechanism based on ordinary contributions (ex ante) and extraordinary 
contributions (ex post) linked to the amount of covered deposits and the risk level of each member. As a result 
of the implementation of these measures, the Issuer has incurred costs of €4.6 million. In relation to the Single 
Resolution Fund – SRF, evaluated by the Single Resolution Board – SRB, (in accordance with Directive 
2014/59/UE) the Issuer has incurred costs of € 6.3 million. 

Moreover, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision has embarked on a very significant risk weighted 
average (“RWA”) variability agenda. This includes a fundamental review of the trading book, revised 
standardized approaches (credit, market, operational risk) and a consultation paper on a capital floor. The 
regulator’s primary aim is to eliminate unwarranted levels of RWA variance. The implementation of the new 
framework is expected for 2019 at the earliest. The new setup will have a revolutionary impact on risk 
modelling: directly on the exposures assessed via standardized approach, but also indirectly on internal ratings 
based approach (“IRB”), due to the introduction of capital floors that, according to the new framework, will 
be calculated basing on the revised standardized approach. 

The introduction of new regulations in the future or any changes to the legislation currently in force in the 
countries in which the Issuer operates may require the Issuer to comply with new standards in ways that the 
Issuer cannot currently predict or restrict the Issuer’s ability to do business in those countries. As a result, the 
Issuer could incur additional costs from having to adapt the features of its products and services or distribution 
and control structures to comply with such new regulations. As a result, the Issuer may also have to limit its 
operations. This could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition and results 
of operations.  
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The Issuer may be unable to meet minimum capital adequacy requirements  

Capital adequacy rules for banks set out the minimum capital, asset quality and risk mitigation instrument 
prudential requirements. The Basel III framework also provides for the creation of additional capital buffers in 
excess of the minimum requirements in order to provide banks with high quality capital resources to be used 
in times of market stress, as well as to address the risks posed by systemically important banks at a global or 
domestic level. The total amount of such capital buffers is referred to as the combined buffer requirement (the 
“Combined Buffer Requirement”). The Combined Buffer Requirement must be met through CET1 capital.  

A failure to satisfy the Combined Buffer Requirement subjects banks to capital conservation measures, such 
as restrictions on distributions, such as (i) payment of cash dividends, (ii) distribution of fully or partly paid 
bonus shares or other CET1 capital instruments, (iii) redemption or purchase by an institution of its own 
shares or other CET1 capital instruments, (iv) a repayment of amounts paid up in connection with CET1 
capital instruments and (v) distribution of share premium accounts related to the CET1 capital instruments, 
retained earnings, accumulated other comprehensive income, other reserves and funds for general banking 
risk. As at the date of this Base Prospectus the Issuer has complied with this requirement. However, if the 
Bank of Italy were to require additional capital buffers in the future, the Issuer may fail to meet such 
requirements or, in order to comply, the Issuer may have to divert funds which were intended to be used for its 
core activities. Any such requirements could also have a material adverse effect on its business, results of 
operations and financial condition. 

In addition, the Group is subject to the Pillar 2 requirements for banks imposed under the CRD and CRR, 
which will be impacted, on an on-going basis, by the SREP. The SREP is aimed at ensuring that institutions 
have in place adequate arrangements, strategies, processes and mechanisms to maintain the amounts, types 
and distribution of internal capital commensurate to their risk profile, as well as robust governance and 
internal control arrangements. The key purpose of the SREP is to ensure that institutions have adequate 
arrangements as well as capital and liquidity to ensure sound management and coverage of the risks to which 
they are or might be exposed, including those revealed by stress testing, as well as risks the institution may 
pose to the financial system.  

The quantum of any Pillar 2 requirement imposed on a bank, the type of capital which it must apply to 
meeting such capital requirements, and whether the Pillar 2 requirement is “stacked” below the capital buffers 
(i.e. the bank’s capital resources must first be applied to meeting the Pillar 2 requirements in full before 
capital can be applied to meeting the capital buffers) or “stacked” above the capital buffers (i.e. the bank’s 
capital resources can be applied to meeting the capital buffers in priority to the Pillar 2 requirement) may all 
impact a bank’s ability to comply with the Combined Buffer Requirement. As to whether Pillar 2 
requirements are stacked below or above capital buffers, in its publication of the 2016 EU-wide stress test 
results on 29 July 2016, the EBA has recognised a distinction between “pillar 2 requirements” (stacked below 
the capital buffers) and “Pillar 2 capital guidance” (stacked above the capital buffers). With respect to Pillar 2 
capital guidance, the publication stated that, in response to the stress test results, competent authorities may 
(among other things) consider “setting capital guidance, above the combined buffer requirement. Competent 
authorities have remedial tools if an institution refuses to follow such guidance. The ECB published a set of 
“Frequently asked questions on the 2016 EU-wide stress test”, confirming this distinction between Pillar 2 
requirements and Pillar 2 capital guidance and noting that “Under the stacking order, banks facing losses will 
first fail to fulfil their Pillar 2 capital guidance. In case of further losses, they would next breach the combined 
buffers, then Pillar 2 requirements, and finally Pillar 1 requirements”. Under the current CRD Reform 
Package proposals, only Pillar 2 requirements, and not Pillar 2 capital guidance, will be relevant in 
determining whether an institution is meeting its combined buffer requirement. 

As of 31 December 2016 and 30 June 2017, the Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio of the Group was equal to 
14.72 per cent. and 14.79 per cent., respectively; as of 31 December 2016 and 30 June 2017, the Total Capital 
ratio was equal to 15.31 per cent and 15.64 per cent., respectively. Although the Issuer’s capital adequacy 
levels currently exceed the minimum levels prescribed by the Bank of Italy, no assurance can be given that the 
Issuer will be able to maintain this capital adequacy level.  

The regulatory framework to which the Group is subject is open to ongoing changes. In particular, on 23 
November 2016, the European Commission presented a comprehensive package of reforms designed to 
further strengthen the resilience of EU banks (the “EU Banking Reform”). The proposals contained in the 
EU Banking Reform amend many of the existing provisions set forth in the CRD IV, CRR and related 
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legislation, the BRRD and the SRM Regulation. These proposals are now being submitted for consideration 
by the European Parliament and Council. Until such time as the proposals are formally approved by the 
European Parliament and Council, there can be no assurance as to whether, or when, the proposed 
amendments will be adopted and whether they will be adopted in the manner currently proposed in the EU 
Banking Reform package. 

Furthermore, the Issuer cannot accurately predict whether future changes may be made to certain criteria 
established by the European Central Bank in the countries in which the Issuer operates and in particular, 
whether changes will be made to the exposure classes established by the CRR for states and central 
administrations (currently 0 per cent.) as well as local authorities (20 per cent.). Accordingly, such changes 
could make it more difficult for the Issuer to satisfy and comply with capital adequacy levels, standards and/or 
regulations. 

There can be no assurances that the Issuer’s capital ratios will not fall below the minimum requirement in 
future. If this were to occur, the ECB or supervisory authorities may take action that could have a material 
adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The Issuer is exposed to liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Issuer is unable to honour those payment commitments which are 
certain or are with a reasonable degree of certainty expected as they become due. Two forms of liquidity risk 
can be identified: (a) funding liquidity risk, namely, the risk that the Issuer is unable to honour its payment 
commitments and its obligations efficiently due to its inability to secure funding, without prejudice to its core 
activity and/or its financial position; and (b) market liquidity risk, namely, the risk that the Issuer is unable to 
sell a financial asset without incurring capital account losses due to the market’s limited liquidity and/or as a 
consequence of the time period in which the transaction must be carried out. 

In order to ensure that the Issuer continues to meet its funding obligations and to maintain or grow its 
business, it relies on ongoing access mainly to the market for online retail deposit accounts. This type of 
funding may adversely affect its liquidity soundness because the interest rate policy of competitors or 
economic market factors could lead to unexpected outflows. Other significant changes in the Issuer’s overall 
liquidity profile could be caused by receivables DSOs (e.g. incorrect assumptions of the expected cash 
inflows), which may cause a negative liquidity gap and affect its ability to meet financial obligations.  
Increases in past-due loan amounts could also affect secured funding and, under certain scenarios, act as a 
trigger event and cause an early termination.  

The Issuer’s ability to access funding sources on favourable economic terms is dependent on a variety of 
factors, including a number of factors outside of its control, such as liquidity constraints, general market 
conditions and confidence in the Italian banking system.  

The global financial crisis and resulting financial instability have significantly reduced the levels and 
availability of liquidity and term funding. In particular, the perception of counterparty credit risk between 
banks has increased significantly, resulting in reductions in inter-bank lending and the level of confidence 
from banks’ customers. Should the Issuer be unable to continue to source a sustainable funding profile which 
can absorb these sudden shocks, its ability to fund its financial obligations at a competitive cost, or at all, 
could be affected which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and 
financial condition. 

The Issuer may not be able to cover its exposure to credit and market risk  

To the extent that any of the instruments and strategies, including legal actions and the enforcement of claims, 
used by the Issuer to hedge or otherwise manage exposure to credit or market risks are not effective, the Issuer 
may not be able to mitigate effectively its risk exposure in particular market environments or against 
particular types of risk. The Issuer’s market risk arises in relation to the banking portfolio, which is generally 
linked to differences in interest rates, foreign currencies and credit spreads of the issuers of debt securities.  

The Issuer’s financial results also depend upon how effectively the Issuer determines and assesses the cost of 
credit and manage exposure related to its most relevant risks, in line with its established risk appetite.  
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In addition, since the Issuer’s business is focused primarily on Italy and, to a lesser extent, Poland, a return of 
adverse economic conditions in Italy and Poland could have a significant effect on the credit profile of debtors 
and their ability to meet payment obligations when due, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on 
its business, results of operations and financial condition.  

The Issuer may be unable to meet the objectives of its growth strategy 

The Issuer’s strategic plan for the years 2017 to 2019 (as referred to in “Description of the Issuer—Recent 
Developments”, the “Strategic Plan”) is based, among other things, on cross-selling opportunities amongst 
existing and recently acquired products and services offered that may not materialise, plus numerous 
assumptions and estimates some of which relate to events not fully controlled by the Board of Directors of the 
Group. In particular, the Strategic Plan contains a set of assumptions, estimates and predictions that are based 
on the occurrence of future events and actions to be taken by management and the Board of Directors of the 
Issuer in the period in question, which include, among other things, various hypothetical assumptions subject 
to risks and uncertainties arising from the current economic environment, relating to future events and actions 
of directors and the management of the Group that may not necessarily occur, events, actions, and other 
assumptions including those related to performance of main economic and financial values or other factors 
that affect their development over which the directors and management of the Group have no or limited 
control. These assumptions may or may not occur to an extent and at times different from those projected. 
Furthermore, events may occur which are unpredictable at the time of approval of the Strategic Plan. Given 
that the assumptions underlying the Strategic Plan are inherently affected by subjective assessments, 
hypotheses and discretionary judgments, should one or more of the underlying assumptions fail to materialise 
(or materialise only in part) or should the actions taken and choices made by management in the 
implementation of the Strategic Plan produce effects different from those expected, the targets set forth in the 
Strategic Plan may not be met (or may be met only partially) and the actual results of the Group may differ, 
possibly significantly, from the estimated results of the Group envisaged in the Strategic Plan with a 
consequential negative impact on the business, financial condition and/or results of operations of the Group.  

The Issuer may be unable to integrate Interbanca Group’s business successfully  

The Issuer is exposed to risks relating to the acquisition of the Interbanca Group (the “Acquisition”) and its 
integration within the Issuer’s Group.  

The Acquisition involves the risks which are inherent in any merger of a corporate group, i.e.: risks relating to 
the management and personnel coordination, integration of businesses and services offered, information 
systems, structures, as well as the possible loss of customers and key personnel by the companies participating 
in the Acquisition. The Acquisition involves, inter alia, the need for the convergence of information systems 
and the operating models into a single model. This process presents risks related to the aggregation of 
companies. 

Whether the Issuer can achieve synergies and growth as a result of the Issuer’s acquisition of the Interbanca 
Group will mainly depend on its capacity to integrate the Interbanca Group successfully within its Group. 
Difficulties could arise concerning the coordination of two different business models, management and staff 
as well as the integration of IT systems, structures and existing services. The integration of the Interbanca 
Group within the Issuer’s Group could also lead to higher costs. Furthermore, if the Issuer was unable to fully 
integrate the management control systems or operating procedures the Issuer could be subject to fines imposed 
by the competent authorities. Any failure to achieve desired synergies could have an adverse effect in terms of 
growth opportunities and the development of business volumes. As at the date of this Base Prospectus the 
successful completion of the integration cannot be guaranteed, including with reference to centralisation of 
operational structure of the group companies, information systems, rationalisation of products and services 
offered by the Group and the harmonisation of resources with the Group’s management policy. 

Therefore, the Issuer’s ability to integrate the Interbanca Group successfully into its business depends on 
many factors, many of which are outside its control and any setbacks in integrating the Interbanca Group 
could have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 
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The Group’s historical financial and operating results are not indicative of future performance and will not 
be comparable with its future financial and operating results 

The Group’s historical financial and operating results are not indicative of its future performance. There can 
be no assurance of the Group’s continued profitability in future periods. 

In addition, the financial and operating results of the Group following the Acquisition reflect and will reflect 
the contribution of the Interbanca Group from 30 November 2016. As a result of the Acquisition, the Group’s 
consolidated results of operations and financial condition (i) as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016 
include the contribution of Interbanca Group’s results of operations from 30 November 2016 to 31 December 
2016 and (ii) as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2017 include the contribution of Interbanca Group’s 
results of operations from 1 January 2017 to 30 June 2017. 

Therefore the Group’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 
the unaudited consolidated interim report as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2017 are not comparable 
with the Group’s previous financial statements. In addition, the Group’s consolidated financial statements as 
of and for the year ended 31 December 2016 will not be comparable with the future Group’s financial 
statements due to the contribution of the Interbanca Group’s to the 2016 financial and operating results of the 
Group only from 30 November 2016 to 31 December 2016. For additional information, see also “–The Issuer 
may be unable to integrate Interbanca Group’s business successfully” and the section “Description of the 
Issuer – Acquisition of Interbanca” of this Base Prospectus. 

The Group may be affected by new accounting standards 

IFRS 9 was issued on 24 July 2014 and the International Accounting Standards Board decided that the 
mandatory effective date will be 1 January 2018, further to an endorsement by the European Union. This 
standard will introduce significant changes with regard to classification, measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting of instruments, including financial instruments, replacing IAS 39. Following the entry into force 
and subsequent application of IFRS 9, the Group may have potentially negative effects on the estimates 
contained in the financial plans for future years. 

The Issuer’s business is exposed to a variety of operational risks, including fraud, errors, security breaches 
or other adverse events, some that are wholly or partially out of its control  

In conducting its business the Issuer is exposed to different types of operational risk, such as the risk of losses 
resulting from: (i) internal or external fraud, (ii) customer claims and disputes, (iii) unauthorised activity or 
transactions, (iv) penalties for breaches of any applicable laws, (v) errors, omissions and delays in providing 
its services, (vi) inadequacy or incorrect functioning of internal procedures, including, in particular, failure to 
follow procedures for the identification, monitoring and management of business risks, (vii) shortcomings in 
the preparation and/or preservation of documents relating to its transactions, (viii) lack of resources; and (ix) 
damage to property caused by weather, other conditions or natural disasters. Although the Issuer has a system 
of controls and procedures in place to mitigate and minimise the risks connected with its operations, prevent 
and/or limit their possible negative effect and use various resources to mitigate such risks, these measures may 
prove to be inadequate to cover all types of risks that could arise. One or more such risks could occur in the 
future as a result of unpredictable events wholly or partly outside of its control (for example, fraud, scams or 
losses due to employee negligence or misconduct or violation of control procedures or losses due to natural 
disasters). The occurrence of any of these risks could have an adverse effect on its business, results of 
operations and financial condition. 

The Issuer’s business activities require the Issuer to record and process a large number of transactions and 
handle large amounts of money accurately on a daily basis. The proper functioning of financial control, 
accounting or other data collection and processing systems is critical to its business and to its ability to 
compete effectively. A human or technological failure, error, omission or delay in recording or processing 
transactions, or any other material breakdown in internal controls, could subject the Issuer to claims for losses 
from clients, including claims for breach of contractual and other obligations, and to regulatory fines and 
penalties. Given the Issuer’s high volume of transactions, errors may be repeated or compounded before they 
are discovered and rectified, and there can be no assurance that risk assessments made in advance will 
adequately estimate the costs of these errors.  
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Additionally, the Issuer faces the risk of theft, fraud or deception carried out by clients, third-party agents, 
employees and managers. If persons are able to circumvent its security measures, they could wrongfully use 
its confidential information or that of its clients, which could expose the Issuer to a risk of loss, regulatory 
consequences or litigation and could have a negative impact on its reputation and brand name, all of which 
could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Furthermore, if any of the Issuer’s managers or employees engage in misconduct in carrying out their duties, 
the mechanisms the Issuer has in place may be deemed inadequate and the Issuer may be subject to sanctions 
(including fines and, in the most serious cases, disqualification, prohibition from carrying on its business, 
suspension or revocation of licences and authorisations) which could have an adverse effect on its business, 
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the Issuer cannot rule out any future breach of 
money laundering legislation, for example by not properly carrying out background checks on customers. 

Any malfunction or defect in the Issuer’s information technology systems could materially affect its ability 
to operate its business  

The Issuer’s business relies on the proper and uninterrupted functioning of its IT and data processing systems. 
The Issuer has made significant investments to develop a secure and reliable IT system. However, the Issuer 
cannot rule out the possibility that any serious failure of the factoring system or of its disaster recovery plan or 
any external IT attacks could interrupt its business or materially affect its activities. 

Risks related to technology and cyber-security change rapidly and require continued innovation and 
investment. Given the rapidly increasing sophistication and scope of potential cyber-attack, future attacks may 
lead to significant breaches in the Issuer’s security. Any of these disruptions, the inability to manage cyber-
security risk adequately, or the interception of confidential or proprietary information could give rise to losses 
in service to its customers and to loss or liability to its Group. 

The Issuer uses information systems that enable integration among the distribution structure, internal 
operating structures and software applications through which customers access the services offered. Any 
malfunctioning or interruption of these information systems, due to internal or external factors, could expose 
the Issuer’s business to operational, strategic and reputational risks. In addition, its ability to remain 
competitive depends in part on its ability to upgrade its information technology on a timely and cost-effective 
basis. The Issuer may not be able to maintain the level of capital expenditure necessary to support the 
improvement or upgrading of its information technology infrastructure. If the design of its controls and 
procedures prove inadequate, or are circumvented, delays in detection or errors in information may occur and 
its reputation could be damaged and/or its competitive position weakened.  

Any serious or repeated system failure could result in the loss of information on payment patterns and timing 
contained in the Issuer’s database or such information becoming inaccurate or unreliable and could 
compromise its ability to competitively purchase or manage receivables, which could have a material adverse 
effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The Issuer collects, stores and processes sensitive personal data belonging to its customers  

In carrying out its activities the Issuer collects, stores and processes the sensitive personal and business data of 
its customers. The Issuer also adopts internal procedures and measures to regulate access to data by its own 
staff and its treatment in order to prevent unauthorised access and treatment. 

The Issuer is exposed to the risk that the procedures implemented and the measures adopted may prove not to 
be adequate and/or in compliance with laws and regulations and/or promptly or properly implemented by 
employees and associates (possibly due to continuous changes in the rules and procedures themselves). Thus, 
the data could be subject to damage, loss or theft, or disclosure or processing for purposes other than those 
authorised by the customers, or even use by unauthorised parties (whether third parties or employees of 
companies of the Group). 

Furthermore, as the Issuer’s business is subject to the Code of Ethics of the Data Protection Authority 
(Autorità Garante per la Protezione dei Dati Personali), any changes in such legislation, including at EU level, 
could force the Issuer to bear the costs of adapting to the new legislation. 



 

 

 10  
 

If any of these circumstances occur they could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 
including its reputation, and the application of administrative and criminal penalties by the Data Protection 
Authority on one or more companies of the Group or their representatives, which could have a material 
adverse effect on its business, results of operation and financial condition. 

The Issuer’s risk management policies, procedures and methods may leave it exposed to unidentified or 
unanticipated risks  

The Issuer believes it has in place an adequate risk management system, in terms of defined governance 
framework, adopted policies and procedures, used systems and dedicated human resources which allow the 
Issuer to identify, monitor and manage potential risks (so called “risk management”) that the Issuer is exposed 
to in the course of its business, including credit, counterparty, liquidity, market, interest rate, concentration, 
operational and IT risks. 

The Issuer has developed specific policies and procedures which provide for corrective mechanisms to be 
applied before potential risks reach certain thresholds set by the Bank of Italy or by its Board of Directors. 
Methods used to monitor and manage these risks include analysis of historical data series, market trends and 
the use of statistical models for the identification, monitoring, control and management of risks. 

If the policies and procedures the Issuer uses to identify, monitor and manage risk turn out to be inadequate, or 
the Issuer’s assessments and assumptions turn out to be inaccurate, thus exposing the Issuer to unforeseen and 
unquantified risks, the Issuer may incur significant losses, which could have a material adverse effect on its 
business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Furthermore, even if the Issuer’s internal procedures for the identification and management of risk are 
adequate, the occurrence of certain events that cannot be predicted or quantified (in light of the uncertainty 
and volatility that currently characterises global markets) may increase such risks, which could have a material 
adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The Issuer may not be able to attract and retain key personnel  

The results and the future success of the Issuer’s business depend on its ability to attract, retain and motivate 
highly skilled individuals within its management team who have expertise in the business sector in which the 
Issuer operates. 

The Issuer’s business and the sector in which it operates depend on a relatively small number of key 
individuals. The loss of one or more key individuals or its inability to attract and retain further qualified 
personnel could cause its business to lose its competitive advantage. Although in the past three years there has 
been no turnover of its senior managers, the Issuer cannot guarantee that it will be able to attract and retain the 
qualified personnel upon which its business relies.  

In addition, the Issuer invests a considerable amount of time and resources in training its employees to be 
highly qualified and, as a result, its employees are often sought after by competitors. The Issuer may not be 
able to recruit and retain such personnel at levels consistent with its salary structure since some competitors 
may be able to offer more favourable working conditions. In addition, any changes to European banking 
legislation could impose limits on the compensation of its managers, which might make it more difficult for 
the Issuer to attract and retain qualified management. 

Any inability to attract or retain qualified personnel could have a material adverse effect on its business, 
results of operations and financial condition. 

The Issuer is involved in disputes, investigations and legal proceedings which could have a material 
adverse effect on the Issuer  

In the ordinary course of its business, the Issuer are exposed to the risk of being party to legal, civil, 
administrative and tax proceedings or actions. Although it believes that it has set aside sufficient reserves to 
cover ongoing proceedings, the Issuer cannot predict with certainty the outcome of such proceedings, which 
may be unfavourable for the Issuer, or whether new unexpected proceedings may arise, both of which could 
have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition. See also 
“Description of the Issuer — Legal Proceedings”. 
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There can be no assurances of the success of any of the Group’s future attempts to acquire additional 
businesses or of the Group’s ability to integrate any businesses acquired in the future 

The Group evaluates potential acquisitions on an ongoing basis and, from time to time, may seek 
opportunities to expand its operations by way of strategic acquisitions, both in markets in which it currently 
operates and in complementary / ancillary markets. Although the Group assesses each investment based on 
financial and market analysis, which include certain assumptions, additional investments could materially 
adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition, if: (i) the Group incurs 
substantial costs, delays or other operational or financial problems in acquiring and/or integrating acquired 
businesses; (ii) the Group is not able to identify, acquire or profitably manage such additional businesses; (iii) 
such acquisitions divert management’s attention from the operation of existing businesses; (iv) the Group is 
not able to retain key personnel of acquired businesses; (v) the Group encounters unanticipated events, 
circumstances or legal liabilities; or (vi) the Group has difficulties in obtaining the required financing or the 
required financing may only be available on unfavourable terms. 

Additionally, if such acquisitions are completed, there can be no assurances that the Group will be able to 
successfully integrate any businesses acquired in the future, due to unforeseen difficulties in operations and 
insufficient support systems among other things. 

The Issuer operates in a highly competitive market and may not be able to maintain its current market 
share  

Although the Issuer is one of the main players in the markets in which it operates and the number of 
competitors is relatively low, its competitors may penetrate or consolidate their position in these markets, 
attract its customers and deprive the Issuer of a significant market share by offering more innovative products 
and services. Competitive pressure may also arise either from consumer demand for new services and 
products on the funding side as well as technological demand, with the consequent necessity to make 
investments, or as a result of competitors’ specific competitive actions. If it is unable to maintain its market 
position in the future it is likely to have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and 
financial condition. 

Risks applicable to all Notes  

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors 

Each potential investor in the Notes should determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own 
circumstances.  In particular, each potential investor should consider, either on its own or with the help of its 
financial and other professional advisers, whether it: 

(i) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and 
risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this 
Prospectus or any applicable supplement; 

(ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its 
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such investment will have on 
its overall investment portfolio; 

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, 
including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential 
investor’s currency; 

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of financial markets; 
and 

(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for 
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the 
applicable risks. 

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase 
complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a 
way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall 
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portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in the Notes, unless the potential investor has the expertise 
(either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, 
the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential 
investor’s overall investment portfolio. 

The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive may affect Notes  

As described in “– Factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under 
the Programme – Extensive regulation in the banking sector may adversely affect the Issuer’s business” 
above, the BRRD gives wide powers to governments aimed at addressing banking crises pre-emptively in 
order to safeguard financial stability and minimise taxpayers’ exposure to losses. These include the so-called 
“bail-in tool”, by which resolution authorities would have the power to write down the claims relating to the 
liabilities of a failing institution that are eligible for bail-in and/or to convert such liabilities into equity. In 
addition to the bail-in tool, the BRRD provides for additional resolution tools such as (1) the sale of business 
assets or shares of the entity subject to resolution; (2) the establishment of a bridging organisation; and (3) the 
separation of the unimpaired assets of the failing organisation from those which are deteriorated or impaired. 

The BRRD has required Member States to modify their national insolvency regimes so that deposits of natural 
persons and micro, small and medium-sized enterprises in excess of the coverage level contemplated by 
deposit guarantee schemes created pursuant to Directive 2014/49/EU have a ranking in normal insolvency 
proceedings which is higher than the ranking which applies to claims of ordinary, unsecured, non-preferred 
creditors (as well as unsecured, subordinated creditors), such as holders of the Notes. Furthermore, the BRRD 
does not prevent Member States, including Italy, from amending national insolvency regimes to provide other 
types of creditors, such as holders of corporate deposits or other operating liabilities of the Issuer with 
rankings in insolvency higher than ordinary, unsecured, non-preferred creditors, as well as unsecured, 
subordinated creditors (such as holders of the Notes). In this respect, Italian Legislative Decree No. 181/2015 
has amended the creditor hierarchy in the case of admission of Italian banks and investment firms to 
liquidation proceedings (and therefore the hierarchy which will apply in order to assess claims pursuant to the 
safeguard provided for in the BRRD as described above), by providing that, as from 1 January 2019, all 
deposits other than those protected by the deposit guarantee scheme and excess deposits of individuals and 
micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (which benefit from the super-priority required under Article 108 
of the BRRD) will benefit from priority over senior unsecured liabilities, though with a ranking which is 
lower than that provided for individual/ micro, small and medium-sized enterprises deposits exceeding the 
coverage limit of the deposit guarantee scheme created pursuant to Directive 2014/49/EU. 

As a result, significant amounts of liabilities that previously would have ranked pari passu with the Senior 
Notes under the national insolvency regime in Italy will be ranked higher than the Notes in normal insolvency 
proceedings and, on application of the general bail-in tool, such creditors will be written-down or converted 
into equity after the Notes, meaning that holders of the Notes will therefore be subject to greater losses than 
the claims of such other creditors. Furthermore, the right of holders of the Notes have only very limited rights 
to challenge and/or seek a suspension of any decision by resolution authorities or to have it reviewed by a 
judicial or administrative process or otherwise. 

The measures set out in the BRRD, including the bail-in tool, have already been implemented in Italy, taking 
effect from 1 January 2016. The powers set out in the BRRD will have a significant impact on how credit 
institutions and investment firms are managed as well as, in certain circumstances, the rights of creditors. As a 
result, holders of the Notes may be subject to write-down or conversion into equity on any application of the 
general bail-in tool, which may result in their losing some or all of their investment. In addition to the general 
bail-in tool, the BRRD provides for resolution authorities to have the further power to write-down 
permanently or convert into equity capital instruments such as Subordinated Notes at the point of non-viability 
of the financial institution or the group and before any other resolution action is taken (“non-viability loss 
absorption”). Any shares issued to holders of Subordinated Notes upon any such conversion into equity may 
also be subject to any application of the general bail-in tool. For the purposes of the application of any non-
viability loss absorption measure, the point of non-viability under the BRRD is the point at which the relevant 
authority determines that the institution (or group) meets the conditions for resolution (but no resolution action 
has yet been taken) or that the institution (or group) will no longer be viable unless the relevant capital 
instruments (such as Subordinated Notes) are written-down or converted or extraordinary public support is to 
be provided.  The exercise of any power under the BRRD or any suggestion of such exercise taking place 
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could, therefore, have a material adverse effect on the rights of Noteholders, the price or value of their 
investment in any Notes and/or the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under any Notes.  

For a description of the loss absorption requirement, see Condition 2 (Status of Senior Notes) and Condition 3 
(Status of Subordinated Notes). 

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes 

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features 
which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common 
features: 

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer 

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the 
Issuer may, or there is an actual or perceived increase in the likelihood that the Issuer may, elect to redeem 
Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can 
be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period. The Issuer may be expected to redeem 
Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor 
generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the 
interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential 
investors should consider reinvestment risk in the light of other investments available at that time. 

Redemption prior to maturity for tax reasons 

In the event that the Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of the Notes due to 
any change in or amendment to the laws or regulations of the Republic of Italy or any political subdivision 
thereof or of any authority therein or thereof having the power to tax or in the interpretation or administration 
thereof, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Conditions of the Notes.  If this 
occurs, there can be no assurance that it will be possible for Noteholders to reinvest the redemption proceeds 
at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes. 

Redemption for regulatory reasons 

In addition, the Issuer may also, at its option, redeem Subordinated Notes following a Regulatory Event in 
accordance with Condition 11.3 (Redemption for regulatory reasons). Any redemption of the Subordinated 
Notes shall be subject to the prior approval of the Relevant Authority, as further set out in Condition 11.6 
(Redemption of Subordinated Notes). See also “– Regulatory Classification of the Subordinated Notes”. 

Reform of LIBOR and EURIBOR and other interest rate index and equity, commodity and foreign 
exchange rate index “benchmarks” 

The London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) and other 
indices which are deemed "benchmarks" are the subject of recent national, international and other regulatory 
guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others are still to be 
implemented. These reforms may cause such “benchmarks” to perform differently than in the past, or to 
disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have 
a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to a “benchmark”. 

Key international reforms of “benchmarks” include IOSCO’s proposed Principles for Financial Market 
Benchmarks (July 2013) (the “IOSCO Benchmark Principles”) and the EU’s Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 of 
the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial 
instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds and amending 
Directives 2008/48/EC and 2014/17/EU and Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 (the “Benchmarks Regulation”). 

The IOSCO Benchmark Principles aim to create an overarching framework of principles for benchmarks to be 
used in financial markets, specifically covering governance and accountability, as well as the quality and 
transparency of benchmark design and methodologies. A review published in February 2015 on the status of 
the voluntary market adoption of the IOSCO Benchmark Principles noted that, as the benchmarks industry is 
in a state of change, further steps may need to be taken by IOSCO in the future, but that it is too early to 
determine what those steps should be. The review noted that there has been a significant market reaction to the 
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publication of the IOSCO Benchmark Principles, and widespread efforts being made to implement the IOSCO 
Benchmark Principles by the majority of administrators surveyed. 

On 17 May 2016, the Council of the European Union adopted the Benchmarks Regulation. The Benchmarks 
Regulation was published in the Official Journal on 29 June 2016 and entered into force on 30 June 2016. 
Subject to various transitional provisions, the Benchmarks Regulation will apply from 1 January 2018, except 
that the regime for 'critical' benchmarks has applied from 30 June 2016 and certain amendments to Regulation 
(EU) No 596/2014 (the Market Abuse Regulation) have applied from 3 July 2016. The Benchmarks 
Regulation would apply to “contributors”, “administrators” and “users of” “benchmarks” in the EU, and 
would, among other things, (i) require benchmark administrators to be authorised (or, if non-EU-based, to be 
subject to an equivalent regulatory regime) and to comply with extensive requirements in relation to the 
administration of “benchmarks” and (ii) ban the use of “benchmarks” of unauthorised administrators. The 
scope of the Benchmarks Regulation is wide and, in addition to so-called "critical benchmark" indices such as 
LIBOR and EURIBOR, could also potentially apply to many other interest rate indices, as well as equity, 
commodity and foreign exchange rate indices and other indices (including “proprietary” indices or strategies) 
which are referenced in listed financial instruments (including listed Notes), financial contracts and 
investment funds. 

The Benchmarks Regulation could also have a material impact on any listed Notes linked to a “benchmark” 
index, including in any of the following circumstances: 

(i) an index which is a “benchmark” could not be used as such if its administrator does not obtain 
appropriate EU authorisations or is based in a non-EU jurisdiction which (subject to any applicable 
transitional provisions) does not have equivalent regulation. In such event, depending on the particular 
“benchmark” and the applicable terms of the Notes, the Notes could be delisted (if listed), adjusted, 
redeemed or otherwise impacted; 

(ii) the methodology or other terms of the “benchmark” related to a series of Notes could be changed in 
order to comply with the terms of the Benchmarks Regulation, and such changes could have the effect 
of reducing or increasing the rate or level of the “benchmark” or of affecting the volatility of the 
published rate or level, and could lead to adjustments to the terms of the Notes, including Calculation 
Agent determination of the rate or level in its discretion. 

Any of the international, national or other reforms (or proposals for reform) or the general increased 
regulatory scrutiny of “benchmarks” could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise 
participating in the setting of a “benchmark” and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Such 
factors may have the effect of discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or participate in 
certain “benchmarks”, trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain “benchmarks” or lead to 
the disappearance of certain “benchmarks”. The disappearance of a “benchmark” or changes in the manner of 
administration of a “benchmark” could result in adjustment to the terms and conditions, early redemption, 
discretionary valuation by the Calculation Agent, delisting (if listed) or other consequence in relation to Notes 
linked to such “benchmark”. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on the value of and 
return on any such Notes. 

CMS Linked Interest Notes 

The Issuer may issue Notes with interest determined by reference to the CMS Rate (the “Relevant Factor”). 
Potential investors should be aware that: 

(i) the market price of such Notes may be volatile; 

(ii) they may receive no interest; 

(iii) the Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in 
interest rates, currencies or other indices; 

(iv) if the Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains 
some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest 
payable likely will be magnified; and 
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(v) the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average 
level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor, the 
greater the effect on yield. 

The historical experience of the Relevant Factor should not be viewed as an indication of the future 
performance of the Relevant Factor during the term of any Notes. Accordingly, each potential investor should 
consult its own financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any CMS Linked 
Interest Notes and the suitability of such Notes in light of its particular circumstances. 

Fixed Rate Notes 

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risks that substantial changes in market interest rates adversely 
affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes. 

Variable rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor 

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or 
other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related features, 
their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features. 

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes 

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a 
floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer’s ability to convert the interest rate will affect 
the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate 
when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a 
floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads 
on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any 
time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the 
fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes. 

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium 

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend 
to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-
bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as 
compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities. 

Reset Notes 

Reset Notes will initially earn interest at the Initial Rate of Interest until (but excluding) the Reset Date (or, if 
there is more than one Reset Period, the first Reset Date). On the first Reset Date and on each subsequent 
Reset Date (if any) thereafter, the interest rate will be reset to the sum of the applicable Reset Reference Rate 
and the applicable Reset Margin (the “Reset Rate”), which could be less than the Initial Rate of Interest or the 
Reset Rate for prior Reset Periods, and could affect the market value of an investment in the Reset Notes. 

Subordinated Notes 

If the Issuer is declared insolvent and a winding up is initiated, it will be required to pay the holders of senior 
debt and meet its obligations to all its other creditors (including unsecured creditors) in full before it can make 
any payments on the Subordinated Notes. If this occurs, the Issuer may not have enough assets remaining after 
these payments to pay amounts due under the Subordinated Notes. Furthermore, repayment of principal on the 
Subordinated Notes, whether at the Maturity Date or otherwise, is subject to the approval of the Relevant 
Authority in accordance with the Applicable Banking Regulations. 

The Issuer’s obligations under Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and will rank junior in 
priority to the claims of unsubordinated, unsecured creditors (including depositors) of the Issuer and any other 
subordinated obligations which rank or are expressed to rank senior to the Subordinated Notes. Although 
Subordinated Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable notes which are not subordinated, there 
is a real risk that an investor in Subordinated Notes will lose all or some of its investment should the Issuer 
become insolvent. 
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For a full description of the subordination provisions relating to Subordinated Notes, see Condition 3 (Status 
of Subordinated Notes). 

Modification or Substitution of Subordinated Notes 

In relation to any series of Subordinated Notes, if the relevant Final Terms specify that Modification or 
Substitution of Subordinated Notes for Regulatory Event or Tax Event is applicable, then the Issuer may in 
certain circumstances modify the terms and conditions of such Subordinated Notes or substitute new notes for 
the Subordinated Notes, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders to the extent 
that such modification or substitution is reasonably necessary to ensure that no Regulatory Event or Tax Event 
would exist after such modification. Any such modification or substitution could have a material adverse 
effect on the price or value of any investment in any Notes. 

Waiver of set-off 

As specified in Condition 2 (Status of Senior Notes) in respect of Senior Notes, and as specified in Condition 
3 (Status of the Subordinated Notes) in respect of Subordinated Notes, the holder of a Note will 
unconditionally and irrevocably waive any right of set-off, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy 
which it might otherwise have under the laws of any jurisdiction in respect of such Note. 

Conflict of interest – Calculation Agent 

Potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Calculation Agent (if any) and Noteholders (including 
where a Dealer acts as a calculation agent), including with respect to certain determinations and judgements 
that such Calculation Agent may make pursuant to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes that may influence 
amounts receivable by the Noteholders during the term of the Notes and upon their redemption. 

Risks related to Notes generally 

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally: 

Payments in respect of the Notes may in certain circumstances be made subject to withholding or deduction 
of tax 

All payments in respect of the Notes will be made free and clear of withholding or deduction of Italian 
taxation, unless the withholding or deduction is required by law.  In that event, the Issuer will pay such 
additional amounts as will result in the Noteholders receiving such amounts as they would have received in 
respect of such Notes had no such withholding or deduction been required.  The Issuer’s obligation to gross up 
is, however, subject to a number of exceptions, including withholding or deduction of Italian substitute tax 
(imposta sostitutiva), pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996. See “Terms and 
Conditions of the Notes—Taxation”. 

Prospective purchasers of Notes should consult their tax advisers as to the overall tax consequences of 
acquiring, holding and disposing of Notes and receiving payments of interest, principal and/or other amounts 
under the Notes, including, in particular, the effect of any state, regional or local tax laws of any country or 
territory.  See also “Taxation”. 

U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) Withholding 

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, a 
“foreign financial institution” may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes (“foreign passthru 
payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. The Issuer is a 
foreign financial institution for these purposes. 

A number of jurisdictions, including the Republic of Italy, have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, 
intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA (“IGAs”), which modify the way 
in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign 
financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA or an 
IGA from payments that it makes. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to 
instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or 
an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to 
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change. Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on 
instruments such as the Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January 2019 and Notes issued on 
or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining “foreign passthru 
payments” are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be “grandfathered” for purposes of 
FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date (including by reason of a substitution of the 
Issuer). However, if additional notes (as described under “Terms and Conditions—Further Issues”) that are 
not distinguishable from previously issued Notes are issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period 
and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all Notes, including the 
Notes offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering period, as subject to withholding under FATCA.  
Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the 
Notes. 

Regulatory classification of the Subordinated Notes 

If any Subordinated Notes are issued under the Programme, the Issuer’s intention is that they should qualify 
on issue as Tier 2 Capital, for so long as this is permitted under Bank of Italy regulations. Current regulatory 
practice by the Bank of Italy does not require (or customarily provide for) a confirmation prior to the issuance 
of Subordinated Notes that the Notes will be treated as such. There can be no assurance that any such 
Subordinated Notes will continue to qualify as Tier 2 Capital during the life of the Notes. If there is a change 
in the regulatory classification of the Subordinated Notes that would be likely to result in their exclusion, in 
whole or, to the extent permitted by the Applicable Banking Regulations, in part, from Tier 2 Capital of the 
Issuer, the Issuer will (if so specified in the applicable Final Terms) have the right to redeem the Notes in 
accordance with Condition 11.3 (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption for Regulatory Reasons), subject to 
the prior approval of the Relevant Authority. There can be no assurance that holders of such Notes will be 
able to reinvest the amounts received upon redemption at a rate that will provide the same rate of return as 
their investments in the relevant Notes, as the case may be. 

Risks relating to change of law or administrative practices 

The conditions of the Notes are based on English law in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus, other 
than subordination and certain other provisions relating to Subordinated Notes, which are based on Italian law. 
No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law (or 
Italian law) or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus.  

Decisions at Noteholders’ meetings bind all Noteholders 

Provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders are contained in the Agency Agreement and summarised in 
Condition 17.1 (Meetings of Noteholders). Noteholders’ meetings may be called to consider matters affecting 
Noteholders’ interests generally, including modifications to the terms and conditions relating to the Notes. 
These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders, including those who did not attend and 
vote at the relevant meeting or who voted against the majority. Possible modifications to the Notes include, 
without limitation, lowering the ranking of the Notes, reducing the amount of principal and interest payable on 
the Notes, changing the time and manner of payment, changing provisions relating to redemption, limiting 
remedies on the Notes and changing the amendment provisions. Any such modification may have an adverse 
impact on Noteholders’ rights and on the market value of the Notes. 

Investors must rely on the procedures of the clearing systems 

Notes issued under the Programme may be represented by one or more Global Notes. Such Global Notes will 
be deposited with a common depositary or common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 
(the “ICSDs”). Except in the circumstances described in the relevant Global Note, investors will not be 
entitled to receive Definitive Notes. While the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes, the ICSDs 
will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Notes and investors will be able to trade their 
beneficial interests only through the ICSDs. Similarly, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under 
the Notes by making payments to the ICSDs for distribution to their accountholders and has no responsibility 
or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the Global Notes. 
A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note must therefore rely on the procedures of the ICSDs to 
receive payments under the relevant Notes. 
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In addition, holders of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not have a direct right to vote in respect of 
the relevant Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by the 
ICSDs to appoint appropriate proxies. 

Minimum Denomination 

Notes may in certain circumstances be issued in denominations including (i) a minimum denomination of 
Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) and (ii) an amount which is greater than Euro 100,000 (or 
its equivalent) but which is an integral multiple of a smaller amount (such as Euro 1,000). Where this occurs, 
Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent) that are not integral multiples of 
Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent). In such a case, a holder who as a result of trading such amounts, holds a 
principal amount of less than the minimum denomination of Euro 100,000 will not receive a Definitive Note 
in respect of such holding (should Definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount 
of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to an integral multiple of Euro 100,000. 

The Notes do not restrict the amount of debt which the Issuer may incur 

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes do not contain any restriction on the amount of indebtedness which 
the Issuer may from time to time incur. In the event of any insolvency or winding-up of the Issuer, the Notes 
will rank equally with other unsecured senior indebtedness of the Issuer and, accordingly, any increase in the 
amount of unsecured senior indebtedness of the Issuer in the future may reduce the amount recoverable by 
Noteholders. In addition, the Notes are unsecured and do not contain any restriction on the giving of security 
by the Issuer to secure present and future indebtedness. Where security has been granted over assets of the 
Issuer to secure indebtedness, in the event of any insolvency or winding-up of the Issuer, such indebtedness 
will rank in priority over the Notes and other unsecured indebtedness of the Issuer in respect of such assets. 

Risk Factors Relating to Markets Generally 

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks that may be relevant in connection with an 
investment in the Notes. 

The secondary market generally 

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does 
develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices 
that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary 
market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market 
risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the 
investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more 
limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a 
severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes. 

Transfers of the Notes may be restricted, which may adversely affect the secondary market liquidity and/or 
trading prices of the Notes 

Subject to applicable Italian laws and regulations, the ability to transfer the Notes may also be restricted by 
securities laws or regulations of certain countries or regulatory bodies.  See “Subscription and Sale”. 

The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act or any state securities laws or the 
securities laws of any other jurisdiction.  Noteholders may not offer the Notes in the United States or for the 
account or benefit of a U.S. person, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, 
the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.  It is the obligation of 
each Noteholder to ensure that offers and sales of Notes comply with all applicable securities laws and 
regulations.  In addition, transfers to certain persons in certain other jurisdictions may be limited by law and 
regulations, or may result in the imposition of penalties or liability.  For a description of restrictions which 
may be applicable to transfers of the Notes, see “Subscription and Sale”. 

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks 

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. Where an issue of 
Notes is rated, investors should be aware that: 
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(i) such rating will reflect only the views of the rating agency and may not reflect the potential impact of 
all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above and other factors that may 
affect the value of the Notes; 

(ii) a rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to review, revision, 
suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency; and 

(iii) notwithstanding the above, an adverse change in a credit rating (even if unsolicited) could adversely 
affect the trading price for the Notes. 

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) 
(the “CRA Regulation”) from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a 
credit rating agency established in the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has 
not been withdrawn or suspended), subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances whilst 
the registration application is pending. Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings 
issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EU-registered 
credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation 
(and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended). The 
list of registered and certified rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority 
(“ESMA”) on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of 
the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures 
being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list. Certain 
information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out on the cover of this Base 
Prospectus and if a Tranche of Notes is rated such rating will be disclosed in the applicable Final Terms. 

The Notes may be delisted 

Application has also been made to the Irish Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be 
admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange and to be listed on the Official List 
and Notes issued under the Programme may also be admitted to trading, listing and/or quotation by any other 
listing authority, stock exchange or quotation system (each, a “listing”), as specified in the applicable Final 
Terms. Such Notes may subsequently be delisted despite the best efforts of the Issuer to maintain such listing 
and, although no assurance is made as to the liquidity of the Notes as a result of listing, any delisting of the 
Notes may have a material effect on a Noteholder’s ability to resell the Notes on the secondary market. 

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments 

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or 
regulation by certain authorities.  Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine 
whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for 
various types of borrowing, and (iii) other restrictions apply to the purchase or pledge of any Notes.  Financial 
institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate 
treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules. 

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls 

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency.  This presents certain risks 
relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency 
or currency unit (“Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency.  These include the risk that 
exchange rates may change significantly (including changes due to devaluation of the euro or revaluation of 
the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may 
impose or modify exchange controls.  An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to the 
Specified Currency would decrease (i) the Investor’s Currency equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the 
Investor’s Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes, and (iii) the Investor’s Currency-
equivalent market value of the Notes. 

In addition, government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange 
controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate.  As a result, investors may receive less 
interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME 

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, 
the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche of 
Notes, the applicable Final Terms. The Issuer and any relevant Dealer may agree that Notes shall be issued in 
a form other than that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions, in which event, a new Base Prospectus or a 
drawdown prospectus, if appropriate, in the case of listed Notes only, will be made available which will 
describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such Notes. 

This Overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3) of 
Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 (the “Prospectus Regulation”) implementing the Prospectus 
Directive. 

Words and expressions defined in “Form of the Notes” and “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” shall have 
the same meanings in this overview. 

Issuer: Banca IFIS S.p.A. 

Arranger: UniCredit Bank AG. 

Dealers: Banca IMI S.p.A., BNP Paribas, Citigroup Global Markets 
Limited, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, Goldman Sachs 
International, Intermonte SIM S.p.A., J.P. Morgan Securities plc, 
Mediobanca – Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A., Morgan 
Stanley & Co. International plc, MPS Capital Services Banca per 
le Imprese S.p.A., Nomura International plc, UBS Limited and 
UniCredit Bank AG and any other Dealer appointed from time to 
time by the Issuer, either generally in respect of the Programme or 
in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes. 

Issuing and Principal Paying 
Agent: 

BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch. 

Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

Clearing Systems: Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or, in relation to 
any Tranche of Notes, any other clearing system as may be 
specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Initial Programme Amount: The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding at 
any one time under the Programme will not exceed 
€5,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies calculated as 
described in the Dealer Agreement). The Issuer may increase the 
amount of the Programme, from time to time, in accordance with 
the terms of the Dealer Agreement. 

Issuance in Series: Notes may be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis and 
will be issued in Series. Each Series may comprise one or more 
Tranches issued on different issue dates. The Notes of each Series 
will all be subject to identical terms, except that the issue date, the 
issue price and the amount of the first payment of interest may be 
different in respect of different Tranches. The Notes of each 
Tranche will all be subject to identical terms in all respects, save 
that a Tranche may comprise Notes of different denominations. 

Final Terms: Each Tranche will be the subject of Final Terms which, for the 
purposes of that Tranche only, completes the Terms and 
Conditions of the Notes and this Base Prospectus and must be 
read in conjunction with this Base Prospectus. The terms and 
conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes are the 
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Terms and Conditions of the Notes as completed by the applicable 
Final Terms. 

In addition, where the Issuer agrees with any Dealer to issue 
Notes in a form not contemplated in the section of this Base 
Prospectus entitled “Form of Final Terms”, a drawdown 
prospectus will be made available and will describe the effect of 
the agreement in relation to such Notes. 

Currencies: Subject to any applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central 
bank requirements, any currency agreed between the Issuer and 
the relevant Dealer as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Status of the Notes:  Notes may be issued on a subordinated or unsubordinated basis, 
as specified in the applicable Final Terms (see Condition 2 (Status 
of Senior Notes) and Condition 3 (Status of Subordinated Notes). 

The Senior Notes and the Coupons will constitute direct, 
unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the 
Issuer and rank and will rank pari passu, without any preference 
among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under 
the Senior Notes and the Coupons shall, save for such obligations 
as may be preferred by provisions of law that are both mandatory 
and of general application, at all times rank at least equally with 
its other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated 
obligations, subject to any applicable legislation that permits or 
requires certain such indebtedness or obligations to rank either 
junior or senior to the Senior Notes. 

Subject to the provisions of Condition 3 (Status of Subordinated 
Notes), Subordinated Notes constitute direct, unsecured and 
subordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank pari passu 
and without any preference among themselves, all as described in 
Condition 3 (Status of Subordinated Notes) and the applicable 
Final Terms.  

In the event of the winding up, dissolution, liquidation or 
bankruptcy (including inter alia, Liquidazione Coatta 
Amministrativa) of the Issuer, the payment obligations of the 
Issuer under each Series of Subordinated Notes and the relative 
Coupons will rank in right of payment (A) after unsubordinated 
unsecured creditors (including depositors and any holder of Senior 
Notes and their respective Coupons) of the Issuer and all other 
creditors of the Issuer holding instruments that are less 
subordinated than the Subordinated Notes  but (B) at least pari 
passu with all other subordinated obligations of the Issuer which 
do not rank or are not expressed by their terms to rank junior or 
senior to such Series of Subordinated Notes and (C) in priority to 
the claims of shareholders of the Issuer and to the claims of 
creditors of the Issuer holding instruments that are more 
subordinated than the Subordinated Notes. 

Modification or Substitution of 
Subordinated Notes following a 
Regulatory Event or a Tax Event: 

If Modification or Substitution of Subordinated Notes for 
Regulatory Event or Tax Event is specified as applicable in the 
Final Terms, the Issuer may without the consent of the holders of 
Subordinated Notes substitute new notes for the Subordinated 
Notes whereby such new notes shall replace the Subordinated 
Notes, or vary the terms of the Subordinated Notes subject to 
Condition 17.3 (Modification or Substitution of Subordinated 
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Notes following a Regulatory Event or a Tax Event). 

Maturities: Any maturity or no fixed maturity date, subject, in relation to 
specific currencies, to compliance with all applicable legal and/or 
regulatory and/or central bank requirements.  

In the case of Subordinated Notes, unless otherwise permitted by 
current laws, regulations, directives and/or the Relevant 
Authority's requirements applicable to the issue of Subordinated 
Notes by the Issuer, Subordinated Notes must have a minimum 
maturity of five years (or, if issued for an indefinite duration, 
redemption of such Notes may only occur five years after their 
date of issue). 

Where Notes have a maturity of less than one year and either (a) 
the issue proceeds are received by the Issuer in the United 
Kingdom or (b) the activity of issuing the Notes is carried on from 
an establishment maintained by the Issuer in the United Kingdom, 
such Notes must: (i) have a minimum redemption value of 
£100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) and be issued only 
to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, 
holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or 
agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable 
to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as 
principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses; or (ii) be 
issued in other circumstances which do not constitute a 
contravention of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 (the “FSMA”) by the Issuer. 

Issue Price: Notes may be issued at any price, as specified in the applicable 
Final Terms. The price and amount of Notes to be issued under the 
Programme will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant 
Dealer(s) at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing market 
conditions. 

Form of Notes: The Notes will be issued in bearer form as described in “Form of 
the Notes”. 

Interest: Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest bearing. Interest (if 
any) may accrue at a fixed rate or a floating rate, or interest may 
initially accrue at a fixed rate and then switch to a floating rate, or 
interest may initially accrue at a floating rate and then switch to a 
fixed rate or otherwise. The method of calculating interest may 
vary between the issue date and the maturity date of the relevant 
Series. 

Redemption: Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early redemption or 
repayment, Notes are redeemable at par as specified in the 
applicable Final Terms. 

The redemption at maturity of Subordinated Notes pursuant to 
Condition 11.1 (Final Redemption) and any early redemption 
pursuant to Condition 11.2 (Redemption for Taxation Reasons), 
Condition 11.3 (Redemption for Regulatory Reasons) and 
Condition 11.4 (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer) shall be 
subject to the prior approval of the Relevant Authority to the 
extent required by and in accordance with the Applicable Banking 
Regulations. If such approval is not given on or prior to the 
relevant redemption date, the Issuer will re-apply to the Relevant 
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Authority for its consent to such redemption as soon as the 
conditions permit. The Issuer will use its best endeavours to 
maintain the required regulatory capital and to obtain such 
approval. 

Optional Redemption: Notes may be redeemed before their stated maturity at the option 
of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or (where the Notes 
are Senior Notes) the Noteholders to the extent (if at all) specified 
in the applicable Final Terms and subject to all relevant legal and 
regulatory requirements. In the case of Subordinated Notes, early 
redemption may occur only with the prior approval of the 
Relevant Authority. 

Tax or Regulatory Redemption Except as described in “Optional Redemption” above, early 
redemption will only be permitted for tax reasons or, in the case of 
Subordinated Notes, for regulatory reasons, as described in 
Condition 11.2 (Redemption for Taxation Reasons) and Condition 
11.3 (Redemption for Regulatory Reasons). 

Denomination of Notes: The Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed 
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer save that the minimum 
denomination of each Note will be such amount as may be 
allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank 
(or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the 
relevant Specified Currency, save that the minimum denomination 
of each Note admitted to trading on a regulated market within the 
European Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member 
State of the European Economic Area in circumstances which 
require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus 
Directive will be €100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a 
currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such currency). 

Taxation: All payments in respect of Notes will be made free and clear of 
withholding or deduction of Italian taxation, unless the 
withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the 
Issuer will (subject as provided in Condition 12 (Taxation)) pay 
such additional amounts as will result in the Noteholders 
receiving such amounts as they would have received in respect of 
such Notes had no such withholding or deduction been required. 

However, as more fully set out in Condition 12 (Taxation), the 
Issuer will not be liable to pay any additional amounts to 
Noteholders with respect to any payment, withholding or 
deduction pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 
April 1996 on account of Italian substitute tax (imposta 
sostitutiva), as defined therein in relation to interest or premium 
payable on, or other income deriving from, any Notes. See 
“Taxation” below. 

Negative Pledge: None. 

Cross Default: The terms of the Senior Notes will contain a cross default 
provision as further described in Condition 15.1 (Events of 
Default of Senior Notes). 

Rating:  Tranches or Series of Notes to be issued under the Programme 
will be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche or Series of Notes is to 
be rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating 
that may be assigned to the Issuer or to Notes already issued. 
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Where a Tranche or Series of Notes is rated, the applicable 
rating(s) may be specified in the applicable Final Terms. Whether 
or not each credit rating applied for in relation to relevant Series 
of Notes will be issued by a credit rating agency established in the 
European Union and registered under the Regulation (EC) No. 
1060/2009 (as amended) (the “CRA Regulation”) will be 
disclosed in the Final Terms.  

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold 
securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or 
withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. 

Listing and admission to trading: This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Central Bank, as 
competent authority under the Prospectus Directive. Application 
has also been made to the Irish Stock Exchange for Notes issued 
under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the regulated 
market of the Irish Stock Exchange and to be listed on the Official 
List of the Irish Stock Exchange. 

Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on 
other or further stock exchanges or markets agreed between the 
Issuer and the relevant Dealer in relation to the Series. Notes 
which are neither listed nor admitted to trading on any market 
may also be issued. 

The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the relevant 
Notes are to be listed and/or admitted to trading and, if so, on 
which stock exchanges and/or markets. 

Governing Law: English law, except for Condition 3 (Status of Subordinated 
Notes), 11.6 (Redemption of Subordinated Notes) and 15.2 (Events 
of Default of Subordinated Notes) and any non-contractual 
obligations arising from or connected with those Conditions, 
which are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, 
Italian law. 

Enforcement of Notes in Global 
Form: 

In the case of Global Notes, individual investors’ rights against 
the Issuer will be governed by a Deed of Covenant dated 29 
September 2017 a copy of which will be available for inspection 
at the specified office of the Agent. 

Selling Restrictions: There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in 
the United States, the European Economic Area (including, 
without limitation, the United Kingdom, the Republic of Italy and 
France), Japan and such other restrictions as may be required or 
applied in connection with the offering and sale of a particular 
Tranche of Notes, see “Subscription and Sale”. 

United States Selling Restrictions: Regulation S, Category 2. TEFRA C or D/TEFRA not applicable, 
as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

Risk Factors: There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to 
fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. 
These are set out under “Risk Factors” above and include risks 
relating to the economic conditions in Italy and relating to the 
operating and general banking risks. In addition, there are certain 
factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market 
risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme and 
include risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes 
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and risks common to the Notes generally. 
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INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

The following information is incorporated in, and forms part of, this Base Prospectus: 

i. the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the year ended 31 
December 2016 together with the independent auditors’ report, which can be found at 
http://www.bancaifis.it/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/ENGLISH_Bilancio-Consolidato-
2016_pubblicaz.29.03.2017.pdf;  

ii. the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the year ended 31 
December 2015 together with the independent auditors’ report, which can be found at 
http://www.bancaifis.it/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/2015_Consolidated_Annual_Report.pdf; and 

iii. the unaudited consolidated interim report of the Issuer as at and for the six months ended 30 June 
2017, which can be found at https://www.bancaifis.it/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Relazione-
Semestrale-ENG_30.06.2017v2.pdf, 

in each case prepared in accordance with IFRS and together with the accompanying notes.  

Cross-reference list 

The following table shows where the information incorporated by reference in this Prospectus can be found in 
the above-mentioned documents. Information contained in those documents other than the information listed 
below does not form part of this Prospectus and is either not relevant or covered elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

Audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the year ended 31 December 

 2016 2015 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ..........................................................................  p. 91 p. 78 
Consolidated Income Statement ...............................................................................................  p. 92 p. 79 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income .................................................................  p. 93 p. 80 
Statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity ..........................................................................  pp. 94 – 95 pp. 81 – 82 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ..........................................................................................  p. 96 p. 83 
Notes to the financial statements ..............................................................................................  pp. 97 – 226 pp. 84 – 201 
Independent auditors’ report .....................................................................................................  pp. 240 – 242 pp. 213 – 215 

Unaudited consolidated interim report of the Issuer as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2017 

Contribution of business segments ....................................................................................................................... pp. 18 – 32 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ...................................................................................................... p. 42 
Consolidated Income Statement ........................................................................................................................... p. 43 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income ............................................................................................. p. 44 
Statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity ...................................................................................................... pp. 45 – 46 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ...................................................................................................................... p. 47 
Notes to the financial statements .......................................................................................................................... pp. 48 – 102 
Independent auditors’ review report ..................................................................................................................... pp. 104 – 105 

The documents set out above are translated into English from the original Italian.  The Issuer has accepted 
responsibility for the accuracy of such translations. 

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed together with the information incorporated by reference 
herein.  Copies of any document incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus are available free of charge 
at the specified office of the Paying Agent, unless such documents have been modified or superseded.  Such 
documents will also be available for viewing on the website of the Issuer. 

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and approved 
by the Central Bank in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. Statements contained in any 
such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent 
applicable, be deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document 
which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall 
not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus. 

Any documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this Base 
Prospectus shall not form part of this Base Prospectus. 

http://www.bancaifis.it/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/ENGLISH_Bilancio-Consolidato-2016_pubblicaz.29.03.2017.pdf
http://www.bancaifis.it/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/ENGLISH_Bilancio-Consolidato-2016_pubblicaz.29.03.2017.pdf
http://www.bancaifis.it/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/2015_Consolidated_Annual_Report.pdf
https://www.bancaifis.it/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Relazione-Semestrale-ENG_30.06.2017v2.pdf
https://www.bancaifis.it/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Relazione-Semestrale-ENG_30.06.2017v2.pdf


 

 

 27  
 

FURTHER PROSPECTUSES AND SUPPLEMENTS 

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to 
information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes, 
prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a new Base Prospectus for use in connection with any 
subsequent issue of Notes. 

In addition, the Issuer may agree with any Dealer to issue Notes in a form not contemplated in the section of 
this Base Prospectus entitled “Form of Final Terms”. To the extent that the information relating to that 
Tranche of Notes constitutes a significant new factor in relation to the information contained in this Base 
Prospectus, a separate prospectus specific to such Tranche (a “Drawdown Prospectus”) will be made 
available and will contain such information. Each Drawdown Prospectus will be constituted either (1) by a 
single document containing the necessary information relating to the Issuer and the relevant Notes or (2) 
pursuant to Article 5.3 of the Prospectus Directive, by a registration document containing the necessary 
information relating to the Issuer, a securities note containing the necessary information relating to the 
relevant Notes and, if necessary, a summary note. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a 
Drawdown Prospectus, references in this Base Prospectus to information specified or identified in the Final 
Terms shall (unless the context requires otherwise) be read and construed as information specified or 
identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus. 
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FORM OF THE NOTES 

Each Tranche of Notes will initially be in the form of either a temporary global note (a “Temporary Global 
Note”), without Coupons, or a permanent global note (a “Permanent Global Note”), without Coupons and 
Talons, in each case as specified in the applicable Final Terms. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the case 
may be, Permanent Global Note (each a “Global Note”) which is not intended to be issued in a new global 
note form (a “Classic Global Note” or “CGN”), as specified in the applicable Final Terms, will be deposited 
on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a depositary or a common depositary for 
Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”) 
and/or any other relevant clearing system and each Global Note which is intended to be issued in new global 
note form (a “New Global Note” or “NGN”), as specified in the applicable Final Terms, will be deposited on 
or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

On 13 June 2006 the European Central Bank (the “ECB”) announced that Notes in NGN form are in 
compliance with the “Standards for the use of EU securities settlement systems in ESCB credit operations” of 
the central banking system for the euro (the “Eurosystem”), provided that certain other criteria are fulfilled. 
At the same time the ECB also announced that arrangements for Notes in NGN form will be offered by 
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2006 and the debt securities in global bearer form 
issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 31 December 2006 will only be eligible as 
collateral for Eurosystem operations if the NGN form is used. 

The applicable Final Terms will also specify whether United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) 
(the “TEFRA C Rules”) or United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the “TEFRA D Rules”) 
are applicable in relation to the Notes or, if the Notes do not have a maturity of more than 365 days, that 
neither the TEFRA C Rules nor the TEFRA D Rules are applicable. 

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Note 

If the applicable Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note exchangeable for 
a Permanent Global Note”, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note without 
Coupons (as defined herein), interests in which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a 
Permanent Global Note, without Coupons, not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche 
of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership.  

No payments will be made under the Temporary Global Note unless exchange for interests in the Permanent 
Global Note is improperly withheld or refused, provided that, in the case of an improper withholding of, or 
refusal to exchange, an interest in the Permanent Global Note, a certificate of non-U.S. beneficial ownership 
has been properly provided. In addition, interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without 
such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership. 

Whenever any interest in the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent Global 
Note, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) 
of such Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent 
exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with its terms 
against: 

(i) presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the 
order of the Agent; and 

(ii) receipt by the Agent of a certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership, 

within seven days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

The principal amount of the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts 
specified in the certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership, provided, however, that in no circumstances 
shall the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal amount of the Temporary 
Global Note. 



 

 

 29  
 

The Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Notes in definitive form 
(“Definitive Notes”): 

(i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms; or 

(ii) at any time, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms; or 

(iii) if the applicable Final Terms specifies “in the limited circumstances described in the Permanent 
Global Note”, then if (a) the Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system and any such clearing system is closed for business 
for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention 
permanently to cease business or does in fact do so (b) an Event of Default (as described in Condition 
15 (Events of Default)) occurs. 

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the 
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons 
and Talons attached (if so specified in the applicable Final Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to 
the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the 
surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting 
such exchange.  

Where interests in the Permanent Global Note are to be exchanged for Definitive Notes in the circumstances 
described in (i) and (ii) above, Notes may only be issued in denominations which are integral multiples of the 
minimum denomination and may only be traded in such amounts, whether in global or definitive form. As an 
exception to the above rule, where the Permanent Global Note may only be exchanged in the limited 
circumstances described in (iii) above, Notes may be issued in denominations which represent the aggregate 
of (i) a minimum denomination of EUR 100,000, plus (ii) integral multiples of EUR 1,000, provided that such 
denominations are not less than EUR 100,000 nor more than EUR 199,000 (or, where the Notes are 
denominated in a currency other than Euro, the equivalent amount in such other currency). For the avoidance 
of doubt, each holder of Notes of such denominations will, upon exchange for Definitive Notes, receive 
Definitive Notes in an amount equal to its entitlement to the principal amount represented by the Permanent 
Global Notes. However, a Noteholder who holds a principal amount of less than the minimum denomination 
may not receive a Definitive Note and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its 
holding is an integral multiple of the minimum denomination. 

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes 

If the applicable Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note exchangeable for 
Definitive Notes” and also specifies that the TEFRA C Rules are applicable or that neither the TEFRA C 
Rules nor the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary 
Global Note, without Coupons, interests in which will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for 
Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes. 

If the applicable Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note exchangeable for 
Definitive Notes” and also specifies that the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in 
the form of a Temporary Global Note, without Coupons, interests in which will be exchangeable, in whole or 
in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes 
upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be 
collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership. 

Whenever the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the 
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons 
and Talons (as defined herein) attached (if so specified in the applicable Final Terms), in an aggregate 
principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Temporary Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary 
Global Note against the surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Agent within 30 days 
of the bearer requesting such exchange.  

Where the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, Notes may only be issued in 
denominations which are integral multiples of the minimum denomination and may only be traded in such 
amounts whether in global or definitive form. 
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Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes 

If the applicable Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Permanent Global Note exchangeable for 
Definitive Notes”, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Permanent Global Note, without Coupons, 
interests in which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Definitive Notes: 

(i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms; or 

(ii) at any time, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms; or 

(iii) if the applicable Final Terms specifies “in the limited circumstances described in the Permanent 
Global Note”, then if (a) the Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system and any such clearing system is closed for business 
for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention 
permanently to cease business or does in fact do so (b) an Event of Default (as described in Condition 
15 (Events of Default)) occurs. 

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the 
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons 
and Talons attached (if so specified in the applicable Final Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to 
the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the 
surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting 
such exchange.  

Where interests in the Permanent Global Note are to be exchanged for Definitive Notes in the circumstances 
described in (i) and (ii) above, Notes may only be issued in denominations which are integral multiples of the 
minimum denomination and may only be traded in such amounts, whether in global or definitive form. As an 
exception to the above rule, where the Permanent Global Note may only be exchanged in the limited 
circumstances described in (iii) above, Notes may be issued in denominations which represent the aggregate 
of (i) a minimum denomination of EUR 100,000, plus (ii) integral multiples of EUR 1,000, provided that such 
denominations are not less than EUR 100,000 nor more than EUR 199,000 (or, where the Notes are 
denominated in a currency other than Euro, the equivalent amount in such other currency). For the avoidance 
of doubt, each holder of Notes of such denominations will, upon exchange for Definitive Notes, receive 
Definitive Notes in an amount equal to its entitlement to the principal amount represented by the Permanent 
Global Notes. However, a Noteholder who holds a principal amount of less than the minimum denomination 
may not receive a Definitive Note and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its 
holding is an integral multiple of the minimum denomination. 

Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes 

The terms and conditions applicable to any Definitive Note will be endorsed on that Note and will consist of 
the terms and conditions set out under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below and the provisions of the 
applicable Final Terms which complete those terms and conditions. 

The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and conditions 
which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under “Summary of 
Provisions relating to the Notes in Global Form” below. 

Legend concerning U.S. persons 

In the case of any Tranche of Notes having a maturity of more than 365 days, the Notes in global form, the 
Notes in definitive form and any Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto will bear a legend to the following 
effect: 

“Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States 
income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue 
Code”. 

The sections referred to in such legend provide that a United States person who holds a Note, Coupon or 
Talon will generally not be allowed to deduct any loss realised on the sale, exchange or redemption of such 
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Note, Coupon or Talon and any gain (which might otherwise be characterised as capital gain) recognised on 
such sale, exchange or redemption will be treated as ordinary income. 
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS 

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued under 
the Programme. 

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended[, from 1 
January 2018,]1 to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and[, with effect from such date,]2 
should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European 
Economic Area (“EEA”). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) 
of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (“MiFID II”); (ii) 
a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC, where that customer would not qualify as a 
professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor 
as defined in Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, the "Prospectus Directive"). Consequently no key 
information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for 
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has 
been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any 
retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.] 

[Date] 

Banca IFIS S.p.A. 
(incorporated as a società per azioni under the laws of the Republic of Italy) 

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] 
under the €5,000,000,000 

Euro Medium Term Note Programme 

PART A 
CONTRACTUAL TERMS 

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the 
“Conditions”) set forth in the Base Prospectus dated 29 September 2017 [as supplemented by the 
supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the 
purposes of the Prospectus Directive (the “Base Prospectus”). [This document constitutes the Final Terms 
of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read 
in conjunction with the Base Prospectus [as so supplemented]. Full information on the Issuer and the offer 
of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus 
[as so supplemented]. The Base Prospectus [and the supplement[s] to the Base Prospectus] [is/are] 
available for viewing [at [website]] [and] during normal business hours at [address] [and copies may be 
obtained from [address]]. The Base Prospectus and, in the case of Notes admitted to trading on the 
regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange, the Final Terms will also be published on the website of the 
Irish Stock Exchange (www.ise.ie).]3 

[In these Final Terms, the expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (and 
amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the 
Relevant Member State) and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State 
and the expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73/EU.]4 

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the numbering 
should remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or 
subparagraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.] 

                                                      
1 This date reference should not be included in Final Terms for offers concluded on or after 1 January 2018. 
2 This date reference should not be included in Final Terms for offers concluded on or after 1 January 2018. 
3 In case of unlisted notes, references to requirements under the Prospectus Directive may be deleted. 
4 In case of unlisted notes, references to requirements under the Prospectus Directive may be deleted. 
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[(When completing any final terms consideration should be given as to whether such terms or information 
constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Prospectus 
under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive).] 

1  Issuer:  Banca IFIS S.p.A. 

2  (a) Series Number: [●] 

 (b) Tranche Number: [●] 

 (c) Date on which the Notes 
will be consolidated and 
form a single Series: 

[The Notes will be consolidated and form a single 
Series with [identify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue 
Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for 
interests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred to in 
paragraph 25 below, which is expected to occur on or 
about [date]] / [Not Applicable] 

3  Specified Currency or 
Currencies: 

[●] 

4  Aggregate Nominal Amount: [•] 

 (a) Series: [●] 

 (b) Tranche: [●] 

5  Issue Price: [●] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus 
accrued interest from [insert date] (if applicable)] 

6  (a) Specified Denominations: [●] 

[[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess 
thereof up to and including [€199,000]. No Notes in 
definitive form will be issued with a denomination 
above [€199,000].] 

  (N.B. Notes must have a minimum denomination of 
€100,000 (or equivalent)) 

(Notes including Notes denominated in Sterling, in 
respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted 
by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue 
otherwise constitutes a contravention of Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000 and which have a 
maturity of less than one year must have a minimum 
redemption value of £100,000 (or its equivalent in 
other currencies).) 

 (b) Calculation Amount: [●] 

  (If only one Specified Denomination, insert the 
Specified Denomination. 

If more than one Specified Denomination, insert the 
highest common factor. Note: There must be a common 
factor in the case of two or more Specified 
Denominations.) 

7  (a) Issue Date: [●] 

 (b) Interest Commencement [[●]/Issue Date/Not Applicable] 
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Date: (N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be 
relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon 
Notes.) 

8  Maturity Date: [Fixed rate or Zero Coupon Notes – specify 
date/Floating rate Notes – Interest Payment Date 
falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]] 

[If the Maturity Date is less than one year from the 
Issue Date and either (a) the issue proceeds are 
received by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or (b) the 
activity of issuing the Notes is carried on from an 
establishment maintained by the Issuer in the United 
Kingdom, (i) the Notes must have a minimum 
redemption value of £100,000 (or its equivalent in 
other currencies) and be sold only to "professional 
investors" or (ii) another applicable exemption from 
section 19 of the FSMA must be available.] 

9  Interest Basis: [[●] per cent. Fixed Rate] 

[[•] per cent. Fixed Rate from [•] to [•], then [•] per 
cent. Fixed Rate from [•] to [•]] 

[[●] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR] +/- [●] per cent. 
Floating Rate] 

[Floating Rate: CMS Linked Interest] 

[Zero Coupon] 

(further particulars specified below under items [10 / 13 
/ 14 / 15 / 16]) 

10  Change of Interest Basis: [Applicable / Not Applicable] 

(If applicable, specify the date when any fixed to 
floating rate or floating to fixed rate change occurs or 
when any fixed to foxed or floating to floating rate 
change occurs or cross refer to items 13 and 14 (as 
appropriate) below and identify there) 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 
of this paragraph) 

(N.B. To be completed in addition to items 13, 14 and 
15 (as appropriate) if any fixed to floating or fixed reset 
rate change occurs) 

 (a) Reset Date(s) [•] 

 (b) Switch Options: [Applicable – [specify details of the change(s) in 
Interest Basis and the relevant Interest Periods to 
which the change(s) in Interest Basis applies] / [Not 
Applicable] 

(N.B. The Issuer must give notice of the exercise of the 
Switch Option to Noteholders in accordance with 
Condition 16 (Notices) on or prior to the relevant 
Switch Option Expiry Date) 



 

 

 35  
 

 (c) Switch Option Expiry 
Date: 

[•] 

 (d) Switch Option Effective 
Date: 

[•] 

11  Put/Call Options: [Call Option] 

[Regulatory Call] 

[Put Option] 

[(further particulars specified below under items [17 / 
18 / 19 / 20])] 

[Not Applicable] 

12  Status of the Notes: [Senior Notes] / [Subordinated Notes] 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE 

13  Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable / Not Applicable / (if a Change of Interest 
Basis applies): Applicable for the period starting from 
[and including] [•] ending on [but excluding] [•])]] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs 
of this paragraph) 

 (a) Rate(s) of Interest: [●] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each 
Interest Payment Date 

 (b) Interest Payment Date(s): [●] [and [●]] in each year, commencing on [●], up to 
and including the Maturity Date 

[There will be a [long/short] [first/last] coupon in 
respect of the period from and including [●] to but 
excluding [●]] 

 (c) Fixed Coupon Amount(s): 
(Applicable to Notes in 
definitive form.) 

[●] per Calculation Amount 

 (d) Broken Amount(s): 
(Applicable to Notes in 
definitive form.) 

[[●] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest 
Payment Date falling [in/on] [●] in respect of the 
period from and including [•] to but excluding [•]] [Not 
Applicable] 

 (e) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual]/[Actual/Actual 
(ICMA)]/[Actual/Actual (ISDA)]/[Actual/365 
(Fixed)]/[Actual/360]/[30/360]/[360/360]/[Bond 
Basis]/[30E/360]/[30E/360 (ISDA)]/ [Eurobond basis] 

14  Reset Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs 
of this paragraph) 

 (a) Initial Rate of Interest: [•] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/semi-
annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear]  

 (b) Interest Payment Date(s): [•] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date 
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 (c) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual]/[Actual/Actual 
(ICMA)]/[Actual/Actual (ISDA)]/[Actual/365 
(Fixed)]/[Actual/360]/[30/360]/[360/360]/[Bond 
Basis]/[30E/360]/[30E/360 (ISDA)]/ [Eurobond basis] 

 (d) Reset Date(s): [•] 

 (e) Reset Reference Rate(s) 
and Relevant Financial 
Centre: 

Reset Reference Rate: [Mid Swaps/Reference Bond] 

 (f) Reset Margin: [+/-][•] per cent. per annum 

 (g) Reset Rate Screen Page: [•] 

 (h) Mid Swap Maturity: [•] 

 (i) Reset Determination 
Date: 

[•] 

 (j) Reset Rate Time: [•] 

 (k) Party responsible for 
calculating the Reset 
Rate and Interest 
Amount(s) (if not the 
Agent): 

[[Name] shall be the Calculation Agent (no need to 
specify if the Agent is to perform this function)] 

15  Floating Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable (if a Change of Interest 
Basis applies): Applicable for the period starting from 
[and including] [•] ending on [but excluding] [•])] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 
of this paragraph.) 

 (a) Interest Payment Dates: [●]  

 (b) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention/ Following Business Day 
Convention/ Modified Following Business Day 
Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention] 

 (c) Specified Period: [●] / [Not Applicable] 

 (d) Additional Business 
Centre(s): 

[●] / [Not Applicable] 

 (e) Manner in which the 
Rate(s) of Interest is/are to 
be determined: 

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination] 

 (f) Party responsible for 
calculating the Rate(s) of 
Interest and Interest 
Amount(s) (if not the 
Agent): 

[[Name] shall be the Calculation Agent (no need to 
specify if the Agent is to perform this function)] 

 (g) Screen Rate 
Determination: 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

  Reference Rate: [EURIBOR/LIBOR/CMS Rate/[•]] 
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  Reference Banks: [●] / [Not Applicable] 

  Interest Determination 
Date(s): 

[●] 

(in the case of a CMS Rate where the Reference 
Currency is Euro): [Second day on which the 
TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each 
Interest Period] 

(in the case of a CMS Rate where the Reference 
Currency is other than Euro): [Second [specify type of 
day] prior to the start of each Interest Period] 

  Relevant Screen Page: [For example, Reuters page EURIBOR01] 

(In the case of CMS Linked Interest Note, specify 
relevant screen page and any applicable headings and 
captions) 

  Relevant Time: [For example, 11.00 a.m.[London/Brussels] time] 

  Relevant Financial 
Centre: 

[For example, London/Euro-zone (where Euro-zone 
means the region comprised of the countries whose 
lawful currency is the Euro)] 

  [Reference Currency:] 
(only relevant where the 
CMS Rate is the 
Reference Rate) 

[•] 

  [Designated Maturity:] 
(only relevant where the 
CMS Rate is the 
Reference Rate) 

[•] 

 (h) ISDA Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

  Floating Rate Option: [●] 

  Designated Maturity: [●] 

  Reset Date: [●] 

(In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR or CMS Rate 
based option, the first day of the Interest Period) 

 (i) Margin(s): [+/-] [●] per cent. per annum 

 (j) Minimum Rate of Interest: [[●] per cent. per annum] / [Not Applicable] 

 (k) Maximum Rate of Interest: [[●] per cent. per annum] / [Not Applicable] 

 (l) Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]/ [Actual/365]/ [Actual/Actual 
(ISDA)]/ [Actual/365 (Fixed)]/ 
[Actual/360]/[30/360]/[30E/360]/ [Eurobond basis] 

16  Zero Coupon Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs 
of this paragraph) 

 (a) Accrual Yield: [●] per cent. per annum 
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 (b) Reference Price: [●] 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION 

17  Call Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs 
of this paragraph) 

 (a) Optional Redemption 
Date(s) (Call): 

[●] 

 (b) Optional Redemption 
Amount(s) (Call): 

[[●] per Calculation Amount] 

 (c) If redeemable in part:
  

 

 (i) Minimum Redemption 
Amount: 

[●]  

 (ii) Maximum Redemption 
Amount: 

[●] 

 (d) Notice period (if other 
than as set out in the 
Conditions): 

[●] 

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised 
to consider the practicalities of distribution of 
information through intermediaries, for example, 
clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other 
notice requirements which may apply, for example, as 
between the Issuer and the Agent) 

18  Regulatory Call: [Condition 11.3 is applicable/Not Applicable] 

(Only applicable for Subordinated Notes) 

19  Put Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(Applicable only to Senior Notes. If not applicable, 
delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) 

 (a) Optional Redemption 
Date(s) (Put): 

[●] 

 (b) Optional Redemption 
Amount(s) Put: 

[●] per Calculation Amount 

 (c) Notice period (if other than 
as set out in the 
Conditions): 

[●]  

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised 
to consider the practicalities of distribution of 
information through intermediaries, for example, 
clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other 
notice requirements which may apply, for example, as 
between the Issuer and the Issuing and Principal 
Paying Agent or Trustee) 

20  Early Redemption Amount(s) 
payable on redemption for 
taxation or regulatory reasons or 
on event of default:  

[Not Applicable (if Early Redemption Amount (Tax), 
Early Redemption Amount (Regulatory Event) and 
Early Termination Amount are the principal amount of 
the Notes)/ specify [•] per Calculation Amount] 
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GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES 

21  Form of Notes:  

 (a) Form: [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent 
Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive 
Notes [on [•] days’ notice/at any time/in the limited 
circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note.] 

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 
Notes on [•] days’ notice] 

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 
Notes [on [•] days’ notice/at any time/in the limited 
circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note]] 

[In relation to any Notes issued with a denomination of 
EUR 100,000 (or equivalent) and integral multiples of 
EUR 1,000 (or equivalent), the Permanent Global Note 
representing such Notes shall only be exchangeable to 
Definitive Notes in the limited circumstances of (1) 
closure of the ICSDs; and (2) default of the Issuer.] 

 (b) New Global Note: [Yes] / [No]  

22  Additional Financial Centre(s): [Not Applicable/give details] 

(Note that this paragraph relates to the place of 
payment) 

23  Talons for future Coupons to be 
attached to Definitive Notes: 

[Yes/No. If yes, insert as follows: 

One Talon in the event that more than 27 Coupons need 
to be attached to each Definitive Note. On and after the 
Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon 
comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon 
comprised in the Coupon sheet may be surrendered at 
the specified office of the Paying Agent in exchange for 
a further Coupon sheet. Each Talon shall be deemed to 
mature in the Interest Payment Date on which the final 
Coupon comprised in the relevant Coupon sheet 
matures] 

24  Modification or Substitution of 
Subordinated Notes for 
Regulatory Event/Tax Event: 

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable] in relation to 
[Regulatory Event/Tax Event] 

RESPONSIBILITY 

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Final Terms. [[●] has been extracted 
from [●]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is 
aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by [●], no facts have been omitted which would 
render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.] 

Signed on behalf of 
Banca IFIS S.p.A. 

By:   

Duly authorised 
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PART B 
OTHER INFORMATION 

 

1  LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING 

 (a) Listing and Admission to 
trading 

[[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its 
behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the 
regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange and 
listing on the Official List of the Irish Stock Exchange 
with effect from [     ].] / [Application is expected to be 
made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be 
admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Irish 
Stock Exchange and listing on the Official List of the 
Irish Stock Exchange with effect from [     ].] / [Not 
Applicable.]] 

 (b) Estimate of total expenses 
related to admission to 
trading: 

[●] 

2  RATINGS  

 Ratings: [The Notes to be issued [[have been][have not 
been]/[are expected to be]] rated [insert details] by 
[insert the legal name of the relevant credit rating 
agency entity(ies)]]: 

  Each of [Insert the legal name of the relevant credit 
rating agency entity] is established in the European 
Union and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 
1060/2009 (as amended) (the “CRA Regulation”). As 
such [insert the legal name of the relevant credit rating 
agency entity] is included in the list of credit ratings 
agencies published by the European Securities and 
Markets Authority on its website (at 
http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-
certified-CRAs) in accordance with the CRA 
Regulation. 

3  INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE 

 [Save for any fees payable to the [[Joint Lead] Managers / Dealers], so far as the Issuer is 
aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. 
[Certain of the / The] [[Joint Lead] Managers / Dealers] and their affiliates have engaged, 
and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking 
transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the 
ordinary course of business – Amend as appropriate if there are other interests] 

 [(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such 
matters described constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need 
for a supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)] 

4  REASONS FOR THE OFFER – USE OF PROCEEDS 

 [The net proceeds of the issuance of the Notes will be used for the general corporate 
purposes of the Group, as set forth in “Use of Proceeds” in the Base Prospectus / Other] 

 (If “Other”, set out use of proceeds here) 
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5  YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only) 

 Indication of yield: [●] 

The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of 
the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield. 

6  HISTORIC INTEREST RATE (Floating Rate Notes and CMS Index Linked Interest 
Notes only) 

 [[Details of historic [LIBOR/EURIBOR/CMS] rates can be obtained from [Reuters]]/[Not 
Applicable]] 

7  OPERATIONAL INFORMATION 

 (a) ISIN Code: [●] 

 (b) Common Code: [●] 

 (c) Any clearing system(s) 
other than Euroclear Bank 
S.A./N.V. and Clearstream 
Banking, société anonyme 
and the relevant 
identification number(s): 

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)] 

 (d) Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment 

 (e) Names and addresses of 
additional Paying Agent(s) 
(if any): 

[●] 

 (f) Intended to be held in a 
manner which would allow 
Eurosystem eligibility: 

[Yes: Note that the designation “yes” simply means that 
the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with 
one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and does not 
necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as 
eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and 
intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either 
upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such 
recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the 
Eurosystem eligibility criteria.] [include this text if 
“yes” selected in which case the Notes must be issued 
in NGN form] 

  [No: Note that whilst the designation is specified as 
“no” at the date of these Final Terms, should the 
Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the future 
such that the Notes are capable of meeting them the 
Notes may then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as 
common safekeeper. Note that this does not necessarily 
mean that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible 
collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day 
credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time during 
their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB 
being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have 
been met.] [include this text if “no” selected] 

8  DISTRIBUTION 

 (a) Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated] 
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 (b) If syndicated, names of 
Managers: 

[Not Applicable/give names] 

 (c) Date of Subscription 
Agreement: 

[●] 

 (d) Stabilising Manager(s) (if 
any): 

[Not Applicable/give name] 

 (e) If non-syndicated, name of 
relevant Dealer: 

[Not Applicable/give name] 

 (f) U.S. Selling Restrictions: Reg. S Compliance Category 2; 
[TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable] 

9  PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS 

 Prohibition of sales to EEA 
Retail Investors: 

[Applicable] / [Not Applicable] 

(If the offer of the Notes is concluded prior to 1 
January 2018, or on and after that date the Notes 
clearly do not constitute “packaged” products, “Not 
Applicable” should be specified. If the offer of the 
Notes will be concluded on or after 1 January 2018 and 
the Notes may constitute “packaged” products, 
“Applicable” should be specified.) 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which, as completed by the applicable Final Terms, 
will be incorporated by reference into each Global Note (as defined below) and each definitive Note, in the 
latter case only if permitted by the relevant competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if 
any) and agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, 
such definitive Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The 
provisions of Part A of the applicable Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, 
or attached to, each Global Note and definitive Note. Reference should be made to the “Form of Final 
Terms” for a description of the content of Final Terms which will specify which of such terms and conditions 
are to apply to the relevant Notes. The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ 
from those terms and conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent 
described under “Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes in Global Form” below. 

This Note is one of a Series (as defined below) of Notes issued by Banca IFIS S.p.A. (the “Issuer”) pursuant 
to the Agency Agreement (as defined below). 

References herein to the “Notes” shall be references to the Notes of this Series only and not to all Notes that 
may be issued under the Programme and shall mean: 

(i) in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note (a “Global Note”), units of each Specified 
Denomination in the Specified Currency; 

(ii) any Global Note; and 

(iii) any definitive Notes issued in exchange for a Global Note. 

Reference herein to NGN shall mean a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note in either case 
where the applicable Final Terms specify the Notes as being in NGN form. 

The Notes and the Coupons (as defined below) have the benefit of an agency agreement (as amended, 
restated, modified and/or supplemented from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”) dated 29 September 
2017 and made between the Issuer, BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch as issuing and 
principal paying agent (the “Agent”, which expression shall include any additional or successor issuing and 
principal paying agent) and the other paying agents named therein (together with the Agent, the “Paying 
Agents”, which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents). 

The Final Terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final Terms 
attached to or endorsed on this Note which supplement these Terms and Conditions (the “Conditions”). 
References to the “applicable Final Terms” are, unless otherwise stated, to Part A of the Final Terms (or the 
relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Note. 

Interest-bearing definitive Notes have interest coupons (the “Coupons”) and, in the case of Notes which 
(when issued in definitive form) have more than 27 interest payments remaining, talons for further Coupons 
(the “Talons”) attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons shall, unless the context otherwise 
requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons attached on issue. Global Notes do not have Coupons or 
Talons attached on issue. 

Any reference to “Noteholders” or “holders” in relation to any Notes shall mean the holders of the Notes and 
shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a Global Note, be construed as provided below.  Any reference 
herein to “Couponholders” shall mean the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise 
requires, include the holders of the Talons. 

As used herein, “Tranche” means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing and 
admission to trading) and “Series” means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches 
of Notes which are (i) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (ii) identical in all respects 
(including as to listing and admission to trading) except for their respective Issue Dates, Interest 
Commencement Dates and/or Issue Prices. 

The Noteholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of a deed of covenant (as modified and/or 
supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the “Deed of Covenant”) dated 29 September 2017 and 



 

 

 44  
 

made by the Issuer.  The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by the common depositary for Euroclear (as 
defined below) and Clearstream, Luxembourg (as defined below). 

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection free of charge during 
normal business hours at the specified office for the time being of each of the Paying Agents. If the Notes are 
to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange the applicable Final 
Terms will be published on the website of the Irish Stock Exchange (www.ise.ie) and copies thereof are 
available for viewing at the registered office of the Issuer and of the Agent and copies may be obtained from 
those offices.  If this Note is neither admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area 
nor offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published 
under the Prospectus Directive, the applicable Final Terms will only be obtainable by a Noteholder holding 
one or more Notes and such Noteholder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the relevant 
Paying Agent as to its holding of such Notes and identity.  The expression “Prospectus Directive” means 
Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, including by Directive 2010/73/EU), and includes any relevant 
implementing measure in a relevant Member State of the European Economic Area.  The Noteholders and the 
Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the 
Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the applicable Final Terms which are applicable to them.  The 
statements in the Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Agency 
Agreement. 

Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final Terms shall have the 
same meanings where used in these Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise 
stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Agency Agreement and the applicable 
Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms will prevail. 

In these Conditions, euro means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic 
and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended. 

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE 

The Notes are in bearer form and, in the case of definitive Notes, serially numbered, in the Specified 
Currency and the Specified Denomination(s). In the case of a Series of Notes with more than one 
Specified Denomination, Notes of one Specified Denomination will not be exchangeable for Notes of 
another Specified Denomination.  

This Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Reset Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, a 
combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the Interest Basis 
shown hereon. 

Definitive Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes in which case 
references to Coupons, Couponholders and Talons in the Conditions are not applicable. 

Title to the Notes and the Coupons will pass by delivery. The holder of any Note or Coupon shall 
(except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not 
it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any other interest therein, any writing 
thereon or any notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) and no Person shall be liable for so treating 
such holder.  

2. STATUS OF SENIOR NOTES 

This Condition 2 (Status of Senior Notes) is applicable only to Senior Notes. The Senior Notes and the 
Coupons constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and 
rank and will rank pari passu, without any preference among themselves. The payment obligations of 
the Issuer under the Senior Notes and the Coupons shall, save for such obligations as may be preferred 
by provisions of law that are both mandatory and of general application, at all times rank at least 
equally with its other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations, subject to any 
applicable legislation that permits or requires certain such indebtedness or obligations to rank either 
junior or senior to the Senior Notes. 
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Each holder of a Senior Note unconditionally and irrevocably waives any right of set-off, 
counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it might otherwise have under the laws of any 
jurisdiction in respect of such Senior Note. 

3. STATUS OF SUBORDINATED NOTES 

This Condition 3 (Status of Subordinated Notes) is applicable only to Subordinated Notes. 
Subordinated Notes and any related Coupons constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated 
obligations of the Issuer and, subject to the provisions of this Condition 3, will at all times rank pari 
passu without any preference among themselves. In relation to each Series of Subordinated Notes, all 
Subordinated Notes of such Series will be treated equally and all amounts paid by the Issuer in respect 
of principal and interest thereon will be paid pro rata on all Subordinated Notes of such Series. 

In the event of the winding up, dissolution, liquidation or bankruptcy (including, inter alia, 
Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa of the Issuer), the payment obligations of the Issuer under each 
Series of Subordinated Notes, and the relative Coupons as the case may be, will rank in right of 
payment (A) after unsubordinated unsecured creditors (including depositors and any holder of Senior 
Notes and their respective Coupons) of the Issuer and all other creditors of the Issuer holding 
instruments that are less subordinated than the Subordinated Notes  but (B) at least pari passu with all 
other subordinated obligations of the Issuer which do not rank or are not expressed by their terms to 
rank junior or senior to such Series of Subordinated Notes and (C) in priority to the claims of 
shareholders of the Issuer and to the claims of creditors of the Issuer holding instruments that are 
more subordinated than the Subordinated Notes. 

Each holder of a Subordinated Note unconditionally and irrevocably waives any right of set off, 
counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it might otherwise have, under the laws of any 
jurisdiction, in respect of such Subordinated Note. 

4. DEFINITIONS  

For the purposes of these Conditions: 

“Accrual Yield” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Additional Business Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the applicable Final 
Terms. 

“Additional Financial Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the applicable Final 
Terms. 

“Applicable Banking Regulations” means at any time the laws, regulations, requirements, guidelines 
and policies relating to capital adequacy then in effect in the Republic of Italy including, without 
limitation to the generality of the foregoing, the Prudential Regulations for Banks of the Bank of Italy 
and those other regulations, requirements, guidelines and policies relating to capital adequacy then in 
effect of the Relevant Authority (whether or not such requirements, guidelines or policies have the 
force of law and whether or not they are applied generally or specifically to the Issuer and including, 
for the avoidance of doubt, as at the Issue Date the rules contained in, or implementing, CRD IV). 

“Bank of Italy” means the Bank of Italy and/or any competent authority which at a future date carries 
out the functions which the Bank of Italy performs as at the Issue Date. 

“Broken Amount” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“BRRD” means Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council providing for 
the establishment of an EU-wide framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and 
investment firms, as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time. 

“Business Day” means: 
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(i) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which 
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in each (if any) 
Additional Business Centre; and 

(ii) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial 
banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in the Principal Financial 
Centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Additional Business Centre. 

“Business Day Convention”, in relation to any particular date, has the meaning given in the 
applicable Final Terms and, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, may have different 
meanings in relation to different dates and, in this context, the following expressions shall have the 
following meanings: 

(i) “Following Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be postponed to 
the first following day that is a Business Day; 

(ii) “Modified Following Business Day Convention” or “Modified Business Day Convention” 
means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business 
Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first 
preceding day that is a Business Day; 

(iii) “Preceding Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be brought forward 
to the first preceding day that is a Business Day; 

(iv) “FRN Convention”, “Floating Rate Convention” or “Eurodollar Convention” means that 
each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date 
in the calendar month which is the number of months specified in the applicable Final Terms 
as the Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred 
provided, however, that: 

(a) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any 
such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in 
that calendar month; 

(b) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such 
date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the 
next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a 
Business Day; and 

(c) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a 
Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business 
Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar 
month in which the preceding such date occurred; and 

(v) “No Adjustment” means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any 
Business Day Convention. 

“Calculation Agent” means the Agent or such other Person specified in the applicable Final Terms as 
the party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest, Reset Rate and Interest Amount(s). 

“Calculation Amount” has the meaning given to it in the applicable Final Terms. 

“CMS Rate” means the applicable swap rate for swap transactions in the Reference Currency with a 
maturity of the Designated Maturity, expressed as a percentage, which appears on the Relevant Screen 
Page as at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date in question, all as determined by the 
Calculation Agent. 

“CMS Reference Banks” means (i) where the Reference Currency is Euro, the principal office of 
five major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market, (ii) where the Reference Currency is Sterling, 
the principal London office of five major banks in the London inter-bank market, (iii) where the 
Reference Currency is U.S. dollars, the principal New York City office of five major banks in the 
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New York City inter-bank market, or (iv) in the case of any other Reference Currency, the principal 
Relevant Financial Centre office of five major banks in the Relevant Financial Centre inter-bank 
market, in each case selected by the Calculation Agent. 

“Common Equity Tier 1 Instruments” means at any time common equity tier 1 instruments as 
interpreted and applied in accordance with Applicable Banking Regulations. 

“Consolidated Banking Law” means Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, as amended 
or supplemented from time to time. 

“Consolidated Net Banking Income” means, in respect of any Relevant Period, the consolidated net 
banking income of the Group for that Relevant Period. 

“Consolidated Profit Before Tax” means, in respect of any Relevant Period, the consolidated profit 
before tax from continuing operations of the Group for that Relevant Period. 

“Consolidated Total Assets” means, in respect of any Relevant Period, the consolidated total assets 
of the Group as at the end date of that Relevant Period. 

“Coupon Sheet” means, in respect of a Note, a coupon sheet relating to the Note. 

“CRD IV” means the CRD IV Directive, the CRR and any CRD IV Implementing Measures. 

“CRD IV Directive” means Directive 2013/36 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 
June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit 
institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 
2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC, as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time, including any 
successor regulations. 

“CRD IV Implementing Measures” means any regulatory capital rules implementing the CRD IV 
Directive or the CRR which may from time to time be introduced, including, but not limited to, 
delegated or implementing acts (regulatory technical standards) adopted by the European 
Commission, national laws and regulations, and regulations and guidelines issued by the Bank of 
Italy, the European Banking Authority or any other relevant authority, which are applicable to the 
Issuer (on a standalone basis) or, if applicable, the Issuer together with its consolidated Subsidiaries 
(on a consolidated basis) and which prescribe the requirements to be fulfilled by financial instruments 
for inclusion in the regulatory capital of the Issuer (on a standalone or, if applicable, consolidated 
basis). 

“CRR” means Regulation No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 
2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms amending Regulation No. 
648/2012, as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time, including any successor 
regulations. 

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the 
“Calculation Period”), such day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or the 
applicable Final Terms and: 

(i) if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” is specified, the actual number of days in the 
Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365 (or, if any 
portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (i) the actual number of days 
in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the 
actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year 
divided by 365); 

(ii) if “Actual/Actual (ICMA)” is so specified, means: 

(a) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during 
which it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the 
product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of 
Regular Periods in any year; and 
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(b) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of: 

(A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular 
Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the actual number of 
days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any 
year; and 

(B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next 
Regular Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in 
such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; 

(iii) If “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in 
respect of which payment is being made divided by 365; 

(iv) If “Actual/360” is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of 
which payment is being made divided by 360; 

(v) If “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified, the number of days in the Calculation 
Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula 
basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction =
[360x(Y2 − Y1)] + [30x(M2 − M1)] + (D2 − D1)

360
 

Where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 
Period falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the 
last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such 
number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included 
in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which 
case D2 will be 30; and 

(vi) If “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period 
in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as 
follows: 

Day Count Fraction =
[360x(Y2 − Y1)] + [30x(M2 − M1)] + (D2 − D1)

360
 

Where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 
Period falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following 
the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 



 

 

 49  
 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such 
number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included 
in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30; and 

(vii) If “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of 
which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows: 

Day Count Fraction =
[360x(Y2 − Y1)] + [30x(M2 − M1)] + (D2 − D1)

360
 

Where: 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation 
Period falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following 
the last day included in the Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that 
day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; 
and 

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included 
in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the 
Termination Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30, 

provided, however, that in each such case the number of days in the Calculation Period is calculated 
from and including the first day of the Calculation Period to but excluding the last day of the 
Calculation Period. 

“Deed of Covenant” means the deed of covenant dated 29 September 2017 relating to the Notes 
executed by the Issuer, as amended, restated or supplemented from time to time. 

“Designated Maturity” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Early Redemption Amount (Regulatory Event)” means in respect of any Note, its principal 
amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the applicable 
Final Terms. 

“Early Redemption Amount (Tax)” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such 
other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the applicable Final Terms. 

“Early Termination Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other 
amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, these Conditions or the applicable 
Final Terms. 

“EURIBOR” means, in respect of any specified currency and any specified period, the interest rate 
benchmark known as the Euro zone interbank offered rate which is calculated and published by a 
designated distributor (currently Thomson Reuters) in accordance with the requirements from time to 
time of the European Banking Federation based on estimated interbank borrowing rates for a number 
of designated currencies and maturities which are provided, in respect of each such currency, by a 
panel of contributor banks (details of historic EURIBOR rates can be obtained from the designated 
distributor). 
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“Euro” or “euro” or “€” means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the European 
economic and monetary union, and as defined in Article 2 of Council Regulation (EC) No. 974/98 of 
3 May 1998 on the introduction of the euro, as amended. 

“Event of Default” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 15 (Events of Default). 

“Extraordinary Resolution” has the meaning given to that term in the Agency Agreement. 

“Final Redemption Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount. 

“Fixed Coupon Amount” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Government Entities” means any body, agency, ministry, department, authority, statutory 
corporation or other entity of or pertaining to the Republic of Italy or the government thereof or any 
political subdivision, municipality or local government thereof (whether autonomous or not). 

“Group” means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries from time to time (if any). 

“Indebtedness” means any present or future indebtedness (whether principal, premium, interest or 
other amounts) for money borrowed or raised including (without limitation) any indebtedness for or in 
respect of: 

(i) amounts raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility; 

(ii) amounts raised under any note purchase facility; 

(iii) the amount of any liability in respect of leases or hire purchase contracts which would, in 
accordance with applicable law and generally accepted accounting principles, be treated as 
finance or capital leases; 

(iv) the amount of any liability in respect of any purchase price for assets or services the payment 
of which is deferred for a period in excess of 60 days; and 

(v) amounts raised under any other transaction (including, without limitation, any forward sale or 
purchase agreement) having the commercial effect of a borrowing.  

“Initial Rate of Interest” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Interest Amount” means, in relation to a Note and an Interest Period, the amount of interest payable 
in respect of that Note for that Interest Period. 

“Interest Basis” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date of the Notes or such other date as may be 
specified as the Interest Commencement Date in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Interest Determination Date” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Interest Payment Date” means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance 
with the provisions of, the applicable Final Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in 
the applicable Final Terms: 

(i) as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; or 

(ii) if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or 
Eurodollar Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the 
applicable Final Terms as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in 
accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at 
such Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the 
case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other 
case). 
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“Interest Period” means each period from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date or any 
Interest Payment Date to (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date. 

“Intermediate Holding Company” means a Subsidiary of the Issuer which itself has one or more 
Subsidiaries. 

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2000 ISDA Definitions (as amended and updated as at the date of 
issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the applicable Final 
Terms) as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.) or, if so specified 
in the applicable Final Terms, the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and updated as at the date of 
issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the applicable Final 
Terms) as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.). 

“Issue Date” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Issue Price” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Italian Civil Code” means the Italian civil code, enacted by Royal Decree No. 262 of 16 March 
1942, as subsequently amended and supplemented. 

“LIBOR” means, in respect of any specified currency and any specified period, the London inter-
bank offered rate for that currency and period displayed on the appropriate page (being currently 
Reuters screen page LIBOR01 or LIBOR02) on the information service which publishes that rate. 

“Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa” means Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa as described in 
Articles 80 to 94 of the Consolidated Banking Law. 

“Margin” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Material Subsidiary” means, at any time, any Subsidiary of the Issuer which accounts for 15 per 
cent. or more of the Consolidated Net Banking Income, Consolidated Profit Before Tax or 
Consolidated Total Assets and, for these purposes: 

(i) the Consolidated Net Banking Income, Consolidated Profit Before Tax or Consolidated Total 
Assets will be determined by reference to the then latest audited consolidated annual financial 
statements of the Group (the “Relevant Consolidated Financial Statements”); 

(ii) the net banking income or operating income, profit from continuing operations before tax and 
total assets of each Subsidiary (the “Relevant Line Items”) will be determined by reference 
to the annual financial statements (whether or not audited) of such Subsidiary and those of its 
own Subsidiaries (if any), in each case upon which the Relevant Consolidated Financial 
Statements have been based, 

provided that: (A) if a Person has become a Subsidiary of the Issuer after the date on which the 
Relevant Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared, the Relevant Line Items of that 
Subsidiary will be determined by reference to its latest annual financial statements (whether or not 
audited) and will be consolidated if that Subsidiary itself has Subsidiaries; (B) the Relevant 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the corresponding financial statements of each relevant 
Subsidiary will be adjusted (where appropriate) to reflect fairly the Consolidated Net Banking 
Income, Consolidated Total Assets or Consolidated Profit Before Tax and/or the Relevant Line Items 
of, or represented by, any Person, business or assets subsequently acquired or disposed of; and (C) 
where an Intermediate Holding Company has one or more Subsidiaries at least one of which, under 
this definition, is a Material Subsidiary, then such Intermediate Holding Company will be deemed to 
be a Material Subsidiary. 

“Maturity Date” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms.  

“Maturity Period” means the period from and including the Issue Date to but excluding the Maturity 
Date. 

“Maximum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 
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“Mid Swap Benchmark Rate” means EURIBOR if the Specified Currency is euro or LIBOR for the 
Specified Currency if the Specified Currency is not Euro. 

“Mid Swap Maturity” has the meaning specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Mid Swap Rate” means for any Reset Period the arithmetic mean of the bid and offered rates for the 
fixed leg payable with a frequency equivalent to the frequency with which scheduled interest 
payments are payable on the Notes during the relevant Reset Period (calculated on the day count basis 
customary for fixed rate payments in the Specified Currency as determined by the Calculation Agent) 
of a fixed-for-floating interest rate swap transaction in the Specified Currency which transaction (a) 
has a term equal to the relevant Reset Period commencing on the relevant Reset Date; (b) is in an 
amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time with 
an acknowledged dealer of good credit in the swap market; and (c) has a floating leg based on the Mid 
Swap Benchmark Rate for the Mid Swap Maturity as specified in the Final Terms (calculated on the 
day count basis customary for floating rate payments in the Specified Currency as determined by the 
Calculation Agent). 

“Minimum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Optional Redemption Amount (Call)” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such 
other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the applicable Final Terms. 

“Optional Redemption Amount (Put)” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such 
other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the applicable Final Terms. 

“Optional Redemption Date (Call)” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Optional Redemption Date (Put)” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Participating Member State” means a Member State of the European Union which adopts the Euro 
as its lawful currency in accordance with the Treaty. 

“Payment Business Day” means: 

(i) if the currency of payment is Euro, any day which is: 

(a) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation 
and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and 

(b) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a TARGET Settlement Day and a 
day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if any) 
Additional Financial Centre; or 

(ii) if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is: 

(a) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation 
and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and 

(b) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on which dealings in foreign 
currencies may be carried on in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of 
payment and in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre. 

“Person” means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, 
organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal 
personality. 

“Principal Financial Centre” means, in relation to any currency, the principal financial centre for 
that currency provided, however, that: 

(i) in relation to Euro, it means the principal financial centre of such Member State of the 
European Union as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a 
calculation) by the Calculation Agent; and 
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(ii) in relation to Australian dollars, it means either Sydney or Melbourne and, in relation to New 
Zealand dollars, it means either Wellington or Auckland; in each case as is selected (in the 
case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a calculation) by the Calculation Agent. 

“Prudential Regulations for Banks” means the Bank of Italy’s Disposizioni di Vigilanza per le 
Banche, as set out in Bank of Italy Circular No. 285 of 17 December 2013, as amended or 
supplemented from time to time, including any successor regulations. 

“Put Option Notice” means a notice which must be delivered to a Paying Agent by any Noteholder 
wanting to exercise a right to redeem a Note at the option of the Noteholder. 

“Put Option Receipt” means a receipt issued by a Paying Agent to a depositing Noteholder upon 
deposit of a Note with such Paying Agent by any Noteholder wanting to exercise a right to redeem a 
Note at the option of the Noteholder. 

“Rate of Interest” means the rate or rates (expressed as a percentage per annum) of interest payable 
in respect of the Notes specified in the applicable Final Terms or calculated or determined in 
accordance with the provisions of these Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms. 

“Redemption Amount” means, as appropriate, the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption 
Amount (Tax), the Early Redemption Amount (Regulatory Event), the Optional Redemption Amount 
(Call), the Optional Redemption Amount (Put), the Early Termination Amount. 

“Reference Banks” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms or, if none, four (or if the 
Principal Financial Centre is Helsinki, five) major banks selected by the Calculation Agent in the 
market that is most closely connected with the Reference Rate or Mid Swap Rate. 

“Reference Bond” means for any Reset Period a government security or securities issued by the state 
responsible for issuing the Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is Euro, shall be 
Germany) selected by the Issuer on the advice of an investment bank of international repute as having 
an actual or interpolated maturity comparable with the relevant Reset Period that would be utilised, at 
the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of 
corporate debt securities denominated in the same currency as the Notes and of a comparable maturity 
to the relevant Reset Period. 

“Reference Currency” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Reference Price” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Reference Rate” means EURIBOR, LIBOR or the CMS Rate as specified in the applicable Final 
Terms in respect of the currency and period specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Regular Period” means: 

(i) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, 
each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the first 
Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and including one Interest Payment 
Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date; 

(ii) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid 
only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in 
any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where “Regular Date” means the day and 
month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and 

(iii) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period, 
interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and 
including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where 
“Regular Date” means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment 
Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest 
Period. 
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“Regulatory Event” is deemed to have occurred if there is a change in the regulatory classification of 
the Subordinated Notes after the Issue Date that would be likely to result in their exclusion, in whole 
or in part, from Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer and, in case the Regulatory Event has occurred before five 
years from the issue of the relevant Subordinated Notes, both of the following conditions are met: (i) 
the Relevant Authority considers such a change to be sufficiently certain and (ii) the Issuer 
demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Relevant Authority that the change in regulatory classification 
of the Notes was not reasonably foreseeable as at the Issue Date. 

“Relevant Authority” means the Bank of Italy or such other authority (including the European 
Central Bank) having primary responsibility for prudential oversight and supervision of the Issuer 
from time to time. 

“Relevant Date” means, in relation to any payment, whichever is the later of (A) the date on which 
such payment first becomes due and (B) if the full amount payable has not been received in the 
Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment by the Agent on or prior to such due date, the 
date on which, the full amount having been so received, notice to that effect shall have been given to 
the Noteholders and Couponholders in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices). 

“Relevant Financial Centre” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Relevant Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness which is in the form of or represented by, any 
note, bond, debenture, debenture stock, loan stock, certificate or other security or instrument which is, 
or is capable of being, traded, quoted, listed or dealt in on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or 
other securities market. 

“Relevant Jurisdiction” means the Republic of Italy or any political subdivision or any authority 
thereof or therein having power to tax or any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any 
authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which the Issuer becomes subject in respect of 
payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes or the Coupons. 

“Relevant Period” means a twelve-month period ending on 31 December in each year. 

“Relevant Screen Page” means the page, section or other part of a particular information service 
(including, without limitation, the Reuters Money 3000 Service) specified as the Relevant Screen 
Page in the applicable Final Terms, or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that 
information service or such other information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the 
Person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or 
prices comparable to the Reference Rate. 

“Relevant Swap Rate” means: 

(i) where the Reference Currency is Euro, the mid market annual swap rate determined on the 
basis of the arithmetic mean of the bid and offered rates for the annual fixed leg, calculated on 
a 30/360 day count basis, of a fixed for floating euro interest rate swap transaction with a term 
equal to the Designated Maturity commencing on the first day of the relevant Interest Period 
and in a Representative Amount with an acknowledged dealer of good credit in the swap 
market, where the floating leg, in each case calculated on an Actual/360 day count basis, is 
equivalent to EUR EURIBOR Reuters (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) with a designated 
maturity determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to standard market practice and/or 
the ISDA Definitions; 

(ii) where the Reference Currency is Sterling, the mid-market semi-annual swap rate determined 
on the basis of the arithmetic mean of the bid and offered rates for the semi-annual fixed leg, 
calculated on an Actual/365 (Fixed) day count basis, of a fixed for floating Sterling interest 
rate swap transaction with a term equal to the Designated Maturity commencing on the first 
day of the relevant Interest Period and in a Representative Amount with an acknowledged 
dealer of good credit in the swap market, where the floating leg, in each case calculated on an 
Actual/365 (Fixed) day count basis, is equivalent (a) if the Designated Maturity is greater than 
one year, to GBP LIBOR BBA (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) with a designated 
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maturity of six months or (b) if the Designated Maturity is one year or less, to GBP LIBOR 
BBA with a designated maturity of three months; 

(iii) where the Reference Currency is U.S. dollars, the mid-market semi-annual swap rate 
determined on the basis of the mean of the bid and offered rates for the semi-annual fixed leg, 
calculated on a 30/360 day count basis, of a fixed for floating United States dollar interest rate 
swap transaction with a term equal to the Designated Maturity commencing on the first day of 
the relevant Interest Period and in a Representative Amount with an acknowledged dealer of 
good credit in the swap market, where the floating leg, calculated on an Actual/360 day count 
basis, is equivalent to USD LIBOR BBA (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) with a 
designated maturity of three months; and 

(iv) where the Reference Currency is any other currency or if the Final Terms specify otherwise, 
the mid-market swap rate as determined in accordance with the applicable Final Terms. 

“Relevant Time” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Representative Amount” means an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the 
relevant market at the relevant time; 

“Reserved Matter” has the meaning given to it in the Agency Agreement and includes any proposal 
to change any date fixed for payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes, to reduce the 
amount of principal or interest payable on any date in respect of the Notes, to alter the method of 
calculating the amount of any payment in respect of the Notes or the date for any such payment, to 
change the currency of any payment under the Notes or to change the quorum requirements relating to 
meetings or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution. 

“Reset Date(s)” means the date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Reset Determination Date” means, for each Reset Period, the date as specified in the applicable 
Final Terms falling on or before the commencement of such Reset Period on which the rate of interest 
applying during such Reset Period will be determined. 

“Reset Margin” means the margin specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Reset Period” means the period from (and including) the first Reset Date to (but excluding) the 
Maturity Date if there is only Reset Period or, if there is more than one Reset Period, each period from 
(and including) one Reset Date (or the first Reset Date) to (but excluding) the next Reset Date up to 
(but excluding) the Maturity Date. 

“Reset Rate” for any Reset Period means the sum of (i) the applicable Reset Reference Rate and (ii) 
the applicable Reset Margin (rounded down to four decimal places, with 0.00005 being rounded 
down). 

“Reset Rate Screen Page” has the meaning specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Reset Rate Time” has the meaning specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Reset Reference Rate” means either: 

(i) if “Mid Swaps” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Mid Swap Rate displayed on 
the Reset Rate Screen Page at or around the Reset Rate Time on the relevant Reset 
Determination Date for such Reset Period; or 

(ii) if “Reference Bond” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the annual yield to maturity or 
interpolated yield to maturity (on the relevant day count basis) of the relevant Reference 
Bond, assuming a price for such Reference Bond (expressed as a percentage of its nominal 
amount) equal to the relevant Reference Bond Price. 

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, other encumbrance or other form of 
security interest (including, without limitation, anything substantially analogous to any of the 
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foregoing) securing any obligation of any person or any other agreement or arrangement having a 
similar effect under the laws of any jurisdiction. 

“Senior Note” means a Note specified in the applicable Final Terms as being unsubordinated or not 
specified as being subordinated. 

“Specified Currency” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Specified Denomination(s)” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“Specified Office” has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement. 

“Specified Period” has the meaning given in the applicable Final Terms. 

“SRM” means the Single Resolution Mechanism established pursuant to Regulation (EU) No. 
806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council, as amended, supplemented or replaced from 
time to time. 

“Subordinated Notes” means Notes specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, being Notes 
intended to qualify as Tier 2 Capital for regulatory capital purposes, in accordance with Part II, 
Chapter 1 of the Prudential Regulations for Banks and Article 63 of the CRR. 

“Subsidiary” means, in respect of the Issuer at any particular time, any società controllata, as defined 
in Article 2359 of the Italian Civil Code. 

“Talon” means a talon for further Coupons. 

“TARGET Settlement Day” means any day on which the TARGET System is open for the 
settlement of payments in euro. 

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express 
Transfer (TARGET2) system. 

“Tier 2 Capital” has the meaning given to it by (i) the Relevant Authority from time to time or (ii) 
any regulation, directive or other binding rules, standards or decisions adopted by the institutions of 
the European Union from time to time, as applicable. 

“Treaty” means the Treaty establishing the European Union, as amended. 

“Zero Coupon Note” means a Note specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

Save as the context otherwise provides, any reference in these Conditions to a provision of law, decree 
or regulation is a reference to that provision as amended or re-enacted. 

5. FIXED RATE NOTE PROVISIONS 

5.1 Application 

This Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only if (a) the Fixed Rate 
Note Provisions are specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable or (b) if a Change of 
Interest Basis is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable, in respect of those 
Interest Periods for which the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are stated to apply. 

5.2 Interest Accrual 

The Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate of Interest (in respect of the 
relevant Interest Period) payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in 
Condition 10 (Payments). Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption 
unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused 
or unless default is otherwise made in respect of payment. In such events, it will continue to bear 
interest in accordance with this Condition 5 (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the 
earlier of: 
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(i) the day on which all amounts due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on 
behalf of the relevant Noteholder; and 

(ii) the day falling seven calendar days after the Agent has notified the Noteholders of receipt of 
all sums due in respect of all Notes up to that seventh calendar day (except to the extent that 
there is any subsequent default in payment in accordance with these Conditions) in 
accordance with Condition 16 (Notices). 

5.3 Fixed Coupon Amount 

The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest Period shall be the relevant 
Fixed Coupon Amount and, if the Notes are in more than one Specified Denomination, shall be the 
relevant Fixed Coupon Amount in respect of the relevant Specified Denomination. 

5.4 Calculation of Interest Amount 

The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any period for which a Fixed Coupon 
Amount is not specified shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Calculation 
Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resulting figure 
to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards). For this 
purpose a “sub-unit” means, in the case of any currency other than Euro, the lowest amount of such 
currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of Euro, 
means one cent. Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note comprises more than one 
Calculation Amount, the Amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the 
aggregate of the amounts (determined in the manner provided above) for each Calculation Amount 
comprising the Specified Denomination without any further rounding. 

6. RESET RATE NOTE PROVISIONS 

6.1 Application 

This Condition 6 (Reset Rate Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only if the applicable Final 
Terms specifies the Interest Basis reset on Reset Date as being applicable. 

6.2 Interest Basis Reset Provisions 

The Notes will bear interest in respect of the Reset Period (or, if there is more than one Reset Period, 
each successive Reset Period thereafter) at the relevant Reset Rate (to be determined by the 
Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date in accordance with this Condition 6) 
payable, subject as provided in Condition 10 (Payments), in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) 
specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

6.3 Interest Accrual 

The Notes bear interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding) the 
Reset Date (or, if there is more than one Reset Period, the first Reset Date occurring after the Issue 
Date), at the Initial Rate of Interest payable, subject as provided in Condition 10 (Payments), in arrear 
on the Interest Payment Date specified in the applicable Final Terms. Each Note will cease to bear 
interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the 
Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused or unless default is otherwise made in respect 
of payment. In such events, it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 6 (both 
before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of: 

(i) the day on which all amounts due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on 
behalf of the relevant Noteholder; and 

(ii) the day falling seven calendar days after the Agent has notified the Noteholders of receipt of 
all sums due in respect of all Notes up to that seventh calendar day (except to the extent that 
there is any subsequent default in payment in accordance with these Conditions) in 
accordance with Condition 16 (Notices). 
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6.4 Reset Rate Screen Page 

If the Reset Rate Screen Page is not available, the Calculation Agent shall request each of the 
Reference Banks to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a 
percentage rate per annum) for the Reset Reference Rate at approximately the Reset Rate Time on the 
Reset Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation 
Agent with offered quotations, the Reset Rate for the relevant Reset Period shall be the arithmetic 
mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the 
offered quotations plus or minus (as appropriate) the applicable Reset Margin (if any), all as 
determined by the Calculation Agent. If on any Reset Determination Date only one or none of the 
Reference Banks provides the Calculation Agent with an offered quotation as provided in the 
foregoing provisions of this Condition 6, the Reset Rate shall be determined as at the last preceding 
Reset Determination Date or, in the case of the first Reset Determination Date, the Reset Rate shall be 
the Initial Rate of Interest. 

6.5 Calculation of Interest Amount 

The Calculation Agent will calculate the Interest Amount payable on the Reset Notes for each 
relevant period (in the case of Interest Periods falling after the Reset Date, as soon as practicable after 
the time at which the Reset Reference Rate is to be determined in relation to such Reset Interest 
Period) by applying the Initial Rate of Interest or the applicable Reset Rate (as the case may be) to the 
Calculation Amount and multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the 
resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded 
upwards). For this purpose a “sub-unit” means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest 
amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the 
case of euro, means one cent. Where the Specified Denomination of a Note comprises more than one 
Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note shall be aggregate of the 
amounts (determined in the manner provided above) for each Calculation Amount comprising the 
Specified Denomination without any further rounding. 

6.6 Publication 

The Calculation Agent will cause each Reset Rate and each Interest Amount determined by it for each 
Reset Period, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) required to be 
determined by it together with any relevant payment date(s) to be notified to the Issuer, Paying Agents 
and each competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes 
have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation as soon as practicable after such 
determination but (in the case of each Reset Rate, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date) in any 
event not later than the first day of the relevant Interest Period. Notice thereof shall also promptly be 
given to the Noteholders. The Calculation Agent will be entitled to recalculate any Interest Amount 
(on the basis of the foregoing provisions) in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant 
Interest Period. If the Calculation Amount is less than the minimum Specified Denomination the 
Calculation Agent shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only 
the Calculation Amount and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum Specified 
Denomination. 

6.7 Notifications 

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, 
expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 6 by the Calculation Agent will (in the 
absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Noteholders and the 
Couponholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability to any such Person will attach to the Calculation 
Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for 
such purposes. 



 

 

 59  
 

7. FLOATING RATE AND CMS LINKED INTEREST NOTE PROVISIONS 

7.1 Application 

This Condition 7 (Floating Rate and CMS Linked Interest Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes 
only if (a) the Floating Rate Note Provisions or CMS Linked Interest Note Provisions are specified in 
the applicable Final Terms as being applicable or (b) if a Change of Interest Basis is specified in the 
applicable Final Terms as being applicable, in respect of those periods for which the Floating Rate 
Note Provisions or the CMS Linked Interest Note Provisions are stated to apply. 

7.2 Interest Accrual 

The Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate of Interest payable in arrear 
on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 10 (Payments). Each Note will cease 
to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the 
Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused or unless default is otherwise made in respect 
of payment. In such events, it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 7 (both 
before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of: 

(i) the day on which all amounts due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on 
behalf of the relevant Noteholder; and 

(ii) the day falling seven calendar days after the Agent has notified the Noteholders of receipt of 
all sums due in respect of all Notes up to that seventh calendar day (except to the extent that 
there is any subsequent default in payment in accordance with these Conditions) in 
accordance with Condition 16 (Notices). 

7.3 Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes other than CMS Linked Interest Notes 

If Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the 
Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined and “CMS Rate” is not specified as the Reference Rate in 
the applicable Final Terms, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be 
determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis: 

(i) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, the 
Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen 
Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date; 

(ii) in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the Reference 
Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant 
Interest Determination Date; 

(iii) if, in the case of (i) above, such rate does not appear on that page or, in the case of (ii) above, 
fewer than two such rates appear on that page or if, in either case, the Relevant Screen Page is 
unavailable, the Calculation Agent will: 

(a) request the principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each of the Reference Banks 
to provide a quotation of the Reference Rate at approximately the Relevant Time on 
the Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the Relevant Financial Centre 
interbank market in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that 
market at that time; and 

(b) determine the arithmetic mean of such quotations; and 

(iv) if fewer than two such quotations are provided as requested, the Calculation Agent will 
determine the arithmetic mean of the rates (being the nearest to the Reference Rate, as 
determined by the Calculation Agent) quoted by major banks in the Principal Financial Centre 
of the Specified Currency, selected by the Calculation Agent, at approximately 11.00 a.m. 
(local time in the Principal Financial Centre of the Specified Currency) on the first day of the 
relevant Interest Period for loans in the Specified Currency to leading European banks for a 
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period equal to the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is representative for a single 
transaction in that market at that time, 

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the 
case may be) the arithmetic mean so determined; provided, however, that if the Calculation Agent is 
unable to determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in accordance with the above 
provisions in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes during such 
Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean 
last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of a preceding Interest Period. 

7.4 Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes which are CMS Linked Interest Notes 

If Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the 
Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined and “CMS Rate” is specified as the Reference Rate in the 
applicable Final Terms, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be 
determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to the following formula: 

CMS Rate plus Margin 

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available, the Calculation Agent shall request each of the CMS 
Reference Banks to provide the Calculation Agent with its quotation for the Relevant Swap Rate at 
approximately 11.00 a.m. (local time in the Principal Financial Centre of the Specified Currency) on 
the Interest Determination Date in question. If at least three of the CMS Reference Banks provide the 
Calculation Agent with such quotation, the CMS Rate for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic 
mean of such quotations, eliminating the highest quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the 
highest) and the lowest quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the lowest). 

If on any Interest Determination Date less than three or none of the CMS Reference Banks provides 
the Calculation Agent with such quotations as provided in the preceding paragraph, the CMS Rate 
shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in good faith on such commercial basis as considered 
appropriate by the Calculation Agent in its absolute discretion, in accordance with standard market 
practice. 

7.5 ISDA Determination 

If ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) 
of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period 
will be the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate where “ISDA Rate” in relation to any 
Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that would 
be determined by the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation 
Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction under the terms of an 
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which: 

(i) the Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as specified in the applicable 
Final Terms; 

(ii) the Designated Maturity (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is a period specified in the 
applicable Final Terms; and 

(iii) the relevant Reset Date (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is either (A) if the relevant 
Floating Rate Option is based on the London inter-bank offered rate (LIBOR) for a currency, 
the first day of that Interest Period or (B) in any other case, as specified in the applicable Final 
Terms. 

7.6 Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest 

If any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest is specified in the applicable Final 
Terms, then the Rate of Interest shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the 
minimum so specified. 
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7.7 Calculation of Interest Amount 

The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time at which the Rate of Interest is to be 
determined in relation to each Interest Period, calculate the Interest Amount payable in respect of each 
Note for such Interest Period. The Interest Amount will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest 
for such Interest Period to the Calculation Amount during such Interest Period and multiplying the 
product by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of 
the Specified currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards). For this purpose a “sub-unit” means, 
in the case of any currency other than Euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as 
legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of Euro, means one cent. Where the 
Specified Denomination of a Floating Rate Note or CMS Linked Interest Note comprises more than 
one Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note shall be the aggregate 
of the amounts (determined in the manner provided above) for each Calculation Amount comprising 
the Specified Denomination without any further rounding. 

7.8 Publication 

The Calculation Agent will cause each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount determined by it, together 
with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) required to be determined by it 
together with any relevant payment date(s) to be notified to the Issuer, the Paying Agents and each 
competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then 
been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation as soon as practicable after such determination but 
(in the case of each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date) in any event not later 
than the first day of the relevant Interest Period. Notice thereof shall also promptly be given to the 
Noteholders. The Calculation Agent will be entitled to recalculate any Interest Amount (on the basis 
of the foregoing provisions) in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Period. 
If the Calculation Amount is less than the minimum Specified Denomination the Calculation Agent 
shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only the Calculation 
Amount and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum Specified Denomination. 

7.9 Notifications 

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, 
expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 7 by the Calculation Agent will (in the 
absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Noteholders and the 
Couponholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability to any such Person will attach to the Calculation 
Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for 
such purposes. 

8. CHANGE OF INTEREST BASIS 

If Change of Interest Basis is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the interest 
payable in respect of the Notes will be calculated in accordance with Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note 
Provisions) or Condition 7 (Floating Rate and CMS Linked Interest Note Provisions), each applicable 
only for the relevant periods specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

If Change of Interest Basis is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, and Issuer’s 
Switch Option is also specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may, on one or 
more occasions, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, at its option (any such option, a “Switch 
Option”), having given notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) on or 
prior to the relevant Switch Option Expiry Date, change the Interest Basis of the Notes from Fixed 
Rate to Floating Rate or Floating Rate to Fixed Rate or as otherwise specified in the applicable Final 
Terms with effect from (and including) the Switch Option Effective Date specified in the applicable 
Final Terms (including different Fixed Rates or Floating Rates in respect of Fixed Rate Notes or 
Floating Rate Notes respectively) to (but excluding) the Maturity Date (or, where more than one 
Switch Option Effective Date is specified in the applicable Final Terms, up to and excluding the next 
following Switch Option Effective Date), provided that (A) the Switch Option may be exercised only 
in respect of all the outstanding Notes, (B) upon exercise of a Switch Option, the Interest Basis 
change will be effective from (and including) the relevant Switch Option Effective Date until the 
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Maturity Date (or, where more than one Switch Option Effective Date is specified as applicable in the 
applicable Final Terms, up to and excluding the next following Switch Option Effective Date to the 
extent the related Switch Option is exercised), and (C) where a Switch Option has not been exercised 
prior to the relevant Switch Option Expiry Date, the Issuer shall no longer be entitled to exercise such 
Switch Option and the Interest Basis shall not change. 

“Switch Option Expiry Date” and “Switch Option Effective Date” shall mean any date specified as 
such in the applicable Final Terms provided that any date specified in the applicable Final Terms as a 
Switch Option Effective Date shall be deemed as such subject to the exercise of the relevant Switch 
Option having been notified by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition and in accordance with Condition 
16 (Notices) prior to the relevant Switch Option Expiry Date. 

9. ZERO COUPON NOTES PROVISIONS 

9.1 Application 

This Condition 9 (Zero Coupon Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only if the Zero Coupon 
Note Provisions are specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable. 

9.2 Late Payment on Zero Coupon Notes 

If the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note is improperly withheld or 
refused, the Redemption Amount shall thereafter be an amount equal to the sum of: 

(i) the Reference Price; and 

(ii) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price 
on the basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction from (and including) the Issue Date to (but 
excluding) whichever is the earlier of (a) the day on which all amounts due in respect of such 
Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (b) the day 
falling seven calendar days after the Agent has notified the Noteholders of receipt of all sums 
due in respect of all Notes up to that seventh calendar day (except to the extent that there is 
any subsequent default in payment in accordance with these Conditions) in accordance with 
Condition 16 (Notices). 

10. PAYMENTS  

10.1 Payments in respect of Notes 

Payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made against presentation and 
surrender (or, in the case of a partial payment, endorsement) of Notes or the appropriate Coupons (as 
the case may be) at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by cheque 
drawn in the currency in which the payment is due on, or by transfer to an account denominated in 
that currency (or, if that currency is Euro, any other account to which Euro may be credited or 
transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Principal Financial Centre of that 
currency (in the case of a sterling cheque, a town clearing branch of a bank in the City of London). 
Payments of interest due in respect of any Note other than on presentation and surrender of matured 
Coupons shall be made only against presentation and either surrender or endorsement (as appropriate) 
of the relevant Note. 

10.2 Payments in New York City 

Payments of principal or interest may be made at the Specified Office of a Paying Agent in New York 
City if (i) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents outside the United States with the reasonable 
expectation that such Paying Agents will be able to make payment of the full amount of the interest on 
the Notes in the currency in which the payment is due when due, (ii) payment of the full amount of 
such interest at the offices of all such Paying Agents is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange 
controls or other similar restrictions and (iii) payment is permitted by applicable United States law. 
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10.3 Payments subject to applicable laws 

All payments in respect of the Notes made in accordance with these Conditions shall be subject to: 

(i) any fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives applicable thereto; and  

(ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) 
of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) or otherwise imposed pursuant to 
Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any 
official interpretations thereof, any intergovernmental agreement in place between the United 
States and another jurisdiction facilitating the implementation thereof, or (without prejudice to 
the provisions of Condition 12 (Taxation)) any law implementing an intergovernmental 
approach thereto,  

but, in each case, without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 12 (Taxation). 

No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such 
payments. 

10.4 Surrender of unmatured Coupons 

If the applicable Final Terms specifies that the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are applicable and a Note 
is presented without all unmatured Coupons relating thereto: 

(i) if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is less than or equal to the amount of 
principal due for payment, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons will 
be deducted from the amount of principal due for payment; provided, however, that if the 
gross amount available for payment is less than the amount of principal due for payment, the 
sum deducted will be that proportion of the aggregate amount of such missing Coupons which 
the gross amount actually available for payment bears to the amount of principal due for 
payment; 

(ii) if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is greater than the amount of principal due 
for payment: 

(a) so many of such missing Coupons shall become void (in inverse order of maturity) as 
will result in the aggregate amount of the remainder of such missing Coupons (the 
“Relevant Coupons”) being equal to the amount of principal due for payment; 
provided, however, that where this sub-paragraph would otherwise require a fraction 
of a missing Coupon to become void, such missing Coupon shall become void in its 
entirety; and 

(b) a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, if less, the amount 
of principal due for payment) will be deducted from the amount of principal due for 
payment; provided, however, that, if the gross amount available for payment is less 
than the amount of principal due for payment, the sum deducted will be that 
proportion of the aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, as the case may be, 
the amount of principal due for payment) which the gross amount actually available 
for payment bears to the amount of principal due for payment. 

Each sum of principal so deducted shall be paid in the manner provided in paragraph (i) above against 
presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of the relevant missing Coupons. 

10.5 Unmatured Coupons void 

If the applicable Final Terms specifies that this Condition 10.5 is applicable or that the Floating Rate 
Note Provisions or CMS Linked Interest Note Provisions are applicable, on the due date for final 
redemption of any Note or early redemption in whole of such Note pursuant to Condition 11.2 
(Redemption for Taxation Reasons), Condition 11.3 (Redemption for Regulatory Reasons), Condition 
11.4 (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer), Condition 11.7 (Redemption at the Option of 
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Noteholders) or Condition 15 (Events of Default), all unmatured Coupons relating thereto (whether or 
not still attached) shall become void and no payment will be made in respect thereof. 

10.6 Payments on a Business Day 

A Note or Coupon may only be presented for payment on a day which is a Payment Business Day in 
the place of presentation. If the due date for payment in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a 
Payment Business Day in the place of presentation, the holder will not be entitled to payment of the 
amount due until the next succeeding Payment Business Day and no further interest or other payment 
will be made as a consequence of the day on which the relevant Note or Coupon may be presented for 
payment under this Condition 10 falling after the due date.  

10.7 Agents 

The initial Paying Agents and their initial Specified Offices are listed below. The initial Calculation 
Agent (if any) is specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to 
vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent, appoint additional or other Paying Agents 
and appoint a successor issuing and principal paying agent or Calculation Agent, provided it will at all 
times maintain: 

(i) an Agent;  

(ii) if a Calculation Agent is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer shall at all times 
maintain a Calculation Agent; and 

(iii) for so long as the Notes are listed on any stock exchange or admitted to trading by any 
relevant authority, a Paying Agent (which may be the Agent) having its Specified Office in 
such place as may be required by applicable laws and regulations or the rules and regulations 
of the relevant stock exchange. 

Notice of any change in the Paying Agents or their Specified Offices will promptly be given to the 
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices). 

10.8 Partial Payments 

If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Note or Coupon presented to it for 
payment, such Paying Agent will endorse thereon a statement indicating the amount and date of such 
payment. 

10.9 Exchange of Talons 

On or after the maturity date of the final Coupon which is (or was at the time of issue) attached to the 
Notes, the Talon attached to such Note may be exchanged at the Specified Office of the Agent for 
further Coupons, as the case may be (including, if appropriate, a further Talon but excluding any 
Coupons in respect of which claims have already become void pursuant to Condition 13 
(Prescription). Upon the due date for redemption of any Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to 
such Note shall become void and no Coupon will be delivered in respect of such Talon. 

11. REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE 

11.1 Final Redemption 

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled as provided below, the Notes will be 
redeemed at their Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date, subject as provided in Condition 
11.6 (Redemption of Subordinated Notes) and Condition 10 (Payments).  

11.2 Redemption for Taxation Reasons 

If: 

(i) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant 
Jurisdiction, or any change in the application or official interpretation of the laws or 
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regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction, which change or amendment becomes effective after 
the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes, (a) the Issuer would be required to pay 
additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 12 (Taxation) or (b) for 
Subordinated Notes only, deductibility of interest payable by the Issuer in respect of the 
Subordinated Notes is materially reduced for Italian income tax purposes;  

(ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it; 
and 

(iii) in the case of Subordinated Notes only, if the circumstances under items (i) and (ii) above 
have occurred before five years from the issue of the relevant Subordinated Notes, the Issuer 
has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Authority that such change is material and 
was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date, 

(any such event, a “Tax Event”) 

the Issuer may at its option (but subject, in the case of Subordinated Notes, to the prior approval of the 
Relevant Authority), having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders 
in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all the Notes, 
but not some only (subject to Condition 11.6 (Redemption of Subordinated Notes)), at their Early 
Redemption Amount (Tax) together with interest accrued to but excluding the relevant date of 
redemption: 

(A) at any time (if neither the Floating Rate Note Provisions nor CMS Linked Interest Note 
Provisions are specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable); or 

(B) on any Interest Payment Date (if the Floating Rate Note Provisions or CMS Linked Interest 
Note Provisions are specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable), 

provided, however, that no such notice of redemption shall be given (i) earlier than (a) where the 
Notes may be redeemed at any time, 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be 
obliged to pay such additional amounts, were a payment in respect of the Notes then due; or (b) where 
the Notes may be redeemed only on an Interest Payment Date, 60 days prior to the Interest Payment 
Date occurring immediately before the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such 
additional amounts, were a payment in respect of the Notes then due and (ii) unless, at the time such 
notice is given, such change or amendment remains in effect (or due to take effect). 

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 11.2, the Issuer shall 
deliver to the Agent to make available at its Specified Office to the Noteholders (i) a certificate signed 
by two Authorised Signatories of the Issuer stating the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and 
setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to 
redeem have occurred and (ii) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the 
effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of the 
change or amendment. 

Upon the expiry of any notice as is referred in this Condition 11.2, the Issuer shall be bound to redeem 
the Notes in accordance with the terms of this Condition 11.2 (subject to Condition 11.6 (Redemption 
of Subordinated Notes)). 

11.3 Redemption for Regulatory Reasons 

This Condition 11.3 applies only to Notes specified in the applicable Final Terms as being 
Subordinated Notes. 

If, at any time the Issuer determines that a Regulatory Event has occurred, the Notes may be redeemed 
at the option of the Issuer (subject to Condition 11.6 (Redemption of Subordinated Notes) below), in 
whole, but not in part, at any time (if this Note is neither a Floating Rate Note nor a CMS Linked 
Interest Note) or on any Interest Payment Date (if the Note is either a Floating Rate Note or a CMS 
Linked Interest Note), on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ notice to the Agent and, in 
accordance with Condition 16 (Notices) to the Noteholders. 
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Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 11.3, the Issuer shall 
deliver or procure that there is delivered to the Agent a certificate signed by two Authorised 
Signatories of the Issuer stating that the said circumstances prevail and describe the facts leading 
thereto, in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders.  

Upon the expiry of any such notice as is referred to in this Condition 11.3, the Issuer shall – subject to 
Condition 11.6 (Redemption of Subordinated Notes) - be bound to redeem the Notes in accordance 
with this Condition 11.3, at the Early Redemption Amount (Regulatory Event) described in the 
applicable Final Terms, together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of 
redemption. 

11.4 Redemption at the Option of the Issuer 

If the Call Option is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable, the Notes may 
(subject, in the case of Subordinated Notes, to prior approval of the Relevant Authority) be redeemed 
at the option of the Issuer in whole or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, in part on any 
Optional Redemption Date (Call) at the relevant Optional Redemption Amount (Call) on the Issuer’s 
giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall – subject 
to Condition 11.6 (Redemption of Subordinated Notes) - be irrevocable and shall oblige the Issuer to 
redeem the Notes or, as the case may be, the Notes specified in such notice on the relevant Optional 
Redemption Date (Call) at the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) plus accrued interest (if any) to 
such date). 

11.5 Partial Redemption 

If the Notes are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with Condition 11.4 
(Redemption at the Option of the Issuer), the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected by the drawing of 
lots in such place as the Agent approves and in such manner as the Agent considers appropriate, 
subject to compliance with applicable law and the rules of each listing authority, stock exchange 
and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or 
quotation, and the notice to Noteholders referred to in Condition 11.4 (Redemption at the Option of 
the Issuer) shall specify the serial numbers of the Notes so to be redeemed. If any Maximum 
Redemption Amount or Minimum Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms, 
then the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) shall in no event be greater than the maximum or less 
than the minimum so specified. 

11.6 Redemption of Subordinated Notes 

Any redemption of the Subordinated Notes in accordance with Condition 11.1 (Final Redemption), 
Condition 11.2 (Redemption for Taxation Reasons), Condition 11.3 (Redemption for Regulatory 
Reasons), Condition 11.4 (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer), and any purchase in accordance 
with Condition 11.10 (Purchases) shall be subject to: 

(i) Issuer giving notice to the Relevant Authority and such Relevant Authority granting prior 
permission to redeem or repurchase the relevant Subordinated Notes, in each case to the 
extent required by and in accordance with the Applicable Banking Regulations. Failure to 
redeem any such Notes where such consent has not been granted (to the extent such consent 
was required by and in accordance with the Applicable Banking Regulations) shall not 
constitute a default of the Issuer for any purpose; and 

(ii) compliance by the Issuer with any alternative or additional requirements to redemption or 
repurchase, as applicable, set out in the Applicable Banking Regulations. 

Amounts that would otherwise be payable on the due date will continue to bear interest until 
whichever is the earlier of (a) the day on which all amounts due in respect of such Subordinated Notes 
up to that day are received by or on behalf of the Noteholders and (b) the day falling seven calendar 
days after the Agent has notified the Noteholders of receipt of all sums due in respect of all Notes up 
to that seventh calendar day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment in 
accordance with these Conditions) in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices). 
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11.7 Redemption at the Option of Noteholders 

This Condition 11.7 (Redemption at the Option of Noteholders) is applicable only to Senior Notes and 
if the Put Option is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable. 

The Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any Note redeem such Note on the Optional 
Redemption Date (Put) specified in the relevant Put Option Notice at the relevant Optional 
Redemption Amount (Put) together with interest (if any) accrued to such date. In order to exercise the 
option contained in this Condition 11.7, the holder of a Note must, not less than 30 nor more than 60 
days before the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), deposit with any Paying Agent such Note 
together with all unmatured Coupons relating thereto and a duly completed Put Option Notice in the 
form obtainable from any Paying Agent. The Paying Agent with which a Note is so deposited shall 
deliver a duly completed Put Option Receipt to the depositing Noteholder. No Note, once deposited 
with a duly completed Put Option Notice in accordance with this Condition 11.7, may be withdrawn; 
provided, however, that if, prior to the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), any such Note 
becomes immediately due and payable or, upon due presentation of any such Note on the relevant 
Optional Redemption Date (Put), payment of the redemption moneys is improperly withheld or 
refused, the relevant Paying Agent shall mail notification thereof to the depositing Noteholder at such 
address as may have been given by such Noteholder in the relevant Put Option Notice and shall hold 
such Note at its Specified Office for collection by the depositing Noteholder against surrender of the 
relevant Put Option Receipt. For so long as any outstanding Note is held by a Paying Agent in 
accordance with this Condition 11.7, the depositor of such Note and not such Paying Agent shall be 
deemed to be the holder of such Note for all purposes. 

11.8 No other redemption 

The Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Notes otherwise than as provided in Conditions 11.1 
(Final Redemption) to 11.7 (Redemption at the Option of Noteholders). 

11.9 Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes 

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Redemption Amount payable on 
redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any time before the Maturity Date shall be an amount equal to 
the sum of: 

(i) the Reference Price; and 

(ii) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price 
from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the 
case may be) the date upon which the Note becomes due and payable. 

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, the 
calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of such Day 
Count Fraction as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms for the purposes of this Condition 
11.9 or, if none is so specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360. 

11.10 Purchases 

The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may purchase Notes in any manner and at any price, provided 
that:  

(i) all unmatured Coupons appertaining to the Notes are purchased with such Notes); and 

(ii) in the case of Subordinated Notes, the purchase of the relevant Subordinated Notes by the 
Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries shall take place subject as provided in Condition 11.6 
(Redemption of Subordinated Notes). 

11.11 Cancellations 

All Notes which are redeemed and any unmatured Coupons attached to or surrendered with them shall 
be cancelled and may not be reissued or resold. Subject to the requirements (if any) of any stock 
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exchange or securities market on which the Notes may be admitted to listing and/or trading at the 
relevant time and subject to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, Notes purchased by 
the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may be held or re-sold by the Issuer or submitted for cancellation 
by the Issuer or its Subsidiaries, in each case, at the Issuer’s discretion. 

12. TAXATION  

12.1 Payment without Withholding  

All payments of principal (if applicable) and interest in respect of the Notes and the Coupons by or on 
behalf of the Issuer shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for or on 
account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever 
nature (“Taxes”) imposed or levied by or on behalf of any Relevant Jurisdiction, unless the 
withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will pay such 
additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders and 
Couponholders after such withholding or deduction shall be equal to the amounts of principal, in the 
case of Senior Notes, and interest, in the case of any Notes, which would have been received in 
respect of the Notes or the Coupons in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no 
additional amounts shall be payable in respect of any Note or Coupon: 

(i) presented for payment by, or by a third party on behalf of, the holder who is liable to such 
Taxes in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of it having some connection with the 
Relevant Jurisdiction other than a mere holding of the Note or the Coupon; or 

(ii) presented for payment in the Relevant Jurisdiction; or 

(iii) presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder of Notes or Coupons who would have been 
able to avoid such withholding or deduction by making a declaration of non-residence or other 
similar claim for an exemption; or 

(iv) requested more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that a holder of such 
Note or Coupon would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting such 
payment Note or Coupon for payment on the last day of the period of 30 days; or 

(v) in relation to any payment or deduction on principal, interest or other proceeds of any Note on 
account of imposta sostitutiva pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996, 
as amended or supplemented from time to time, or related implementing regulations (the 
“Decree No. 239”); or 

(vi) in circumstances in which the formalities to obtain an exemption from imposta sostitutiva 
under Decree No. 239 have not been complied with, except where such formalities have not 
been complied with due to the actions or omissions of the Issuer or its agents; or 

(vii) in relation to any payment or deduction on principal, interest or other proceeds of any Note on 
account of any withholding or deduction pursuant to Italian Law Decree No. 512 of 30 
September 1983, as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

The Issuer will have no obligation to pay additional amounts or otherwise indemnify an investor for 
any amounts required to be withheld or deducted pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, 
any regulation or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, any intergovernmental 
agreement in place between the United States and another jurisdiction facilitating the implementation 
thereof or any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto to be deducted or withheld by 
the Issuer, the paying agent or any other party. 

12.2 Additional Amounts 

Any reference in these Conditions to any amounts of principal and interest in respect of the Notes and 
the Coupons shall be deemed also to refer to any additional amounts which may be payable under this 
Condition 12. 
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13. PRESCRIPTION 

Claims in respect of principal and interest will become void unless presentation for payment is made 
as required by Condition 10 (Payments) within a period of ten years in the case of principal and five 
years in the case of interest from the appropriate Relevant Date, subject to provisions of Condition 10 
(Payments). 

14. REPLACEMENT OF NOTES AND COUPONS 

If any Note or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the 
Specified Office of the Agent, subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant 
authority requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with 
such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer 
may require (provided that the requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing market practice). 
Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued. 

15. EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

15.1 Events of Default of Senior Notes 

This Condition 15.1 is applicable only to Notes specified in the applicable Final Terms as Senior 
Notes. If any of the following events occurs: 

(i) Non-payment: if the Issuer fails to pay any amount of principal in respect of the Notes on the 
due date for payment thereof or fails to pay any amount of interest in respect of the Notes 
within seven days of the due date for payment thereof; or  

(ii) Breach of other obligations: if the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other 
obligations under these Conditions and (except in any case where the failure is incapable of 
remedy, when no continuation or notice as is hereinafter mentioned will be required) the 
failure continues for the period of 30 calendar days following the service by any Noteholder, 
either to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Agent, of written notice addressed to the 
Issuer requiring the same to be remedied; or 

(iii) Cross-default: if (a) any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries is declared (or is 
capable of being declared) to be due and repayable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any 
actual or potential event of default (however described); or (b) the Issuer or any of its 
Subsidiaries fails to make any payment in respect of any Indebtedness on the due date for 
payment as extended by any originally applicable grace period; (c) any security given by the 
Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries for any Indebtedness is (or becomes capable of being) 
enforced; or (d) default is made by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries in making any payment 
when due or (as the case may be) within any originally applicable grace period under any 
guarantee and/or indemnity given by it in relation to any Indebtedness, provided that the 
aggregate amount of the Indebtedness, guarantees and/or indemnities in respect of which one 
or more of the events mentioned in this paragraph (iii) have occurred individually or in the 
aggregate equals or exceeds Euro 30,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency); or  

(iv) Winding up, etc.: if an order is made by any competent court or an effective resolution is 
passed for the winding up, liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer or any of its Material 
Subsidiaries save for the purposes of (a) a solvent reconstruction, amalgamation, 
reorganisation, merger or consolidation on terms previously approved by an Extraordinary 
Resolution of the Noteholders, or (b) pursuant to a Permitted Reorganisation; or  

(v) Cessation of business: if the Issuer or any of its Material Subsidiaries ceases, threatens to 
cease or announces that is shall cease to carry on the whole or substantially the whole of its 
business or operations, save for the purposes of (a) solvent reconstruction, amalgamation, 
reorganisation, merger or consolidation on terms previously approved by an Extraordinary 
Resolution of the Noteholders, or (b) a Permitted Reorganisation. For the avoidance of doubt, 
the transfer of receivables and securities by the Issuer or any of its Material Subsidiaries in the 
ordinary course of business will not constitute a cessation of business; or  
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(vi) Insolvency/Composition: if the Issuer or any of its Material Subsidiaries: 

(i) is (or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to be) insolvent or unable to pay its 
debts as they fall due; or 

(ii) stops or suspends (or threatens to stop or suspend) payment of all or a part of, or 
admits in writing its inability to, its debts; or 

(iii) becomes subject to any liquidation, insolvency, composition, reorganisation or other 
similar proceedings or application is made for the appointment of an administrative or 
other receiver, administrator, liquidator or other similar official or an administrative 
or other receiver, administrator, liquidator or other similar official is appointed in 
relation to the Issuer or any of its Material Subsidiaries or, as the case may be, in 
relation to the whole or a substantial part of the undertaking or assets of any of them, 
or an encumbrancer takes possession of the whole or a substantial part of the 
undertaking or assets of any of them; or 

(iv) proposes or makes any agreement for the deferral, rescheduling or other readjustment 
of all of (or of a particular type of) its debts (or of any part which it will or it might 
otherwise be unable to pay when due); or 

(v) proposes or makes or enters into a general assignment or an arrangement or 
composition with or for the benefit of its creditors in respect of any of all of (or of a 
particular type of) its debts (or of any part which it will or it might otherwise be 
unable to pay when due, or a moratorium is agreed or declared or comes into effect in 
respect of or affecting all or any part of such debts of the Issuer or any of its Material 
Subsidiaries; or 

(vii) Enforcement proceedings: if a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, 
enforced or sued out on or against all or a substantial part of the property, assets or revenues 
of the Issuer or any of its Material Subsidiaries and is not discharged or stayed within 30 
calendar days; or  

(viii) Security enforced: if any Security Interest created or assumed by the Issuer in respect of all or 
a substantial part of the undertaking, property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or any of its 
Material Subsidiaries becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the 
taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person) and 
such enforcement or any step taken to enforce it are not discharged or stayed within 30 
calendar days; or 

(ix) Unsatisfied judgment: if one or more judgment(s) or order(s) for the payment of any amount 
in excess of Euro 30,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), whether individually or in 
aggregate, is rendered against the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, becomes enforceable in a 
jurisdiction where the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries are incorporated and continue(s) 
unsatisfied and unstayed for a period of 30 calendar days after the date(s) thereof or, if later, 
the date therein specified for payment; or  

(x) Analogous event: if any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an 
analogous effect to any of the events referred to in Conditions 15.1(iv), 15.1(v), 15.1(vi), 
15.1(vii), 15.1(viii) or 15.1(ix); or 

(xi) Failure to take action: any action, condition or thing (including, without limitation, the 
obtaining or effecting of any necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, 
licence or order) at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (i) to enable the 
Issuer lawfully to enter into, perform and comply with its obligations under and in respect of 
the Notes and the Agency Agreement, (ii) to ensure that those obligations are legal, valid, 
binding and enforceable and (iii) to make the Notes and the Coupons admissible in evidence 
in the courts of the Republic of Italy is not taken, fulfilled or done; or 
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(xii) Unlawfulness: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any of its 
obligations under or in respect of the Notes or the Agency Agreement, unless the matter 
giving rise to such unlawfulness is promptly remedied by the Issuer, 

then any Senior Note may, by written notice addressed by the holder thereof to the Issuer and 
delivered to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Agent, be declared immediately due and 
payable, whereupon it shall become immediately due and payable at its Early Termination Amount 
together with accrued interest without further action or formality. 

In these Conditions: 

“Permitted Reorganisation” means, in respect of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, an 
amalgamation, merger, spin-off, reconstruction, reorganisation, restructuring, transfer or contribution 
of assets or other similar transaction (a “relevant transaction”) whilst solvent and: 

(i) on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders; or 

(ii) in the case of a Subsidiary, whereby the assets and undertaking of such Subsidiary are 
transferred, sold, contributed, assigned or otherwise vested in the Issuer and/or another 
Subsidiary; 

(iii) with respect to Condition 15.1(v) only, whereby the Issuer or a Subsidiary sells, transfers, 
leases, exchanges or otherwise disposes of its business (or a substantial part thereof) (whether 
in the form of property or assets, including any receivables, shares, interest or other 
equivalents or corporate stock or other indicia of ownership) that is made on arm’s length 
terms for a consideration that represents or is equivalent to the fair market value of the 
relevant business (or part thereof), as confirmed by the Issuer’s Board of Directors; or 

(iv) in the case of the Issuer, whereby the assets and undertaking of the Issuer, including equity 
interests in Subsidiaries, or (in the case of a demerger) all or substantially all of such assets 
and undertaking, are vested in a body corporate in good standing (the “Substitute”) and: 

(a) the Substitute is a bank duly incorporated and licensed to operate in Italy or in another 
Member State of the European Union; 

(b) the Substitute assumes the obligations of principal debtor under the Notes by 
operation of Italian law under the doctrine of universal succession, failing which on 
or prior to completion of the transaction it executes and delivers a deed of 
substitution, a supplemental agency agreement and such other documents (if any), 
together with (where applicable) the other parties to the Agency Agreement, as may 
be necessary to give full effect to the substitution of such body corporate for the 
Issuer (such documents together, the “Substitution Documents”); 

(c) a certificate of the Substitute, signed by two directors or by a director and the chief 
financial officer of the Substitute and addressed to the Agent has been made available 
to the Noteholders at the Specified Offices of the Agent, confirming the Substitute’s 
belief that neither (1) the ability to perform the payment obligations of the principal 
debtor under the Notes nor (2) the rights and interests of Noteholders will be impaired 
as a result of the transaction; 

(d) all action, conditions and things required to be taken, fulfilled and done (including the 
obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the Notes and/or the Substitution 
Documents (as applicable) represent valid, legally binding and enforceable 
obligations of the Substitute have been taken, fulfilled and done and are in full force 
and effect;  

(e) the Substitute has obtained opinions from lawyers of recognised standing as to 
matters of Italian law and (if different) of the jurisdiction of the place of incorporation 
of the Substitute, confirming as follows: 
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(1) fulfilment of the condition in paragraph (d) above (subject to all applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ 
rights generally and general equitable principles); 

(2) that the Substitute is validly incorporated under the laws of its jurisdiction 
with power and capacity to assume and perform the obligations under the 
Notes and/or the Substitution Documents (as applicable); and 

(3) that the Substitute has obtained all necessary approvals and consents 
(including governmental and regulatory consents) for the assumption and 
performance of its obligations, and from lawyers of recognised standing as to 
matters of English law confirming the matters set out in (1) above, all such 
opinions to be made available to Noteholders at the Specified Offices of the 
Agent, together with the Substitution Documents; and 

(f) not later than 15 calendar days after the execution of any Substitution Documents, the 
Substitute shall give notice thereof to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 
16 (Notices),  

and, following any such transaction, any reference in these Conditions to the “Issuer” shall be 
a reference to the Substitute and references to obligations under the Notes in Conditions 
15.1(ii), 15.1(xi) and 15.1(xii) shall be deemed to include obligations under the Substitution 
Documents. 

15.2 Events of Default of Subordinated Notes 

This Condition 15.2 is applicable only to Notes specified in the applicable Final Terms as 
Subordinated Notes. If any of the following events occurs: 

(i) Winding-up etc: if an order is made by any competent court or an effective resolution is 
passed for the winding up, liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer (otherwise than for the 
purposes of and pursuant to an amalgamation, reorganisation or restructuring whilst solvent); 
or 

(ii) Analogous event: any event occurs which under the laws of the Relevant Jurisdiction has an 
analogous effect to any of the events referred to in paragraph (i) (Winding up, etc.) above, 

then any Subordinated Note may, by written notice addressed by the holder thereof to the Issuer and 
delivered to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Agent, be declared immediately due and 
payable, whereupon it shall become immediately due and payable at its Early Termination Amount 
together with accrued interest without further action or formality. 

16. NOTICES 

Notices to Noteholders will be valid if published in a reputable leading English language daily 
newspaper published in London with an international circulation (which is expected to be the 
Financial Times) and (so long as the Notes are listed on a securities market of the Irish Stock 
Exchange and it is a requirement of applicable laws and regulations or the rules of the Irish Stock 
Exchange) a leading newspaper having general circulation in the Republic of Ireland or on the website 
of the Irish Stock Exchange (www.ise.ie) or, if such publication shall not be practicable, in an leading 
English language daily newspaper of general circulation in Europe (which is expected to be the 
Financial Times). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication 
or, if published more than once or on different dates, the first date on which publication is made. 
Couponholders will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to 
the Noteholders in accordance with this Condition 16. 

http://www.ise.ie/
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17. MEETING OF NOTEHOLDERS, NOTEHOLDERS’ REPRESENTATIVE; MODIFICATION 

17.1 Meetings of Noteholders  

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider 
matters relating to the Notes, including the modification of any provision of these Conditions. Any 
such modification may be made if sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a meeting may be 
convened by the Issuer and shall be convened by it upon the request in writing of Noteholders holding 
not less than one-tenth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes. The quorum at any 
meeting convened to vote on an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more Persons holding or 
representing a clear majority of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes or, at any 
adjourned meeting, one or more Persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the principal 
amount of the Notes held or represented; provided, however, that Reserved Matters may only be 
sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders at which one or more 
Persons holding or representing not less than three-fourths or, at any adjourned meeting, one third of 
the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes form a quorum. Any Extraordinary 
Resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders and 
Couponholders, whether present or not. 

In addition, a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of all Noteholders who for the time being 
are entitled to receive notice of a meeting of Noteholders will take effect as if it were an Extraordinary 
Resolution. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in 
the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders. 

17.2 Modification 

The Notes, the Coupons and these Conditions may be amended without the consent of the 
Noteholders or the Couponholders to correct a manifest error. In addition, the parties to the Agency 
Agreement may agree to modify any provision thereof, but the Issuer shall not agree, without the 
consent of the Noteholders, to any such modification unless it is of a formal, minor or technical 
nature, it is made to correct a manifest error or it is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the 
Noteholders.  

17.3 Modification or Substitution of Subordinated Notes following a Regulatory Event or a Tax 
Event 

This Condition 17.3 applies to Subordinated Notes if Modification or Substitution of Subordinated 
Notes for Regulatory Event or Tax Event is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being 
applicable. If at any time a Tax Event or a Regulatory Event occurs, then the Issuer may either: (a) 
substitute new notes for the Subordinated Notes whereby such new notes shall replace the 
Subordinated Notes, or (b) vary the terms of the Subordinated Notes, at any time without any 
requirement for consent of the holders of Subordinated Notes, so that the Subordinated Notes are 
substituted for, or as applicable, varied to, become or remain, Qualifying Securities, subject to having 
given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Agent and the holders of Subordinated 
Notes and subject to receiving the prior consent from the Relevant Authority if and as required 
therefor under the Applicable Banking Regulations and in accordance with the Applicable Banking 
Regulations in force at the relevant time. 

The holders of Subordinated Notes shall, by virtue of subscribing and/or purchasing and holding any 
Subordinated Notes, be deemed to have accepted the substitution and modification of the terms of 
Subordinated Notes and to have granted to the Issuer full powers and authority to take any action 
and/or execute and deliver any document in the name and /or on behalf of the holders of Subordinated 
Notes which is necessary or convenient to implement the substitution or modification of the terms of 
Subordinated Notes. 

For the purposes of this Condition 17.3, “Qualifying Securities” means securities issued directly or 
indirectly by the Issuer that: 

(i) have the terms not less favourable to the holders of Subordinated Notes, certified by the Issuer 
acting reasonably following consultation with an investment bank or financial adviser of 
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international standing, than the terms of the Subordinated Notes, and they shall also (a) 
contain terms such that they comply with the minimum requirement under the Applicable 
Banking Regulations for inclusion in the Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer; (b) provide for a ranking 
at least equal to that of the Subordinated Notes; (c) have the same interest rate and the same 
Interest Payment Dates as those from time to time applying to the Subordinated Notes; (d) 
have the same redemption rights as the Subordinated Notes; (e) preserve any existing rights 
under the Subordinated Notes to any accrued interest which has not been paid in respect of the 
period from (and including) the Interest Payment Date last preceding the date of modification 
or substitution; and (f) are assigned (or maintain) the same credit ratings with the same 
outlook as were assigned to the Subordinated Notes (if rated) immediately prior to 
modification or substitution; 

(ii) are listed or admitted to trading on a recognised stock exchange if the Subordinated Notes 
were listed or admitted to trading immediately prior to such modification or substitution; and 

(iii) are not subject, at the time of, or immediately following, such modification or substitution, to 
any early redemption right for taxation reasons. 

18. ROUNDING 

For the purposes of any calculations referred to in these Conditions (unless otherwise specified in 
these Conditions or the applicable Final Terms), (a) all percentages resulting from such calculations 
will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 
0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 per cent.), (b) all United States dollar amounts used 
in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest cent (with one half cent being 
rounded up), (c) all Japanese Yen amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded 
downwards to the next lower whole Japanese Yen amount, and (d) all amounts denominated in any 
other currency used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest two decimal 
places in such currency, with 0.005 being rounded upwards. 

19. FURTHER ISSUES 

The Issuer may from time to time without the requirement to give notice to, or seek the consent of, the 
Noteholders or the Couponholders create and issue further notes having the same terms and conditions 
as those of the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them) 
and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding 
Notes, or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue.  

20. CURRENCY INDEMNITY 

If any sum due from the Issuer in respect of the Notes or the Coupons or any order or judgment given 
or made in relation thereto has to be converted from the currency (the “first currency”) in which the 
same is payable under these Conditions or such order or judgment into another currency (the “second 
currency”) for the purpose of (a) making or filing a claim or proof against the Issuer, (b) obtaining an 
order or judgment in any court or other tribunal or (c) enforcing any order or judgment given or made 
in relation to the Notes, the Issuer shall indemnify each Noteholder or Couponholder, on the written 
demand of such Noteholder or Couponholder addressed to the Issuer and delivered to the Issuer or to 
the Specified Office of the Agent, against any loss suffered as a result of any discrepancy between (i) 
the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the sum in question from the first currency into 
the second currency and (ii) the rate or rates of exchange at which such Noteholder may in the 
ordinary course of business purchase the first currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum 
paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of any such order, judgment, claim or proof. 

21. CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts 
(Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. 
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22. GOVERNING LAW AND SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION 

22.1 Governing Law  

The Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Notes and the Coupons and any non-contractual 
obligations arising out of or in connection with the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the 
Notes and the Coupons are governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law, except for 
Conditions 3 (Status of Subordinated Notes), 11.6 (Redemption of Subordinated Notes) and 15.2 
(Events of Default of Subordinated Notes) which are governed by and shall be construed in 
accordance with Italian law. 

22.2 Submission to Jurisdiction  

The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in 
connection with the Notes or the Coupons and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out 
of or in connection with the Notes or the Coupons (“Proceedings”) may be brought in such courts. 
The Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts and waives any objection to 
Proceedings in such courts whether on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings 
have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This Condition 22.2 is for the benefit of each of the 
Noteholders and Couponholders and shall not limit the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any 
other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions 
preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not).  

22.3 Agent for Service of Process 

The Issuer irrevocably appoints Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited of fifth Floor, 100 Wood 
Street, London EC2V 7EY as its agent in England to receive service of process in any Proceedings in 
England based on any of the Notes or the Coupons. If for any reason the Issuer does not have such an 
agent in England, it will promptly appoint a substitute process agent and notify the Noteholders of 
such appointment in accordance with Condition 16 (Notices). The Issuer agrees that failure by a 
process agent to notify it of any process will not invalidate service. Nothing herein shall affect the 
right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. 

23. CONTRACTUAL RECOGNITION OF BAIL-IN POWERS 

By the acquisition of the Notes, each Noteholder acknowledges and agrees to be bound by the 
exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority that may result in the write-down 
or cancellation of all or a portion of the principal amount of, or distributions on, the Notes and/or the 
conversion of all or a portion of the principal amount of, or distributions on, the Notes into ordinary 
shares or other obligations of the Issuer or another person, including by means of a variation to the 
terms of the Notes to give effect to the exercise by the Relevant Resolution Authority of such Bail-in 
Power. Each Noteholder further agrees that the rights of the Noteholders are subject to, and will be 
varied if necessary so as to give effect to, the exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Relevant 
Resolution Authority. 

Upon the Issuer being informed or notified by the Relevant Resolution Authority of the actual 
exercise of the date from which the Bail-in Power is effective with respect to the Notes, the Issuer 
shall notify the Noteholders without delay. Any delay or failure by the Issuer to give notice shall not 
affect the validity and enforceability of the Bail-in Power nor the effects on the Notes described in this 
clause. 

The exercise of the Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority with respect to the Notes 
shall not constitute an Event of Default and the terms and conditions of the Notes shall continue to 
apply in relation to the residual principal amount of, or outstanding amount payable with respect to, 
the Notes subject to any modification of the amount of distributions payable to reflect the reduction of 
the principal amount, and any further modification of the terms that the Relevant Resolution Authority 
may decide in accordance with applicable laws and regulations relating to the resolution of credit 
institutions, investment firms and/or Group Entities incorporated in the relevant Member State. 
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Each Noteholder also acknowledges and agrees that this provision is exhaustive on the matters 
described herein to the exclusion of any other agreements, arrangements or understandings relating to 
the application of any Bail-in Power to the Notes. 

As used in this Condition: 

“Bail-in Power” means any statutory write-down and/or conversion power existing from time to time 
under any laws, regulations, rules or requirements relating to the resolution of credit institutions, 
investment firms and/or Group Entities incorporated in the relevant Member State in effect and 
applicable in the relevant Member State to the Issuer or other Group Entities, including (but not 
limited to) any such laws, regulations, rules or requirements that are implemented, adopted or enacted 
within the context of any European Union directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of 
the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and 
investment firms and/or within the context of a relevant Member State resolution regime or otherwise, 
pursuant to which liabilities of a credit institution, investment firm and/or any Group Entities can be 
reduced, cancelled and/or converted into shares or obligations of the obligor or any other person. 

“Group Entity” means the Issuer or any legal person that is part of the Group. 

“Relevant Resolution Authority” means the Italian resolution authority, the Single Resolution Board 
(SRB) established pursuant to the SRM Regulation and/or any other authority entitled to exercise or 
participate in the exercise of any Resolution Power or Bail-in Power from time to time. 

“Resolution Power” means any statutory write-down, transfer and/or conversion power existing from 
time to time under any laws regulations, rules or requirements relating to the resolution of the Issuer 
or any other entities of the Group, including but not limited to any laws, regulations, rules or 
requirements implementing the BRRD and/or the SRM Regulation. 

“SRM Regulation” means Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 of the European Parliament and Council of 
15 July 2014 establishing uniform rules and a uniform procedure for the resolution of credit 
institutions and certain investment firms in the framework of a Single Resolution Mechanism and a 
Single Resolution Fund and amending Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010, as amended or replaced from 
time to time. 
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES IN GLOBAL FORM 

Each Global Note will be in bearer form. Consequently, in relation to any Tranche of Notes represented by a 
Global Note, references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to “Noteholder” are references to the bearer 
of the relevant Global Note which, for so long as the Global Note is held by a depositary or a common 
depositary (in the case of a CGN) or a common safekeeper (in the case of an NGN) for Euroclear and/or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, will be that depositary or common 
depositary or, as the case may be, common safekeeper. 

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other 
relevant clearing system as the holder of a particular principal amount of Notes (each an “Accountholder”) 
(in which regard any certificate or other document issued by a relevant Clearing System as to the principal 
amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes) 
must look solely to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other relevant clearing system (as 
the case may be) for such Accountholder’s share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such 
Global Note and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Note. The extent to which, and the 
manner in which, Accountholders may exercise any rights arising under the Global Note will be determined 
by the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and any other relevant 
clearing system from time to time. For so long as the relevant Notes are represented by the Global Note, 
Accountholders shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due under the Notes and 
such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of the Global Note. 

Exchange of Temporary Global Notes 

Whenever any interest in a Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent Global 
Note, the Issuer shall procure: 

(i) in the case of first exchange, the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Permanent 
Global Note, duly authenticated and (in the case of an NGN) effectuated, to the bearer of the 
Temporary Global Note; or 

(ii) in the case of any subsequent exchange, an increase in the principal amount of such Permanent Global 
Note in accordance with its terms, 

in each case in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts specified in the 
certificates issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system 
and received by the Agent against presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender of the Temporary 
Global Note to or to the order of the Agent within 7 days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

Whenever a Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the 
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons 
and Talons attached (if so specified in the applicable Final Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to 
the principal amount of the Temporary Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note against the 
surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting 
such exchange. 

If: 

(a) a Permanent Global Note has not been delivered or the principal amount thereof increased by 5.00 
p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the seventh day after the bearer of a Temporary Global Note has 
requested exchange of an interest in the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global 
Note; or 

(b) Definitive Notes have not been delivered by 5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the thirtieth day after 
the bearer of a Temporary Global Note has requested exchange of the Temporary Global Note for 
Definitive Notes; or 

(c) a Temporary Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the 
Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of a Temporary Global Note has 
occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued 
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interest thereon has not been made to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note in accordance with the 
terms of the Temporary Global Note on the due date for payment, 

then the Temporary Global Note (including the obligation to deliver a Permanent Global Note or increase the 
principal amount thereof or deliver Definitive Notes, as the case may be) will become void at 5.00 p.m. 
(Luxembourg time) on such seventh day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on such 
thirtieth day (in the case of (b) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on such due date (in the case of (c) 
above) and the bearer of the Temporary Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without 
prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or others may have under a deed of 
covenant dated 29 September 2017 (the “Deed of Covenant”) executed by the Issuer). Under the Deed of 
Covenant, persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other 
relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Temporary Global Note will acquire directly 
against the Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if, immediately before the 
Temporary Global Note became void, they had been the holders of Definitive Notes in an aggregate principal 
amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of Euroclear and/or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system. 

Definitive Notes will not be printed in respect of an amount of Notes which are less than the Minimum 
Denomination. 

Exchange of Permanent Global Notes 

Whenever a Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the 
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and, where 
applicable, with Coupons and Talons attached (if so specified in the applicable Final Terms), in an aggregate 
principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent 
Global Note against the surrender of the Permanent Global Note at the Specified Office of the Agent within 
30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange. 

If: 

(i) Definitive Notes have not been delivered by 5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the thirtieth day after 
the bearer of a Permanent Global Note has duly requested exchange of the Permanent Global Note for 
Definitive Notes; or 

(ii) a Permanent Global Note (or any part of it) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms 
and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Notes has occurred and, in either 
case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not 
been made to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with the terms of the Permanent 
Global Note on the due date for payment, 

then the Permanent Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 
5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg 
time) on such due date (in the case of (b) above) and the bearer of the Permanent Global Note will have no 
further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Permanent Global Note or 
others may have under the Deed of Covenant). Under the Deed of Covenant, persons shown in the records of 
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an 
interest in a Permanent Global Note will acquire directly against the Issuer all those rights to which they 
would have been entitled if, immediately before the Permanent Global Note became void, they had been the 
holders of Definitive Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were 
shown as holding in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant 
clearing system. 

Definitive Notes will not be printed in respect of an amount of Notes which are less than the Minimum 
Denomination. 
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Conditions applicable to Global Notes 

Each Global Note will contain provisions which modify the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as they apply 
to the Global Note. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions: 

Payments 

All payments in respect of the Global Note will be made through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 
against presentation and (in the case of payment of principal in full with all interest accrued thereon) surrender 
of the Global Note to or to the order of any Paying Agent and will be effective to satisfy and discharge the 
corresponding liabilities of the Issuer in respect of the Notes. On each occasion on which a payment of 
principal or interest is made in respect of the Global Note, the Issuer shall procure that, in respect of a CGN, 
the payment is noted on a schedule thereto and, in respect of an NGN, the payment is entered pro rata in the 
records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

Payments on Business Days 

Notwithstanding the definition of “Payment Business Day” in Condition 4 (Definitions), while all the Notes 
are represented by a Permanent Global Note (or by a Permanent Global Note and/or a Temporary Global 
Note) and the Permanent Global Note is (or the Permanent Global Note and/or the Temporary Global Note 
are) deposited with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg 
and/or any other relevant clearing system, “Payment Business Day” means: 

(a) if the currency of payment is Euro, any day which is a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which 
dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or 

(b) if the currency of payment is not Euro, any day which is a day on which dealings in foreign currencies 
may be carried on in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) 
Additional Financial Centre. 

Notices 

Notwithstanding Condition 16 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by a Permanent Global Note (or 
by a Permanent Global Note and/or a Temporary Global Note) and the Permanent Global Note is (or the 
Permanent Global Note and/or the Temporary Global Note are) deposited with a depositary or a common 
depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system or a 
common safekeeper, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear 
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system for communication to the relevant 
Accountholders (as defined below) rather than by publication as required by Condition 16 (Notices), provided, 
however, that so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on the Irish Stock Exchange and the rules of the 
Irish Stock Exchange so require, such notices will also be published in a leading newspaper having general 
circulation in the Republic of Ireland or be published on the website of the Irish Stock Exchange (www.ise.ie).  
Any notice delivered to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system 
shall be deemed to have been given to Noteholders on the date on which such notice is delivered to the 
relevant Clearing System. 

Exercise of Put Option 

In order to exercise the option contained in Condition 11.7 (Redemption at the Option of Noteholders), the 
bearer of the Permanent Global Note must, within the period specified in the Conditions for the deposit of the 
relevant Note and Put Option Notice, give written notice (which, for the avoidance of doubt, may be sent in 
electronic form) of such exercise to the Agent specifying the principal amount of Notes in respect of which 
such option is being exercised. Any such notice will be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn. The exercise 
of the put option shall be effected via Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

Partial exercise of Call Option 

In connection with an exercise of the option contained in Condition 11.4 (Redemption at the Option of the 
Issuer) in relation to some only of the Notes, the Permanent Global Note may be redeemed in part in the 
principal amount specified by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and the Notes to be redeemed will 
not be selected as provided in the Conditions but in accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear and 
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Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, at their 
discretion, as either a pool factor or a reduction in principal amount). 

Purchase and Cancellation 

Cancellation of any Note to be cancelled following its purchase by the Issuer will be effected by a reduction in 
the principal amount of the relevant Global Note. 

Prescription 

Claims against the Issuer in respect of principal, premium and interest on the Notes while the Notes are 
represented by the Permanent Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period 
of 10 years (in the case of principal) and 5 years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date 
(as defined in Condition 4 (Definitions)). 
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds of the issue of each Tranche of Notes will be used for the general corporate purposes of the 
Group. If, in respect of any particular issue, a particular use of proceeds is identified, this will be specified in 
the applicable Final Terms. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

The following tables contain consolidated statement of financial position and income statement information of 
the Issuer as of and for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 and as of and for the six 
months ended 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016, derived from the Issuer’s audited consolidated annual financial 
statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the Issuer’s unaudited consolidated interim 
report as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2017, in each case prepared in accordance with IFRS. This 
information should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, reference to the Issuer’s 
audited consolidated annual financial statements as of and for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015 and the Issuer’s unaudited consolidated interim report as of and for the six months ended 30 
June 2017, in each case together with the accompanying notes and the independent auditors’ reports (as 
appropriate), all of which are incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus, as well as the information 
included in “Presentation of Financial Information”. See “Information Incorporated by Reference”.  

Copies of the above-mentioned consolidated financial statements of the Issuer are available as described in 
“Information Incorporated by Reference”. 
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BANCA IFIS S.p.A. 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL BALANCE SHEETS 

 

Assets As of 31 December 
(in thousands of Euro) 2016 2015 

Cash and cash equivalents 34 34 
Financial assets held for trading 47,393 259 
Available for sale financial assets 374,229 3,221,533 
Due from banks 1,393,358 95,352 
Loans to customers 5,928,212 3,437,136 
Property, plant and equipment 110,348 52,163 
Intangible assets 14,981 7,170 
of which:     

- goodwill 799 820 
Tax assets 581,016 61,737 

a) current 87,836 22,315 
b) deferred 493,180 39,422 

of which as per Italian law 214/2011 191,417 - 
Other assets 249,574 82,336 
Total assets 8,699,145 6,957,720 

 

Liabilities and equity As of 31 December 
(in thousands of Euro) 2016 2015 

Due to banks 503,964 662,985 
Due to customers 5,045,136 5,487,476 
Debt securities issued 1,488,556  
Financial liabilities held for trading 48,478 21 
Tax liabilities 24,925 25,549 

a) current 491 4,153 
b) deferred 24,434 21,396 

Other liabilities 337,325 204,598 
Post-employment benefits 7,660 1,453 
Provisions for risks and charges 24,318 2,171 

b) other reserves 24,318 2,171 
Valuation reserves  (5,445) 5,739 
Reserves 383,835 298,856 
Share premiums 101,776 58,900 
Share capital 53,811 53,811 
Treasury shares (-) (3,187) (5,805) 
Non-controlling interests (+ / -) 48 - 
Profit (loss) for the period (+/-) 687,945 161,966 
Total liabilities and equity 8,699,145 6,957,720 
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BANCA IFIS S.p.A. 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL INCOME STATEMENTS 

 

 For the years ended 31 December 
(in thousands of Euro) 2016 2015 

Interest receivable and similar income 325,438 250,210 
Interest due and similar expenses (57,255) (41,584) 
Net interest income 268,183 208,626 
Commission income 59,406 63,174 
Commission expense (18,295) (4,391) 
Net commission income 41,111 58,783 
Net result from trading (702) (78) 
Gain (loss) on sale or buyback of: 50,007 140,627 

a) loans and receivables 44,529 14,948 
b) available for sale financial assets 5,478 125,679 

Net banking income 358,599 407,958 
Net impairment losses/reversal on (59,233) (34,250) 

a) loans and receivables  (54,882) (25,273) 
b) available for sale financial assets (4,356) (8,977) 
c) other financial transactions 5 - 

Net profit (loss) from financial activities  299,366 373,708 
Administrative expenses: (192,154) (127,170) 

a) personnel expenses (65,878) (48,342) 
b) other administrative expenses (126,276) (78,828) 

Net allocations to provisions for risks and charges (1,849) (229) 
Net impairment losses/Reversal on property, plant and equipment (2,485) (1,650) 
Net impairment losses/Reversal on intangible assets (3,570) (2,096) 
Other operating income/expenses 621,218 3,026 
Operating costs 421,160 (128,119) 
Pre-tax profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations 720,526 245,589 
Income taxes for the year relating to current operations (32,541) (83,623) 
Pre-tax profit (loss) from continuing operations 687,985 161,966 
Profit (loss) for the period 687,985 161,966 
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to non-controlling interests 40 - 
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to the Issuer 687,945 161,966 
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BANCA IFIS S.p.A. 

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM BALANCE SHEETS 

Assets As of 
(in thousands of Euro) 30 June 2017 (1) 31 December 2016 (1) 

Cash and cash equivalents 23 34 
Financial assets held for trading 47,547 47,393 
Available for sale financial assets 639,119 374,229 
Due from banks 1,667,462 1,393,358 
Loans to customers 6,084,125 5,928,212 
Property, plant and equipment 109,566 110,348 
Intangible assets 18,003 14,981 
of which:    

- goodwill 826 799 
Tax assets 545,724 581,016 

a)  current 81,601 87,836 
b)  deferred 464,123 493,180 

of which as per Italian law 214/2011 183,067 191,417 
Other assets 332,530 249,574 
Total assets 9,444,099 8,699,145 

 

Liabilities and equity As of 
(in thousands of Euro) 30 June 2017 (1) 31 December 2016 (1) 

Due to banks 967,285 503,964 
Due to customers 5,291,594 5,045,136 
Debt securities issued 1,352,375 1,488,556 
Financial liabilities held for trading 41,711 48,478 
Tax liabilities 34,912 24,925 

a) current 9,549 491 
b) deferred 25,363 24,434 

Other liabilities 446,049 337,325 
Post-employment benefits 7,318 7,660 
Provisions for risks and charges 19,563 24,318 

b) other provisions 19,563 24,318 
Valuation reserves  (1,002) (5,445) 
Reserves 1,028,184 383,835 
Share premiums 101,776 101,776 
Share capital 53,811 53,811 
Treasury shares (-) (3,187) (3,187) 
Non-controlling interests (+ / -) 53 48 
Profit for the period 103,657 687,945 
Total liabilities and equity 9,444,099 8,699,145 
____________ 
(1) figures presented in the tables in respect of the balance sheet as of 31 December 2016 are derived from the Issuer's 

audited consolidated annual financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016, and, in respect of 
the balance sheet as of 30 June 2017, are derived from the Issuer’s unaudited consolidated interim report as of and 
for the six months ended 30 June 2017. 
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BANCA IFIS S.p.A. 

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM INCOME STATEMENTS: 

 For the six months ended 30 June 
(in thousands of Euro) 2017 2016 

Interest receivable and similar income 262,619 151,465 
Interest due and similar expenses (49,495) (21,909) 
Net interest income 213,124 129,556 
Commission income 41,241 29,547 
Commission expense (6,877) (2,583) 
Net commission income 34,364 26,964 
Dividend and similar income 40 - 
Net result from trading (309) (332) 
Gain (loss) on sale or buyback of: 17,577 11,189 

a) loans and receivables 17,625 5,694 
b) available for sale financial assets (48) 5,495 

Net banking income 264,796 167,377 
Net impairment losses/reversal on 3,705 (32,215) 

a) loans and receivables  1,207 (28,216) 
b) available for sale financial assets (675) (3,999) 
d) other financial transactions 3,173 - 

Net profit (loss) from financial activities  268,501 135,162 
Administrative expenses: (119,336) (74,067) 

a) personnel expenses (49,484) (27,595) 
b) other administrative expenses (69,852) (46,472) 

Net allocations to provisions for risks and charges (1,897) (1,633) 
Net impairment losses/Reversal on property, plant and equipment (2,048) (846) 
Net impairment losses/Reversal on intangible assets (3,894) (1,161) 
Other operating income/expenses 4,550 910 
Operating costs (122,625) (76,797) 
Profit (Loss) from sales of investments (3) - 
Pre-tax profit (loss) for the period from continuing operations 145,873 58,365 
Income taxes relating to current operations (42,211) (19,245) 
Profit (loss) for the period 103,662 39,120 
Profit (loss) for the period attributable to non-controlling interests 5 - 
Profit (loss) for the period attributable to the Parent Company 103,657 39,120 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER 

Overview 

Banca IFIS S.p.A. (“Banca IFIS”, the “Issuer”, the “Company” or the “Bank”) is an independent bank 
incorporated in 1983 as a company limited by shares (società per azioni) in Italy with a duration until 31 
December 2050 and is listed on the STAR segment of the Mercato Telematico Azionario organised and 
managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. (ticker symbol IF:IM), with a market capitalisation of approximately Euro 
1,914,060,649 as of 30 June 2017. The group comprising Banca IFIS and its consolidated subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) operates mainly in Italy, but also in Poland, in various specialty banking sectors ranging across the 
following business segments: private corporate and public administration receivable factoring (“Trade 
Receivables”), purchase and collection of tax receivables (“Tax Receivables”), medium-long term financing 
and structured finance for companies (“Corporate Banking”), operating and financial leases (“Leasing”), 
and non-performing loan (“NPL”) management (“NPL Area”).  

The Group has adopted simple and highly-centralised organisational models, allowing it to run individual 
businesses through local networks and channels (e.g. agents, call centres and external collection servicers), 
rather than conventional branches. The Group bases its strategy and related implementing actions on three 
main pillars which have historically driven its activity: risk-adjusted profitability, liquidity management and 
capital preservation.  

On 30 November 2016, Banca IFIS acquired (the “Acquisition”) the control of Interbanca S.p.A. and its 
subsidiaries (together, the “Interbanca Group”), allowing the Group to expand into certain segments of 
lending, specialty finance and leasing, which have been grouped under the newly established business 
segments Corporate Banking and Leasing.  

For an overview of the Group’s consolidated net banking income and net profit (loss) from financial activities 
for the Group’s core business segments, refer to “Description of the Issuer—Business Segments”. 

The operations of the business segments of the Group are carried out under the following brands:  

“Banca IFIS Impresa”, which groups the operations of the Trade Receivable (excluding factoring of trade 
receivables owed by Italy's National Health Service), Leasing and Corporate Banking business segments, is 
dedicated to short-term factoring, corporate banking (medium/long-term and structured finance), and leases 
(both operating and finance) for small, medium and micro enterprises. Banca IFIS Impresa operates both in 
Italy and abroad, especially in Poland, through the subsidiary IFIS Finance S.r.l., which specialises in 
factoring services (import/export). Banca IFIS Impresa targets small and medium enterprises (“SMEs”) that 
least benefit from liquidity available on the banking market, including companies that work with the Italian 
public administration.  

Under the “Banca IFIS Impresa” brand, the Group provides several services:  

- Factoring: through its factoring service, the Group has a direct presence in business-to-business 
procurement relationships, allowing the Group’s customers to finance their trade receivables and the 
debtor of such trade receivables to enter into customised payment plans. “Banca IFIS Impresa” offers 
different types of factoring solutions based on the needs of its customers: mainly recourse factoring in 
the private corporate market (business-to-business) and non-recourse factoring with public 
administration receivables, export/import factoring, direct/indirect factoring, maturity factoring, 
outright purchases, advances on future receivables, advances for the acquisition of certified 
receivables owed from the Italian public administration.  

- Leasing: following the acquisition of the Interbanca Group, “Banca IFIS Impresa” has entered the 
operating and finance leases market. Such market is divided into:  

o equipment leasing, designed to help businesses and resellers invest in equipment for the 
information technology (“IT”), telecoms, office, industrial, and healthcare equipment sectors; 

o vehicle leasing, supporting independent contractors and firms in financing company cars and 
commercial vehicles; 
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o equipment rental: allowing companies to use equipment for a set period of time against 
payment of a fee, avoiding obsolescence costs. This service is available for IT, office, 
industrial and healthcare equipment.  

- Corporate Banking: a service designed to support companies in their organic or external growth to 
reposition or expand their business, establish alliances or pursue integrations, promote restructuring 
processes, or introduce new investors and partners to the Group’s customers. Corporate Banking 
consists of:  

o medium/long-term financing: supporting the customer’s operating cycle through services 
ranging from working capital financing to the support for investments; 

o structured finance: legal and financial structuring and arranging of bilateral or syndicated 
loans. Controlling market risk through syndicated loans and the placement of units of 
structured finance arrangements on the market. 

“Banca IFIS Pharma” is dedicated to the purchases on a no recourse basis the trade receivables owed by 
Italy's National Health Service to local health services’ suppliers under the Trade Receivables business 
segment. “Banca IFIS Pharma” also supports pharmacists providing solutions designed to meet short- and 
medium-term financing needs. 

“Banca IFIS NPL Area” and “CrediFamiglia”, under whose brands the Group’s NPL Area’s operations are 
carried out, operate in the market for distressed retail loans in the consumer retail and micro-corporate sectors. 
“Banca IFIS NPL Area” acquires, sells and manages portfolios of non-performing loans, while 
“CrediFamiglia” carries out judicial and non-judicial collection operations through different channels: call 
centre, in-house network, external network, internal dedicated legal teams.  

Under the “Fast Finance” brand, which groups the operations of the Tax Receivable business segment of the 
Group, the Group focuses on tax receivables. It collects direct and indirect taxes and tax receivables, either 
performing or arising from insolvency proceedings. Specifically, it assesses and manages: 

- VAT receivables for proceedings that are near their end; 

- IRES (corporate income tax) receivables from withholding taxes; 

- IRES receivables for the failure to deduct IRAP (regional tax on productive activities) pursuant to 
article 6 of Italian Legislative Decree 185/2008 and article 2 of Italian Legislative Decree 201/2011. 

For further information on the Group’s operations, please see “–Business Segments” below. 

The Bank has its registered office at Via Terraglio, 63, Mestre – Venice, Italy (telephone number +39 041 
5027511) and is registered with the Companies’ Register of Venice under registration number and fiscal code 
02505630109. The Issuer is registered with the National Register of Banks under registration number 5508 
and is the parent company of the Group. The Group is registered with the Register of Banking Groups held by 
the Bank of Italy pursuant to Article 64 of the Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 as amended 
(the “Italian Banking Act”) under number 5508. 

The fully subscribed and paid up capital of the Issuer as of 30 June 2017 amounts to Euro 53,811,095.00. 
Since 30 June 2017 there has been no change to the Issuer’s share capital. 

Key Competitive Strengths  

The Issuer believes that its competitive strengths lie in the following key factors: 

Independent leader in the Italian market for trade receivables 

The Group is the leading independent player in the Italian trade receivables market5 and a leading independent 
provider of finance to Italian SMEs, with core activities in receivable financing, leasing, corporate lending and 
non-performing loan investment. 

                                                      
5 Source: Assifact data at 31 December 2016 
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With regard to trade receivables financing, the Group finances mainly small or micro companies (in 2016, 78 
per cent. of the Group’s customers have a turnover of below Euro 10 million per year) encountering 
difficulties in obtaining finance from the traditional banking system. In Italy, large banking groups usually 
offer factoring services to their large customers to help them manage their smaller customers. This translates 
into a much more concentrated number of counterparties for the factoring units of such banking groups, 
whereas credit management service is very important vis-à-vis the credit and financial component.  
Consequently, the Issuer believes that the marginality of large banking groups in the trade receivable factoring 
business tends to be lower than Banca IFIS’s marginality, which is accustomed to dealing with a much higher 
number of corporate clients, providing them with liquidity and offering them services with a higher 
credit/financial component. 

The Group is also among the main players in financing receivables due from public administration entities 
(especially in the pharma business) and tax receivables (arising mainly from insolvency proceedings). 

The Group is one of the leaders in the NPL market 

The Issuer believes that the Group is one of the leaders in the Italian non-performing loan market6, and in 
particular in the unsecured distressed retail loans market segment (i.e. consumer credit), one of the more 
active parts of the non-performing loan market in the countries in which the Group operates. Leveraging on its 
integrated collection platform (call centres, over 100 exclusive agents, external collection servicers, a legal 
centre), the Group is able to assess and determine the collection times of purchased receivables, be a 
competitive bidder and, as a result, achieve significant collection rates. 

Consistent and solid growth  

The Group’s activity has grown consistently over recent years: net loans to customers have grown from Euro 
3,437.1 million at the end of 2015 to Euro 5,928.2 million at the end of 2016 (Euro 3,638.2 million excluding 
the contribution from the acquisition of the Interbanca Group). In particular the Trade Receivables business 
segment reached Euro 3.1 billion of net loans to customers at the end of 2016 (Euro 2.9 billion excluding the 
contribution from the acquisition of the Interbanca Group) with a CAGR for the 2006-2016 period (excluding 
the Interbanca Group) of approximately 14.7 per cent. (Euro 783 million in 2006).  As at 30 June 2017, net 
loans to customers was equal to Euro 6,084.1 million (Euro 3,684.5 million excluding the contribution of 
Interbanca Group), of which loans to customers under the Trade Receivables business segment was equal to 
3.0 billion (Euro 2.8 billion excluding Interbanca Group). 

Growth in volumes of loans has come hand in hand with marginality and asset quality preservation: net 
banking income of Trade Receivables business segment increased from Euro 158.7 million in 2015 to Euro 
174.4 million in 2016 and net banking income of NPL Area business segment increased from Euro 52.7 
million in 2015 to Euro 154.7 million in 2016. While growing, the Group has maintained a stable level of cost 
of credit quality ratio in the Trade Receivables business segment at 0.8 per cent. at the end of 2016 (0.9 per 
cent. in 2015). For the six months ended 30 June 2017, the net banking income of Trade Receivables and NPL 
Area business segments were equal to Euro 70.1 and 79.0 million7, respectively. 

Excellent asset quality underpinned by conservative provisioning 

In the private corporate business (business-to-business) the Group is typically involved in acquiring 
receivables with recourse to the assignor (approximately 67 per cent. for the year ended 31 December 2016 
and 68 per cent. for the six months ended 30 June 2017 of receivables purchased by the Group are factored on 
a recourse basis). 

Customers of the Group’s SME clients tend to be large companies with good credit standing. The Issuer 
believes that the levels of delinquencies experienced by the Group are connected mainly to the quality of 
lessees, but also to the thorough credit process requiring analyses of the credit of the assignor (the Banca IFIS 
customer) and of the legal nature and terms and conditions of the receivables.   

                                                      
6 Source: Issuer’s internal elaborations included in its presentation “Market Watch NPL - The Italian Scenario”, July 2017 
7 Net value adjustments on receivables of the NPL Area, totalling Euro 14.8 million at 30 June 2017, compared to Euro 32.6 million at 

31 December 2016 and Euro 3.6 million at 31 December 2015, were reclassified to Interest receivable and similar income to present 
more fairly this particular business, for which net value adjustments represent an integral part of the return on the investment. 



 

 

 90  
 

The Group has a higher bad loans coverage than the overall banking system8. The coverage ratio on gross bad 
loans was equal to 88.5 per cent. (as of 31 December 2016) and 87.7 per cent. (as of 30 June 2017) in the 
Trade Receivable business segment, while in the newly acquired business segments of Corporate Banking and 
Leasing the Group had a higher coverage ratio (respectively 94.0 per cent. and 92.2 per cent. as of 31 
December 2016 and 93.0 per cent. and 89.2 per cent., respectively, as of 30 June 2017); for the Trade 
Receivables, Corporate Banking and Leasing business segments the net bad debt loans on net equity ratio was 
equal, at the end of 2016, to 2.6 per cent., 2.2 per cent. and 0.5 per cent., respectively, and, as of 30 June 2017, 
to 2.7 per cent., 2.3 per cent. and 0.5 per cent., respectively.  

High profitability 

The Group has a low cost base centred on an agent-based structure without a physical branch network. Return 
on equity was 15.5 per cent. in 2016 excluding the effects of the Acquisition.  

The Cost/Income ratio of the Group (excluding the effects of the Acquisition) was approximately 51.9 per 
cent. as of 31 December 2016 (49.0 per cent. as of 30 June 2017),  which the Issuer believes positions it as an 
efficient player. The contribution from NPL Area activities has substantially increased over the last few years 
and is an engine for sustained profitability going forward, alongside the core receivables business. 

Strong capital position 

The Group’s capital ratios are significantly higher than the minimum levels required under European Union 
and Italian laws and regulations, and at end of 2016 they were amongst the highest in Italy and Europe: Tier 1 
capital ratio and Total Own Funds Capital ratio of 15.7 per cent. (16.4 per cent. as of 30 June 2017), excluding 
the effect of the prudential consolidation in the Group of the parent company La Scogliera S.p.A. 9 

As at the date of this Base Prospectus the Group’s capital ratios allow it to comply with the additional 
requirements imposed by the Bank of Italy (SREP) for 2017 (based on 2016 assessment), which are as 
follows:  

- Common Equity Tier 1 ratio of 6.6%; 

- Tier 1 capital ratio of 8.4%; and  

- Total Capital ratio of 10.7%.  

A stable, senior management team with a track record of successful acquisitions 

The Group is led by a dynamic team, which was developed by top management since the 1990s and 
complemented with new strategic hires in recent years. The management team is responsible for the 
transformational growth of the Group over the past few years, including through acquisitions. 

Business Strategy 

The Group bases its strategy and related implementing actions on three main pillars which have historically 
driven its activity: risk-adjusted profitability, liquidity management and capital preservation. The following 
are the strategic goals and related actions conceived accordingly and that the Group has implemented and will 
implement for its operations. 

Expansion of lending operations 

The Group intends to expand its lending operations vis-à-vis small- and medium-sized businesses in Italy. The 
main drivers underpinning such expansion are (i) the Group’s strong capital adequacy ratios and liquidity 
position, which the Issuer believes to represent a competitive advantage for increasing the volume of credit 
granted under all of its business segments; and (ii) the acquisition of the Interbanca Group which allows the 

                                                      
8 Source: Banca d’Italia (Statistics “Banche e moneta: serie nazionali” – 11 aprile 2017). 
9 Including La Scogliera S.p.A. in the prudential consolidation scope as required pursuant to article 19 of the Capital Requirements 

Regulation, the Group’s Tier 1 capital ratio and Total Own Funds Capital ratio as of 31 December 2016 are 14.97 per cent. and 15.31 
per cent., respectively (as of 30 June 2017, 15.15 per cent. and 15.64 per cent., respectively). 
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Group to foster cross-selling initiatives due to the addition of new businesses (leasing and corporate banking 
operations) and the enlargement of its customer base. 

Following the Acquisition, the Group has reorganised its operations under the Trade Receivables, Leasing, 
Corporate Banking, Tax Receivables and NPL Area business segments and defined a set of strategic actions 
for the expansion of each business segment. For information on the strategic actions for the NPL Area, refer to 
“–Consolidation of market position for the NPL Area business segment and expansion into new NPL class 
assets” below. 

Trade Receivables  

In the Trade Receivable business segment the Group plans to fully exploit the synergies deriving from an 
enlarged array of lending products offered following the Acquisition in order to increase the retention rate of 
its customer base. To achieve this, the Group is expanding and upgrading its distribution network to 
effectively manage and offer its portfolio of products with the aim of increasing the loan volume and number 
of customers of the Trade Receivables business segment. In this respect, the Issuer believes that certain 
operations carried out by the Interbanca Group, such as Leasing and Corporate Banking, are conducive to 
longer and more strategic relationships with corporate customers than its traditional factoring business. 

Leasing 

The Group aims to develop its Leasing business segment by expanding its customer base, increasing the 
retention rate of existing clients, and enhancing its presence in key segments such as automotive and industrial 
equipment leasing by relying on the depth of its existing trade receivable business in Italy.  

In this context, the Issuer expects that the cross-selling of leasing and factoring products through the Group’s 
distribution networks would be one of the drivers in the development of the Leasing business segment, 
allowing the Group at the same time to further expand its Trade Receivable client base through the offer of the 
Group’s leasing products.  

Corporate Banking 

The operations of the Corporate Banking business segment are focused on increasing the volume of its 
medium-long term lending, in particular through offering structure finance solutions to corporates exiting 
from a restructuring process, with the aim of expanding its customer base. 

The Group’s expansion in Corporate Banking can in particular leverage upon its already available distribution 
network and traditional customer base, which is in certain areas mainly represented by mid-sized corporate 
entities.  

Tax Receivables 

In the Tax Receivables business segment the Bank aims to consolidate its market position thanks to a 
continuous enhancement of its operational structure and team quality. The Group will exploit new business 
opportunities in the segment in which strong competence and knowhow will be leverage. 

Consolidation of market position for the NPL Area business segment and expansion into new NPL class 
assets  

The Issuer intends to maintain an important role in the non-performing loan market in Italy through 
acquisitions of NPL portfolios, also due to the mounting regulatory pressure on Italian financial institutions 
with higher levels of NPL to reduce their level from their financial statements. This should create new 
opportunities for the Group to increase its NPL assets, which in turn the Issuer believes that it could generate 
economies of scale in acquiring and managing large NPL portfolios. 

In addition the Issuer aims to increase the recovery rate thanks to the implementation of its debt management 
and collection integrated platform. 

Furthermore the Issuer will continue to assess disposals of its long tail consumer portfolio, for which the 
Issuer believes that it has extracted enough value as compared to its expectations, in light of market 
opportunities. 
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In light of the above, the Group will continue monitoring and bidding for the acquisition of portfolios of NPLs 
with new focus on corporate and secured market, such as those of the micro real estate asset class, which 
shares some similarities with the Group’s current NPL operations. 

Maintenance of a high asset quality and strong capital position 

The Group intends to maintain high capital ratios which underpin its growth strategy, which in turn allows the 
Group to preserve its market position. The Group aims to maintain the level of its capital ratios and will 
continue to undertake a conservative risk management approach in the evaluation of new lending 
opportunities and in the continuing assessment of its credit exposures. 

Optimise the Group’s cost of funding and diversify funding channels 

The Group plans to continue improving its funding structure, with a view to reflecting the enlarged perimeter 
of activities following the Acquisition. It will pursue a diversification of its funding sources with the aim of 
both optimizing its overall cost of funding and increasing the stability of its access to liquidity. 

In particular, the Issuer intends to consolidate its access to retail online savings, through the implementation of 
significant IT investments intended to enhance, amongst other things, customer perception of the quality of 
the Group’s offering, thereby further promoting customer retention rates. 

Furthermore, in order to diversify its funding channels, the Group intends to raise funds in the debt capital 
markets, through ECB funding and other centralised (i.e. ABACO) or interbank channels, and also through 
securitisation of eligible assets or the issuance of other debt instruments. 

History and Development  

Banca IFIS was founded in Genoa in 1983 by Sebastien Egon Fürstenberg, the current Chairman of the 
Bank’s Board of Directors. Since 1999 it has grown in Italy and in 2006 it entered the Polish market, opening 
several new branches. In 2002, the Issuer was transformed into a bank after obtaining from the Bank of Italy a 
licence to carry on banking activities and it became a member of Factors Chain International, a global 
organisation of independent factoring companies. 

In 2004, Banca IFIS was admitted to the STAR segment of the Mercato Telematico Azionario organised and 
managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. (the Italian Stock Exchange). In July 2006 the Group entered into the Polish 
market through the acquisition of Fidis Faktoring Polka, a Polish operator providing factoring services to Fiat 
Group’s production factories in Poland.  

In 2008, Banca IFIS started its drive to diversify its funding sources, including through “Rendimax”, its online 
deposit account, which was followed in 2013 by the introduction of the free on-line retail bank account 
“Contomax”. Since 2009, Banca IFIS has been evolving from being a bank specialised in factoring to being a 
relationship-based bank, focusing on offering financial support and responding to the service needs of SMEs 
through direct relationships and turnkey offerings to entrepreneurs. 

In July 2010, a fully subscribed capital increase of Euro 50 million was carried out in order to support the 
Group’s increased lending volumes and the development of its activities as well as to strengthen its Core Tier 
1 ratio in response to stricter capital adequacy rules established by the Bank of Italy, as supervising authority. 

With the aim of implementing its strategy to expand the breadth of its product offerings, in May 2011, Banca 
IFIS acquired control of Toscana Finanza, a company operating in the acquisition and management of non-
performing loans and trade and tax receivables, through a voluntary tender offer and at the end of 2011 
Toscana Finanza was merged into the Bank. As a result of the acquisition of Toscana Finanza, the Group 
entered the management and collection of non-performing loans, a business sector considered particularly 
important given both the significant amount of trade receivables potentially purchasable and current economic 
trends. 

In 2015 the Group’s NPL Area purchased several NPL portfolios; in November Banca IFIS purchased its 
biggest portfolio as of the date of this Base Prospectus, with a nominal value of Euro 1.4 billion. 

In July 2016 Banca IFIS Impresa, a new division completely dedicated to the world of business, was 
established to encompass the Group’s factoring services offered to Italian and international companies.  
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In July 2016 Banca IFIS entered into an agreement with GE Capital for the acquisition of the Interbanca 
Group. The closing of the transaction was completed on 30 November 2016. See also “–Acquistion of 
Interbanca” below.  

Shareholders and Share Capital  

Share capital 

As at 30 June 2017, the Issuer had share capital of € 53,811,095, fully paid up, represented by 53,811,095 
shares with a par value of €1.00 each. Since 30 June 2017, there has been no change to the Issuer’s share 
capital. Sebastian Egon Fürstenberg holds directly and indirectly a majority shareholding in the Issuer, 
representing 50.19 per cent of its share capital, of which 50.11 per cent through La Scogliera S.p.A. 

Shareholders 

As at 30 June 2017, based on communications pursuant to Article 120 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 
February 1998, as amended, persons shown in the table below possess, directly or indirectly, shares with 
voting rights representing more than 3 per cent.10 of share capital: 

Declarant Direct Shareholder 
Percentage of voting 

rights 
Fürstenberg Sebastien Egon ........................................................................................................   La Scogliera S.p.A. 50.11 
 Fürstenberg Sebastien Egon 0.08 
Bossi Giovanni ............................................................................................................................    3.44 
Market .........................................................................................................................................    45.66 

As at 30 June 2017, the Issuer holds treasury shares equal to 0.71 per cent. of its share capital and voting 
rights. 

La Scogliera S.p.A., which directly controls the Issuer, does not perform any management and coordination 
activity on the Issuer. Italian corporate governance rules are designed to prevent the risk of abusive exercise of 
control of controlling shareholders. 

Group Structure and Subsidiaries  

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the Group is composed of the parent company, Banca IFIS S.p.A., the 
wholly-owned subsidiary IFIS Finance Sp. Z o.o., and the 99.99 per cent.-owned subsidiary Interbanca S.p.A. 
(“Interbanca”) and its subsidiaries IFIS Leasing S.p.A. and IFIS Rental Services S.r.l., in which Interbanca 
owns directly all voting rights. The securitisation vehicles IFIS ABCP Programme S.r.l., Indigo Loan S.r.l. 
and Indigo Lease S.r.l. are also included in the consolidation perimeter of the Issuer, while IFIS Factoring has 
been merged into the Issuer as of 1 August 2017.  The Group is also currently streamlining its structure 
through the mergers by incorporation into the Issuer of Interbanca (expected to be completed in October 2017) 
and the Leasing business (expected to be completed in 2018). For additional information, see “ – Acquisition 
of Interbanca” below. 

Name of the company Registered office Head office Type(1) 

Investment 
Voting 
rights(2) Held by Share 

IFIS Finance Sp. Z o.o. Warsaw Warsaw 1 Banca IFIS S.p.A. 100% 100% 

Interbanca S.p.A. Milan Milan 1 Banca IFIS S.p.A.  99.99% 99.99% 

IFIS Leasing S.p.A. Mondovì - Province 
of Cuneo 

Mondovì - Province 
of Cuneo 1 Interbanca S.p.A.  100% 100% 

IFIS Rental Services S.r.l. Milan Milan 1 Interbanca S.p.A.  100% 100% 

IFIS ABCP Programme S.r.l. Conegliano - 
Province of Treviso 

Conegliano - 
Province of Treviso 4 Other 0% 0% 

                                                      
10 Following the enactment of Legislative Decree no. 25/2016 of 15 February 2016, the threshold at which it is required to report to the 

market all significant equity interests held in companies with listed shares has been raised from 2 per cent. to 3 per cent. 
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Name of the company Registered office Head office Type(1) Investment 
Voting 
rights(2) 

Indigo Lease S.r.l. Conegliano - 
Province of Treviso 

Conegliano - 
Province of Treviso 4 Other 0% 0% 

Indigo Loan S.r.l. Conegliano - 
Province of Treviso 

Conegliano - 
Province of Treviso 4 Other 0% 0% 

__________ 
(1) Type of relationship: 

1 = majority of voting rights in the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 
2 = dominant influence in the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 
3 = agreements with other shareholders  
4 = other forms of control  
5 = exclusive control as per article 26, paragraph 1, of Legislative Decree no. 87/92 
6 = exclusive control as per article 26, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree no. 87/92 

(2) Voting rights in the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, distinguishing between effective and potential voting rights. 

Business Segments 

The Group’s activities are grouped in the following segments: Trade Receivables, Corporate Banking, 
Leasing, NPL Area, Tax Receivables, and Governance and Services.  

The following table shows the consolidated net banking income and net profit (loss) from financial activities 
of the Group by core business segments (i) in 2016 and 2015 and (ii) for the six months ended 30 June 2017 
and 2016, which will be analysed in the sections dedicated to the individual sectors as appropriate. The 
financial and operating results of the Group following the Acquisition reflect and will reflect the contribution 
of the Interbanca Group from 30 November 2016 (being the date of the Acquisition). As a result of the 
Acquisition: 

(i) the Group’s consolidated results of operations and financial condition as of and for the year ended 31 
December 2016 include the contribution of Interbanca Group’s results of operations from 30 
November 2016 to 31 December 2016. As such, the Group’s consolidated financial statements as of 
and for the year ended 31 December 2016 are not comparable with the Group’s previous financial 
statements. In addition, the Group’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 
December 2016 will not be comparable with the future Group’s financial statements due to the 
contribution of the Interbanca Group’s to the 2016 financial and operating results of the Group only 
from 30 November 2016 to 31 December 2016; and 

(ii) the Group’s consolidated results of operations and financial condition as of and for the six months 
ended 30 June 2017 include the contribution of Interbanca Group’s results of operations from 1 
January 2017. As such, the Group’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the six months 
ended 30 June 2017 are not directly comparable with the Group’s previous financial statements 
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. 

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro, except for percentages) 

Trade 
Receivables 

Corporate 
Banking Leasing 

NPL 
Area(1) 

Tax 
Receivab

les 

Governanc
e and 

Services 

Cons. 
Group 
Total 

Net banking income               

Amounts at 31.12.2016 (audited) 174,433 2,952 (1,172) 154,740 13,990 (18,972) 358,599 

Amounts at 31.12.2015 (audited) 158,671 n.a. n.a. 52,687 20,335 172,652 407,958 

% Change 9.9% n.a. n.a. 193.7% (31.2) % (111.0)% (12.1)% 

Amounts at 30.06.2017 (unaudited) 70,142 65,144 28,985 78,957 8,794 (1,991) 250,031 

Amounts at 30.06.2016 (unaudited) 67,977 n.a. n.a. 58,409 7,700 16,837 150,923 

% Change 3.2% n.a. n.a. 35.2% 14.2% (111.8%) 65.7% 

Net profit (loss) from financial activities               

Amounts at 31.12.2016 (audited) 154,128 2,889 (2,682) 154,740 13,620 (23,329) 299,366 

Amounts at 31.12.2015 (audited) 137,423 n.a. n.a. 52,687 19,923 163,675 373,708 

% Change 12.2% n.a. n.a. 193.7% (31.6)% (114.3)% (19.9)% 
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Amounts at 30.06.2017 (unaudited) 58,482 96,924 27,910 78,957 8,648 (2,420) 268,501 

Amounts at 30.06.2016 (unaudited) 56,402 n.a. n.a. 58,409 7,513 12,838 135,162 

% Change 3.7% n.a. n.a. 35.2% 15.1% (118.9%) 98.7% 

_____________ 
(1) Net value adjustments on receivables of the NPL Area, totalling Euro 32.6 million at 31 December 2016 (compared to Euro 

3.6 million at 31 December 2015) and Euro 14.8 million at 30 June 2017 (compared to Euro 16.4 million at 30 June 2016), 
were reclassified to Interest receivable and similar income to present more fairly this particular business, for which net value 
adjustments represent an integral part of the return on the investment. 

Trade Receivables 

Within the Trade Receivables business segment, Banca IFIS finances mainly small or micro companies in 
Italy that frequently have no credit standing and consequently encounter difficulties in obtaining finance from 
the traditional banking system. Around 50 per cent. of Banca IFIS’s customers have a turnover below Euro 
five million per year, and do not represent an attractive segment for traditional banks; by contrast, the 
customers of these SME’s are high quality companies whose trade receivables benefit from good credit 
ratings. By switching its risk exposure from the relevant lender (SME) to the relevant debtor (the SME’s 
clients) through recourse factoring operations, Banca IFIS is able to finance a part of the market that 
traditional banks tend to overlook while, at the same time, preserving the credit quality of its portfolio.  

The origination process is based on a distribution network of agents, of whom 120 operate locally (assisted by 
the Group’s 26 local branches), who are responsible for managing relationships with customers. Sales agents 
visit potential customers in their premises, creating a direct relationship which the Issuer expects will foster 
the on-going business intake of the Group. More than 80 employees are dedicated to analytical and back 
office activities. Such activities include the assessment of the quality of the debtor (being the most important 
item in the credit evaluations of the Group) and, also, the legal nature and terms and conditions of the 
receivables. In addition, the Group’s assessment criteria require that the Group’s customers have a sufficient 
level of creditworthiness to mitigate risks of clawback actions if the relevant customer is subject to insolvency 
proceedings. Usually, the terms of engagement of Banca IFIS in the Trade Receivables business segment 
(excluding the factoring of pharmaceutical receivables) provides for the exclusive transfer from the relevant 
customer of all trade receivables due from specified clients during a 24 months period. The Issuer believes 
that this fosters the Group’s customer base retention rate even if the factoring business is normally short term.  

The customer base in the pharmaceutical factoring business (which represents a substantial part of the 
factoring operations on receivables due from the public administration) is extremely concentrated, as 
customers are represented by large pharmaceutical companies aiming to factor trade receivables owed by the 
Italian National Health Service. In this sector, the Issuer purchases trade receivables from its customers at par 
or at a small discount and then collects payments under such receivables (including the applicable delayed 
interest payment due by the relevant debtor). 

The Trade Receivable business segment includes the following operations: 

- Crediti Commerciali Italia and Crediti Commerciali International, dedicated to supporting the trade 
receivables of SMEs operating in the domestic market as well as companies growing abroad or based 
abroad and working with Italian customers; this area includes the operations carried out in Poland by 
IFIS Finance Sp. Zo.o.; these business areas operate under the Banca IFIS Impresa brand; and 

- Banca IFIS Pharma and Pharmacies, operating under the brand of the same name, supporting the 
trade receivables of local health services’ suppliers and pharmacists. 
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The table below shows the nominal amount of receivables purchased under the Trade Receivables business 
segment outstanding as of 30 June 2017, 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, broken down into 
receivables with or without recourse and receivables purchased outright. 

Total receivables 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 30.06.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Change 
30.06.2017 vs 

31.12.2016 

Change 
31.12.2016 vs 

31.12.2015 
Absolute % Absolute % 

With recourse 2,115,709 2,150,929 2,128,825 (35,220) (1.6%) 22,105 1.0% 
of which due from the Public Administration 339,488 332,735 361,000 6,753 2.0% (28,265) (7.8)% 
Without recourse 372,841 464,957 277,159 (92,116) (19.8%) 187,797 67.8% 
of which due from the Public Administration 8,090 8,949 4,468 (859) (9.6%) 4,481 100.3% 
Outright purchases 1,214,478 1,264,950 1,170,998 (50,472) (4.0%) 93,952 8.0% 
of which due from the Public Administration 733,316 812,384 888,844 (79,068) (9.7%) (76,460) (8.6)% 
Total receivables 3,703,028 3,880,836 3,576,982 (177,808) (4.6%) 303,854 8.5% 
of which due from the Public Administration 1,080,894 1,154,068 1,254,312 (73,174) (6.3%) (100,244) (8.0)% 

As shown in the following table, as at 30 June 2017, the net banking income of the Trade Receivables 
business segment amounted to Euro 70.1 million, up 3.2 per cent. compared to Euro 68.0 million in 2016. As 
at 30 June 2017 this business segment generated Euro 5.6 billion in turnover (+12.5 per cent. from the first 
half of 2016), with 5,136 corporate customers (up 5.3 per cent. compared to the same period of 2016) and 
Euro 3.0 billion in outstanding loans.  

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 30.06.2017 30.06.2016 

Change 
Absolute % 

Net interest income 43,385 39,551 3,834 9.7% 
Net commission income 26,757 28,426 (1,669) (5.9%) 
Net banking income 70,142 67,977 2,165 3.2% 
Net impairment losses on receivables (11,660) (11,575) (85) 0.7% 
Net profit (loss) from financial activities 58,482 56,402 2,080 3.7% 

As at 31 December 2016 this business segment generated Euro 10.5 billion in turnover (+4.2 per cent. from 
December 2015), with 5,360 corporate customers (up 19 per cent. compared to the previous year) and Euro 
3.1 billion in outstanding loans (+8.6 per cent. against December 2015). The 2016 and 2015 results for the 
Trade Receivables segment are as follows: 

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Change 
Absolute % 

Net interest income 118,693 98,175 20,518 20.9% 
Net commission income 55,740 60,496 (4,756) (7.9)% 

Net banking income 174,433 158,671 15,762 9.9% 
Net impairment losses on receivables (20,305) (21,248) 943 (4.4)% 
Net profit (loss) from financial activities 154,128 137,423 16,705 12.2% 

Corporate Banking  

This business segment includes the following operations: 

• medium/long/term financing, supporting the customer’s operating cycle through services ranging 
from working capital financing to financing for investments; 

• structured finance, supporting companies in the legal, organisational and financial arrangement of 
bilateral or syndicated loans; 

• workout & recovery, managing unlikely to pay (UTPs) and bad loans of all the portfolios of the 
Corporate Banking business segment, as well as the runoff of project finance, shipping and real estate 
portfolios. 

The following are the main operational processes of the Corporate Banking operations. 
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Origination & Underwriting process, which consists of a deal’s origination and evaluation of a client’s 
creditworthiness and profitability through a financial analysis focused mainly on the client's financials.  

The output of the process consists of detailed documentation to be submitted for the approval of the deal by 
the relevant internal committees of the Issuer. 

Lending authority has been delegated by the Issuer’s Board of Directors to the investment committee within 
specific limits based on a combination of client category, deal amount, customer exposure and customer credit 
rating. 

Monitoring and Collection: All the credit exposures of the Corporate Banking business segment are managed 
through the continuous monitoring of in bonis customers and the preservation of the going concern for non-
performing credit exposures, including dealing with clients who have entered into bankruptcy or liquidation. 

In bonis customers are periodically reviewed through: 

• customer financial reporting monitoring; 

• customer performance as compared to the relevant business plan evaluation;  

• prompt identification of borrowers at risk of falling into arrears or default, triggering risk-mitigating 
actions to prevent it; and 

• monitoring adequacy of fair value of assets provided as collateral, assigned ratings, risk classifications 
and breaches of covenants. 

Non-performing credit exposures are monitored through:  

• ongoing monitoring of financial performance of clients; 

• negotiations with clients and their advisors to agree debt restructuring actions; 

• post-restructuring, monitoring clients’ compliance with restructuring plans and loan covenants, in 
order to achieve a correct risk classification; 

• liaising with courts and appointed officers in bankruptcy procedures. 

Frequency of monitoring depends on account classification and type of deal. An ad hoc analysis is performed 
every time a waiver/amendment request is received from the customer. 

The net banking income of the Corporate Banking sector totalled Euro 65.1 million at 30 June 2017. This 
amount included the Euro 53.7 million positive impact of the breakdown of the difference between fair value 
as measured in the business combination and the carrying amount of the receivables recognised by 
subsidiaries over time.  

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 30.06.2017 30.06.2016 

Change 
Absolute % 

Net interest income 58,817 n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net commission income 4,082 n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Dividends and trading 2,245 n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net banking income 65,144 n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net impairment losses/reversal on receivables, AFS and other financial 
assets 31,780 n.a. n.a. n.a. 

Net profit (loss) from financial activities 96,924 n.a. n.a. n.a. 

The 2016 and 2015 results for the Corporate Banking segment are as follows. Please note that the 2016 results 
for this segment only include the contribution of Interbanca Group’s results of operations from 30 November 
2016 to 31 December 2016: 

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Change 
Absolute % 

Net interest income 8,385  n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net commission income (5,260) n.a. n.a. n.a. 
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Dividends and trading (173) n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net banking income 2,952  n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net impairment losses on receivables and other financial assets (63) n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net profit (loss) from financial activities 2,889 n.a. n.a. n.a. 

Leasing  

This business segment provides finance and operating leases to small businesses and SMEs. 

The following are the main operational processes of the Leasing operations: 

Origination and underwriting process: The origination channel consists of a web platform where, through 
customised access, approved financial partners and/or commercial partners (such as agents, vendors, dealers, 
credit institutions) can file leasing applications. Where the application concerns an existing lessee, the web 
platform will also consider existing available data and repayment performance. 

All applications are delivered to the automated scoring and decision system that, on the basis of the 
information retrieved from external databases, checks customer exposure and payment behaviour, performs 
anti-money laundering and know-your-customer screenings and assigns a credit score. At the end of this 
process the automated decision system recommends the approval or rejection of the relevant application or, 
where necessary, assigns it for further processing and underwriting through non-automated decision systems.   

Lending authority has been delegated by the Issuer’s Board of Directors to the Investment Committee or other 
internal departments, in each case within specific limits based on a grid with a combination of client category, 
deal amount, customer exposure, and customer credit rating. 

Monitoring and collection process: Credit exposures are monitored by identifying missing payments. 
Depending on the number of missed payments, the Group may opt for any of the following procedures: 

• phone reminders; 

• door to door reminders; 

• appointment of external collection agencies; 

• appointment of external law firms  

In the event of at least 5 missed payments, under the general terms and conditions of the Group’s lease 
contracts, leasing transactions may be terminated and the asset repossession and remarketing process is 
started. 

The results for the six months ended 30 June 2017 and 2016 for the Leasing segment are as follows: 

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 30.06.2017 30.06.2016 

Change 
Absolute % 

Net interest income 22,961 n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net commission income 6,029 n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Dividends and trading (5) n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net banking income 28,985 n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net impairment losses on loans and receivables (1,075) n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net profit (loss) from financial activities 27,910 n.a. n.a. n.a. 

The 2016 and 2015 results for the Leasing segment are as follows. Please note that the 2016 results for this 
segment only include the contribution of Interbanca Group’s results of operations from 30 November 2016 to 
31 December 2016: 

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Change 
Absolute % 

Net interest income 4,916 n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net commission income (6,095) n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Dividends and trading 7 n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net banking income (1,172) n.a. n.a. n.a. 
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Net impairment losses on loans and receivables (1,510) n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Net profit (loss) from financial activities (2,682) n.a. n.a. n.a. 

NPL Area  

NPL Area is the Group’s business segment dedicated to managing mainly unsecured distressed retail loans 

The operations of the NPL Area are focused on the recovery and collection of non-performing credit 
exposures. 

The Bank manages its portfolio of acquired NPLs through non-judicial and judicial procedures. 

As for the NPL portfolio managed through non-judicial procedures, the Group assesses its credit exposure 
using a model based on a simulation of cash flows that projects the “breakdown” of the nominal amount of the 
receivable “over time” based on the historical recovery profile for similar clusters of NPLs. As for the credit 
exposures with bills of exchange or settlement plans agreed with the debtor, the Bank uses a “deterministic” 
model based on the measurement of the future instalments of the settlement plan, net of the historical default 
rate. 

Judicial procedures consist in collecting debts through enforcement actions aimed at securing a court order for 
the garnishment of one fifth of pension benefits or wages. The cash flows from judicial procedures are not 
simulated using the model applied to non-judicial procedures, as these are assessed individually. 

During 2016, borrowers settled their debt using mainly the following methods: 

• in cash (postal orders, bank transfers, etc.); 

• by signing bills of exchange; 

• settlement plans agreed with the debtors. 

In 2016 and 2015, the Group purchased NPL portfolios with a nominal amount of approximately €3.1 billion 
and €4.1 billion, respectively, consisting of 463,566 positions and 538,240 positions, respectively. As a result, 
at the end of 2016 the portfolio managed by the NPL Area included 1,397,957 positions (1,058,589 at the end 
of 2015), for a par value of Euro 9.7 billion (Euro 8.2 billion at the end of 2015) and approximately 967 
thousand debtors.  As at 30 June 2017, the portfolio managed by the NPL Area included 1,447,090 positions, 
for a par value of Euro 11 billion. 

The results for the six months ended 30 June 2017 and 2016 for the NPL Area business segment are as 
follows: 

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 30.06.2017 30.06.2016 

Change 
Absolute % 

Interest income from amortised cost 27,096 13,670 13,426 98.2% 

Other interest income  58,944 61,965 (3,021) (4.9%) 

Funding costs (8,642) (5,290) (3,352) 63.4% 

Net interest income 77,398 70,345 7,053 10.0% 
Net commission income (1,301) (1,176) (125) 10.6% 

Gain on sale of receivables 17,625 5,694 11,931 209.5% 

Net banking income 93,722 74,863 18,859 25.2% 
Net impairment losses/reversals on receivables (14,765) (16,454) 1,689 (10.3%) 
Net profit (loss) from financial activities 78,957 58,409 20,548 35.2% 

The 2016 and 2015 results for the NPL Area business segment are as follows: 

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Change 
Absolute % 

Interest income from amortised cost 35,959 25,061 10,898 43.5% 

Other interest income  115,542 21,056 94,486 448.7% 

Funding costs (6,442) (3,612) (2,830) 78.3% 

Net interest income 145,059 42,505 102,554 241.3% 
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Net commission income (2,220) (1,153) (1,067) 92.5% 

Gain on sale of receivables 44,529 14,948 29,581 197.9% 

Net banking income 187,368 56,300 131,068 232.8% 
Net impairment losses/reversals on receivables (32,628) (3,613) (29,015) 803.1% 
Net profit (loss) from financial activities 154,740 52,687 102,053 193.7% 

Tax Receivables  

Tax Receivables is the business segment specialised in purchasing tax receivables arising from insolvency 
proceedings; in the case of insolvency proceedings, the insolvent debtor may have tax credits that can be 
cashed in over a long-term horizon. In these cases the official receiver may decide to speed up the process by 
selling the tax receivables. Under the Tax Receivables business segment, the Group offers to buy both accrued 
and accruing tax receivables on which repayment has already been requested or which will be requested in the 
future, and that have arisen during insolvency proceedings or in prior years. As a complement to its core 
business, this segment seldom also acquires trade receivables from insolvency proceedings. 

The Group purchases tax receivables without recourse usually at a discount to nominal value, to take into 
account the length of the collection process.  The focus of Banca IFIS’s employees in the segment is to be in 
touch with the bankruptcy courts in order to identify possible sources of new products and assist the parties 
involved in proceedings with operational aspects and preparing documentation. 

Net banking income is generated by the interest accrued according to the amortised cost method and funding 
costs allocated to the business segment. 

The nominal amount of receivables purchased under the Tax Receivables business segment outstanding as of 
31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 was equal to Euro 172.1 million (for an amortised cost of Euro 
124.7 million) and Euro 190.6 million (for an amortised cost of Euro 130.7 million), respectively. In addition, 
the nominal amount of receivables purchased under the Tax Receivables business segment outstanding as of 
30 June 2017 was equal to Euro 174.0 million (for an amortised cost of Euro 133.8 million). 

At 30 June 2017, the net banking income of the Tax Receivables segment amounted to Euro 8.8 million, up to 
14.2 per cent. from Euro 7.7 million at 30 June 2016 

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 30.06.2017 30.06.2016 

Change 
Absolute % 

Net interest income 8,802 7,705 1,097 14.2% 
Net commission income (8) (5) (3) 60.0% 
Net banking income 8,794 7,700 1,094 14.2% 
Net impairment losses/reversals on receivables (146) (187) 41 (21.9%) 
Net profit (loss) from financial activities 8,648 7,513 1,135 15.1% 

The 2016 and 2015 results for the Tax Receivables business segment are as follows: 

Income Statement Data 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Change 
Absolute % 

Net interest income 13,998 20,307 (6,309) (31.1)% 
Net commission income (8) 28 (36) (128.6)% 
Net banking income 13,990 20,335 (6,345) (31.2)% 
Net impairment losses/reversals on receivables (370) (412) 42 (10.2)% 
Net profit (loss) from financial activities 13,620 19,923 (6,304) (31.6)% 

The Governance and Services segment manages the Group’s financial resources and allocates funding costs to 
operating segments through the Group’s internal transfer rate system. Its costs include overhead and other 
items which are not specifically assigned to the other business segments. 

Acquisition of Interbanca  

On 30 November 2016 the Issuer acquired the control of the Interbanca Group, previously owned by GE 
Capital International Holdings Limited (“GE”). The transaction was structured as the acquisition of the 
controlling share and involved the following legal entities: 
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• GE Capital Interbanca S.p.A. (currently Interbanca S.p.A.), the parent company of the Interbanca 
Group, operating in the corporate lending business; 

• GE Capital Servizi Finanziari S.p.A. (currently IFIS Leasing S.p.A.) which operates in the financial 
lease business; 

• GE Capital Finance S.r.l. (which, as of the date of this Base Prospectus, has been merged into the 
Issuer) which operates in the factoring business; 

• GE Capital Services S.r.l. (currently IFIS Rental Services S.r.l.) which is active in the operating lease 
business. 

Through the acquisition of the Interbanca Group, Banca IFIS is continuing along the path of overall growth 
for each of Banca IFIS core businesses, combining an increased focus on the foundations of its consolidated 
development in the SME segment with a selected and a planned extension of market positioning to be 
achieved by refocusing some business units of the Interbanca Group (namely lending). The main drivers of the 
Acquisition were as follows: 

• stabilisation of Banca IFIS’s presence in its reference market, with the goal of achieving a key role in 
financing Italian SMEs’ working capital and expanding its activities in sectors that are close to those 
that have been its historical focus (i.e. factoring) by providing medium to long-term financing; 

• expansion of the product range offered to customers, with the joint objectives of developing new 
products and retaining the existing customer base; 

• cross-selling opportunities between the different customer bases, leveraging the complementary level 
of services provided; 

• selective commercial re-launch of the Interbanca Group activities (with specific reference to lending), 
focusing its efforts towards smaller counterparties (so as to optimise the risk / return ratio) and in 
niche market sectors, such as businesses exiting from restructuring phases; 

• streamlining and increasing efficiency of the Interbanca Group operating model; and 

• optimisation of non-performing portfolio management activities in the lending segment, characterised 
by corporate NPL positions, in order to create the prerequisite operating conditions for defining 
industrialised recovery processes, leveraging on the expertise gained in the DRL business. 

The above strategic guidelines have been deployed starting from the end of 2016 allowing for effective 
coordination and organisation of activities across the Group. An articulated framework of policies and 
monitoring tools has been introduced among the Issuer’s functions and bodies and the companies of the Group 
implementing appropriate management and coordination arrangements between the Issuer and the 
corresponding active organisational units of its subsidiaries. Information and reporting workflows have been 
also defined enabling the organisational units of the Issuer to maintain a strong monitoring of the operations of 
Group companies, both in terms of supervising the correct application of Group policies and guidelines, as 
well as of operational risks. 

In this context, Banca IFIS is pursuing a path of progressive corporate streamlining which the Issuer expects 
will result in strengthening of the Issuer’s capital, costs savings, increased operational efficiency and 
simplification of the Group’s internal audit and control system. This process is expected to be completed by 
no later than 2018, without prejudice to the necessary authorisations and the statutory timelines applicable to 
mergers provided for under Italian laws and regulations. This Group structure simplification, to be carried out 
through extraordinary corporate transactions such as mergers into the Issuer, has involved firstly IFIS 
Factoring (which has been merged in the Issuer as of 1 August 2017) and will involve Interbanca (whose 
merger by incorporation in the Issuer has been approved by the Bank of Italy and the competent bodies of the 
Issuer and Interbanca and is expected to be completed in October 2017) and at the later stage the Leasing 
business (expected to be completed in 2018). These steps are part of a wider strategic plan to reorganise the 
overall Group corporate structure and the individual organisational units within the Group. 

The integration process between Banca IFIS and Interbanca Group has started since the Acquisition closing 
date, a dedicated “Integration Plan” has been prepared and implemented. It identifies responsibilities and 
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activities assigned to specific individuals, a governance structure, and a detailed timeline scenario. A 
significant part of the integration process is related to the IT systems & processes decommissioning from GE 
to Banca IFIS’s target IT architecture; this program is currently in place and will be completed through the 
merger of Interbanca in Banca IFIS (expected to be completed in October 2017). 

The cost of the acquisition of the Interbanca Group was provisionally estimated at Euro 119.2 million (net of 
additional adjustments to the price initially paid of Euro 160 million). 

Following the acquisition, in accordance with IAS/IFRS, Banca IFIS conducted a Purchase Price Allocation 
(PPA), which consists of allocating the cost of the business combination, recognising the assets acquired, 
liabilities assumed, and contingent liabilities at their fair values at the Acquisition date.  

The purchase price allocation process revealed a negative difference between the purchase price and the fair 
value of the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and contingent liabilities net of taxes. This 
difference represents a gain on bargain purchase. The gain on bargain purchase identified as part of the above 
allocation process amounted to Euro 623.6 million and was recognised in profit or loss under “other operating 
income” in the Group’s financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016. 

In July 2017, the Group and GE reached an agreement on the final price adjustment, bringing the acquisition 
cost to Euro 109.4 million.  

Pursuant to IFRS 3, the accounting impact of the final representation of the Acquisition in light of the above 
agreement reached in July 2017 is expected to be recognised in the third quarter of 2017. 

Funding   

Total funding, which amounted to Euro 7,611.3 million as at 30 June 2017, up 8.2 per cent. compared to 31 
December 2016, is broken down into 69.5 per cent. for payables due to customers (compared to 71.7 per cent. 
at 31 December 2016), 12.7 per cent. for payables due to banks (compared to 7.2 per cent. at 31 December 
2016), and 17.8 per cent. for outstanding securities (compared to 21.1 per cent at 31 December 2016). 

Payables due to customers at 30 June 2017 totalled Euro 5,291.6 million (+4.9 per cent. compared to 31 
December 2016). The settlement of Euro 270.3 million in repurchase agreements was more than offset by the 
rise in retail funding: this totalled Euro 5,008.0 million at 30 June 2017, compared to Euro 4,519.3 million at 
31 December 2016 (+10.8%).  

Payables due to banks, totalling Euro 967.3 million (compared to Euro 504.0 million Euro in December 
2016), increased by 91.9%, largely because of the Euro 700.0 million targeted longer-term refinancing 
operations (TLTRO) loan received by the Group in March 2017. 

In addition, term deposits at other banks declined to Euro 267.0 million from Euro 453.1 million at the end of 
the previous year (-41.1 per cent.). 

Debt securities issued amounted to Euro 1,352.4 million. The item included Euro 968.9 million (Euro 1,404.6 
million at 31 December 2016) in notes issued by the special purpose vehicles as part of the securitisations 
launched at the end of 2016. The decline compared to 31 December 2016 was largely attributable to the 
repurchase of all securities concerning the securitisation of leasing loans (Indigo Lease) by Banca IFIS. The 
item also included the Euro 297.8 million (Euro 300 million nominal amount) senior bond issued by Banca 
IFIS in the first half of 2017. The rest of outstanding securities at 30 June 2017 included 85.1 million Euro in 
bond loans and 612 thousand Euro in certificates of deposits issued by Interbanca S.p.A.  

The table below shows the types of financing drawn by the Issuer as of 30 June 2017 and 31 December 2016. 

Funding 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 30.06.2017 31.12.2016 

Change 
Absolute % 

Due to customers: 5,291,594 5,045,136 246,458 4.9% 
   Repurchase agreements - 270,314 (270,314) (100.0%) 
  Rendimax and Contomax 5,007,967 4,519,260 488,707 10.8% 
  Other term deposits 62,599 101,500 (38,901) (38.3%) 
  Other payables 221,028 154,062 66,966 43.5% 
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Funding 
(in thousands of Euro except for percentages) 30.06.2017 31.12.2016 

Change 
Absolute % 

Due to banks: 967,285 503,964 463,321 91.9% 
   Eurosystem 700,289 - 700,289 n.a. 
   Repurchase agreements - 50,886 (50,886) (100.0%) 
  Other payables 266,996 453,078 (186,082) (41.1%) 
Debt securities issued 1,352,375 1,488,556 (136,181) (9.1%) 
Total Funding 7,611,254 7,037,656 573,598 8.2% 

The table below shows the types of financing drawn by the Issuer as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 
2015. 

Funding   
(in thousands of Euro) 

Amounts at Normalised change 

31.12.2016 
31.12.2016 
normalised 31.12.2015 Absolute % 

Due to customers: 5,045,136  4,095,416  5,487,476  (1,392,060) (25.4)% 

   Repurchase agreements 270,314  270,314  2,278,983  (2,008,669) (88.1)% 

  Rendimax 4,447,192  3,656,836  3,048,357  608,479  20.0% 

  Contomax 72,068  69,916  64,912  5,004  7.7% 

   Other payables 255,562  98,350  95,224  3,126  3.3% 

Due to banks 503,964  509,066  662,985  (153,919) (23.2)% 

   Eurosystem - - 119,792  (119,792) (100.0)% 

   Repurchase agreements 50,886  50,886  384,225  (333,339) (86.8)% 

   Other payables 453,078  458,180  158,968  299,212  188.2% 

Outstanding securities 1,488,556  - - - n.a. 
Total funding 7,037,656  4,604,482  6,150,461  (1,545,979) (25.1)% 

Asset Quality  

In accordance with Bank of Italy requirements, the Group performs impairment testing on its receivables 
portfolio and classify receivables as either “performing” or “impaired”. Receivables with a risk of loss are 
classified as impaired, while all other receivables are classified as performing (including receivables that, 
although past due, show no objective indication of impairment based on internal, historical or statistical 
information). 

Impaired assets are divided into the following categories: (i) past due exposures; (ii) unlikely to pay; and (iii) 
non-performing exposures. The definitions of these categories are provided by the Bank of Italy and are as 
follows: 

(i) Past due exposures. Receivables are defined as “past due” when they have not been paid for more 
than 90 days and the payor shows some objective indication of impairment (either individually or 
collectively). All receivables with central administrations and central banks, public sector entities and 
territorial entities will be considered past due when the payor has not made any payments for any 
receivables owed to the Group for more than 90 days. 

(ii) Unlikely to pay. Receivables are defined as “unlikely to pay” when the payor is assessed as unlikely to 
repay his credit obligation in full. The classification within the “unlikely to pay” category is not 
necessarily related to the explicit presence of anomalies, but rather it is linked to the presence of 
evidence of a debtor’s risk of default. The “unlikely to pay” category combines two categories 
previously provided for by the Bank of Italy, namely watchlist loans and restructured loans. 

(iii) Non-performing exposures (or Bad Loans). Receivables are defined as “non-performing” when the 
payor is effectively insolvent (although not yet legally insolvent) or in a similarly distressed situation, 
regardless of any provisions for loss set aside by the Issuer. 

Distressed retail loans, due to their nature, are classified as either unlikely to pay or bad loans according to the 
criteria established in Circular 272/2008, which sets out the rules for reporting on supervisory, statistical, and 
financial matters as well as prudential capital ratios, and Circular 139/1991, relating to the Central Credit 
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Register. In particular, those loans maintain the same classification as that assigned by the invoice seller, 
provided the latter is subject to the same law as Banca IFIS: otherwise, if the Bank has not ascertained the 
debtor’s state of insolvency, those loans are classified as unlikely to pay. 

Non-performing exposures included in the trade receivables sector are measured in accordance with the 
following criteria: 

Bad loans are evaluated individually, and the total amount of the impairment loss on each loan is equal to the 
difference between the carrying amount at measurement (amortised cost) and the present value of expected 
future cash flows, calculated by applying the effective interest method at the moment in which the loan went 
bad. Expected cash flows are calculated taking into account expected recovery times based on historical 
elements and other significant characteristics, as well as the estimated realisable value of guarantees, if any.  

Each subsequent change in the amount or maturities of expected cash flows causing a negative change from 
the initial estimates results in the recognition of an impairment loss in the income statement. 

If the quality of a non-performing exposure improves and there is reasonable certainty of a timely recovery of 
both principal and interest, in keeping with the relevant initial terms and conditions, the impairment loss is 
reversed through the income statement to a value not higher than the amortised cost that would have been 
incurred if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

Outstanding gross loans below Euro 100,000 as well as those above Euro 100,000 which became bad loans in 
the 10 year period prior to the reporting date are written down to zero.  

Unlikely to pay loans amounting to more than Euro 100,000 are evaluated individually; the write-down to 
each loan is equal to the difference between the amount recognised in the balance sheet at the time of 
recognition (amortised cost) and the current value of expected future cash flows, calculated using the original 
effective interest rate or, in case of indexed rates, the last contractually applied rate. If the individual 
evaluation does not indicate any impairment, they are collectively tested for impairment. 

Unlikely to pay loans amounting to less than Euro 100,000 are collectively tested for impairment.  

Non-performing past due exposures, as defined by the Bank of Italy, are collectively tested for impairment. 
Such measurement applies to categories of loans with a homogeneous credit risk. The relevant losses are 
estimated as a percentage of the original loan amount by taking into account historical time series based on 
observable market data existing at the time of measurement and allowing to calculate the latent losses for each 
category. 

Performing loans are collectively tested for impairment. Such measurement applies to categories of loans with 
a homogeneous credit risk. The relevant losses are estimated as a percentage of the original loan amount by 
taking into account historical time series based on observable market data existing at the time of measurement 
and allowing to calculate the latent losses for each category. 

Non-performing exposures included in the NPL Area sector are recognised and assessed through the 
following steps:  

1. at the time of purchase, receivables are recognised by allocating the portfolio’s purchase price among 
the individual receivables it consists of through the following steps: 

- recognition of the individual receivables at a value equal to the contract price, which is used 
for the purposes of reporting to the Central Credit Register; 

- after verifying the documentation, if provided in the contract, the Bank returns the loans 
lacking documentation or beyond the statute of limitations to the seller, and measures the fair 
value of receivables which actually exist and can be collected; finally, after sending a notice 
of assignment to the debtor, the Bank can start collection actions on the receivable; 

2. once the collection process begins, receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method; 
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3. the effective interest rate is calculated on the basis of the price paid, the transaction costs, if any, and 
the estimated cash flows and collection time calculated using either a proprietary model (see item 5 
below), or analytical estimates made by managers; 

4. the effective interest rate as set out in the previous point is unchanged over time;  

5. the proprietary model estimates cash flows by projecting the “breakdown” of the nominal amount of 
the receivable “over time” based on the historical recovery profile for similar clusters. In addition, for 
the positions with funding characteristics, the Bank uses a “deterministic” model based on the 
measurement of the future instalments of the settlement plan, net of the historical default rate; 

6. at the end of each reporting period, interest income accrued on the basis of the original effective 
interest rate is recognised under Interest Income. The interest is calculated as follows: Amortised Cost 
at the beginning of the period x IRR/365 x days in the period; 

7. in addition, at the end of each reporting period, the expected cash flows for each position are re-
estimated; 

8. should events occur (higher or lower revenues realised or expected compared to forecasts and/or a 
change in collection times) which cause a change in the amortised cost (calculated by discounting the 
new cash flows at the original effective rate compared to the amortised cost in the period), this change 
is also recognised under Interest Income; 

9. in case of impairment events, the changes in the amortised cost (calculated by discounting the new 
cash flows at the original effective interest rate compared to the period’s amortised cost) are 
recognised under item 130 Net impairment losses/reversals on receivables; if an impairment loss had 
already been recognised, reversals can be recognised up to the amount of said impairment loss, 
recognising the surplus under Interest Income. 

Tax Receivables are classified under performing loans, since they are due from the Public Administration. 

Non-performing exposures included in the Corporate Banking and Leasing sectors are measured according to 
the following criteria: 

Non-performing loans are individually evaluated, and the total amount of the impairment loss on each loan is 
equal to the difference between the carrying amount at measurement (amortised cost) and the present value of 
expected future cash flows, calculated by applying the original effective interest rate. Expected cash flows are 
calculated taking into account the expected recovery times, the estimated realisable value of guarantees, if 
any, and the costs expected to be incurred to recover the exposure. 

The original effective interest rate of each loan does not change over time even if a restructuring involved 
changing the contractual rate or the loan no longer bears contractual interest in practice. Any impairment loss 
is recognised in profit or loss. The impairment loss is reversed in the following years to the extent that the 
reason for the impairment no longer exists, provided this assessment can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised. The reversal is recognised in profit or loss and shall not 
exceed the amortised cost that the loan would have had if the impairment had not been recognised. 

The restructuring of non-performing exposures by converting them in full or in part into shares in the 
borrowing firms is measured based on the fair value of the shares received in exchange for the receivable, in 
accordance with IFRIC 19; such shares are measured at fair value using the methods for equity investments 
based on their classification for accounting purposes. 

For other renegotiations, the Bank derecognises the receivable and recognises a new financial asset if the 
changes in contractual terms are material. 

Restructuring procedures concern loans to customers in financial distress for which the renegotiation resulted 
in a financial loss for the Bank; in this case, the specific write-down is calculated based on the original interest 
rate. 

The loans for which there is no individual objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, i.e. 
performing loans, including those to counterparties in high-risk countries, are collectively tested for 
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impairment. Such measurement applies to categories of loans with a homogeneous credit risk. The relevant 
losses are estimated as a percentage of the original loan amount by taking into account historical time series 
based on observable market data existing at the time of measurement and allowing to calculate the latent 
losses for each category. Collective impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  

At each reporting date, any additional impairment losses or reversals are calculated on a differential basis 
relative to the entire portfolio of performing receivables at the same date.  

The table below shows the Group’s performing exposures and impaired assets breakdown by sectors, as of 30 
June 2017, 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015. 

Non Performing Loans 
(in thousands of Euro except for 

percentages) 
Trade 

receivables 
Corporat
e banking Leasing 

NPL 
Area 

Tax 
receivables 

Governan
ce and 

services 
Cons. 
Total 

Bad loans                

Amounts at 30.06.2017 35,141 29,877 6,603 425,659 - - 497,280 

Amounts at 31.12.2016 31,692 27,260 6,177 320,612 5 - 385,746 

Amounts at 31.12.2015 30,950 n.a. n.a. 159,336 - - 190,286 

% Change 30.06.2017 vs 31.12.2016 10.9% 9.6% 6.9% 32.8% (100.0%) - 28.9% 

% Change 31.12.2016 vs 31.12.2015 2.4% n.a. n.a. 101.2% n.a. - 102.7% 

Unlikely to pay             - 

Amounts at 30.06.2017 53,281 158,584 14,555 275,455 - - 501,875 

Amounts at 31.12.2016 50,900 142,741 13,622 241,518 194 - 448,975 

Amounts at 31.12.2015 39,551 n.a. n.a. 194,995 - - 234,546 

% Change 30.06.2017 vs 31.12.2016 4.7% 11.1% 6.8% 14.1% (100.0%) - 11.8% 

% Change 31.12.2016 vs 31.12.2015 28.7% n.a. n.a. 23.9% n.a. - 91.4% 

Past due loans             - 

Amounts at 30.06.2017 155,860 928 16,689 11 - - 173,488 

Amounts at 31.12.2016 118,420 1,669 17,351 - - - 137,440 

Amounts at 31.12.2015 58,214 n.a. n.a. - - - 58,214 

% Change 30.06.2017 vs 31.12.2016 31.6% (44.4%) (3.8%) n.a. n.a. - 26.2% 

% Change 31.12.2016 vs 31.12.2015 103.4% n.a. n.a. - - - 136.1% 

Total net non-performing exposures               

Amounts at 30.06.2017 244,282 189,389 37,847 701,125 - - 1,172,643 

Amounts at 31.12.2016 201,012 171,670 37,150 562,130 199 - 972,161 

Amounts at 31.12.2015 128,715 n.a. n.a. 354,331 - - 483,046 

% Change 30.06.2017 vs 31.12.2016 21.5% 10.3% 1.9% 24.7% (100.0%) - 20.6% 

% Change 31.12.2016 vs 31.12.2015 56.2% n.a. n.a. 58.6% n.a. - 101.3% 

Net performing loans to customers              - 

Amounts at 30.06.2017 2,726,029 783,101 1,265,255 367 133,808 2,922 4,911,482 

Amounts at 31.12.2016 2,891,476 734,012 1,198,488 16 124,498 7,561 4,956,051 

Amounts at 31.12.2015 2,719,409 n.a. n.a. 21 130,663 103,997 2,954,090 

% Change 30.06.2017 vs 31.12.2016 (5.7%) 6.7% 5.6% 2193.8% 7.5% (61.4%) (0.9%) 

% Change 31.12.2016 vs 31.12.2015 6.3% n.a. n.a. (23.8)% (4.7)% (92.7)% 67.8% 
Total on-balance-sheet loans to 
customers               

Amounts at 30.06.2017 2,970,311 972,490 1,303,102 701,492 133,808 2,922 6,084,125 

Amounts at 31.12.2016 3,092,488 905,682 1,235,638 562,146 124,697 7,561 5,928,212 

Amounts at 31.12.2015 2,848,124 n.a. n.a. 354,352 130,663 103,997 3,437,136 

% Change 30.06.2017 vs 31.12.2016 (4.0%) 7.4% 5.5% 24.8% 7.3% (61.4%) 2.6% 
% Change 31.12.2016 vs 31.12.2015 8.6% n.a. n.a. 58.6% (4.6)% (92.7)% 72.5% 

The table below show the coverage ratio breakdown by sectors, as of 30 June 2017, 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015. 



 

 

 107  
 

Coverage ratio on gross bad loans 
Trade 

Receivables 
Corporate 
Banking Leasing NPL Area 

Tax 
Receivables 

Governance 
and Services 

Amounts at 30.06.2017 87.7% 93.0% 89.2% n.a. n.a. n.a. 

Amounts at 31.12.2016 88.5% 94.0% 92.2% n.a. n.a. n.a. 

Amounts at 31.12.2015 87.9% n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 

The table below show the net bad loans / loans to customers ratio breakdown by sectors, as of 30 June 2017 
and 31 December 2016. 

Net bad loans / loans to customers ratio 
Trade 

Receivables 
Corporate 
Banking Leasing NPL Area 

Tax 
Receivables 

Governance 
and Services 

Amounts at 30.06.2017 1.2% 3.1% 0.5% 60.7% 0% 0% 
Amounts at 31.12.2016 1.0% 3.0% 0.5% 57.0% 0% n.a. 
Amounts at 31.12.2015 1.1% n.a. n.a. 45.0% 0% n.a. 

Capital Ratios 

The Bank of Italy has adopted risk based capital ratios (“Capital Ratios”) pursuant to European Union capital 
adequacy and solvency regulations and directives. Italy’s current requirements are similar to the requirements 
imposed by the international framework for capital measurement and capital standards of banking institutions 
of the Basel Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices. The Capital Ratios consist of core 
(Tier I) and supplemental (Tier II) capital requirements relating to the Issuer’s assets and certain off balance 
sheet items weighted according to risks (“Risk Weighted Assets”). 

The table below shows the Group’s Capital Ratios as of 30 June 2017 and 31 December 2016, which exceed 
the minimum levels prescribed by the Bank of Italy. 

 

 As of 
 30 June 2017 31 December 2016 
 (€ thousands, except percentages) 
Tier 1 capital ..........................................................................................................................   1,075,597 1,048,606 
Tier 2 capital ..........................................................................................................................   34,207 23,323 
Own Funds.............................................................................................................................   1,109,804 1,071,929 
Risk-weighted assets ..............................................................................................................   7,098,048 7,003,305 
Tier 1 capital ratio ..................................................................................................................   15.15% 14.97% 
Total capital ratio ...................................................................................................................   15.64% 15.31% 

Markets 11  

In 2016, the Group generated 98 per cent. of its operating income in Italy, while the remaining 2 per cent. has 
been generated by its operations abroad, mainly in Poland. The following is a brief description of the markets 
in which the Group operates in Italy:  

Small and Medium Enterprises: SMEs are typically adequately diversified by size and geography. The 
creditworthiness of this type of businesses is related to their revenues and despite the modest economic 
recovery, over 50 per cent. of SMEs are considered creditworthy, showing also shorter payment times. 

Factoring: Factoring turnover accounts for over 11 per cent. of GDP; in 2016, the product’s growth rate has 
gradually increased compared to 2015, as volumes continued rising in the fourth quarter of the year, and the 
trend is expected to continue into 2017. 

Leasing: In 2016, there was an acceleration in growth trends that began in 2014, especially concerning light 
commercial and industrial vehicles. Leasing is forecast to continue growing in 2017, as businesses keep on 
upgrading their equipment; and also because of government-backed incentive schemes for SMEs, which 
account for 75 per cent. of leasing volumes. 

                                                      
11 Figures in this section are based on Issuer’s internal elaborations, as included in the Directors’ Report accompanying the audited 

consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
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Structured Finance: Activity in the Italian M&A market remained brisk in 2016, with 1,204 deals totalling 
Euro 80 billion. This trend was especially apparent in the Mid-Size segment, where volumes were up +29.5 
per cent. compared to the prior year. The financial sector saw the highest number of deals, followed by 
construction. As for leveraged finance, in 2016 private equity funds made at least 125 investments in either 
Italian companies, directly or through firms in their portfolio, or businesses based abroad through Italian 
firms. All this resulted in an aggregate consideration of more than Euro 7 billion. Most deals referred to 
SMEs. Approximately thirty of them involved companies with more than Euro 100 million in sales, and just 
ten concerned firms with more than Euro 500 million in revenues. 

Short-term financing: short-term lending to businesses and professionals has declined and was concentrated in 
current account overdraft facilities.  

Pharma and Pharmacies: In the pharmaceutical industry, the payment of arrears owed by the Italian National 
Health Service to its suppliers is a critical issue for Italy’s public finances. At December 2016, there was more 
than Euro 2.5 billion in outstanding debt, concentrated mainly in Tuscany, Piedmont, Calabria, and Apulia. As 
for pharmacies, their number is expected to rise as a result of the “Grow Italy” decree. Prescription drugs 
account for 60 per cent. of pharmacies’ turnover, while the remaining 40 per cent. is represented by over-the-
counter products; parapharmaceuticals; cosmetics and personal care products; and dietary supplements. 

Non-Performing Loans: NPLs referring to non-financial corporations remain steadily above Euro 140 billion, 
and NPLs to producer households are stable at slightly below Euro 16 billion. NPLs have been rising as a 
proportion of loans, and are especially prevalent in the retail segment. As for the legal framework, the Italian 
government introduced a guarantee scheme for bad loan securitisations and reformed the NPL resolution 
process.  

Tax Receivables: In the first nine months of 2016, 10 thousand companies filed for bankruptcy. Insolvency 
proceedings are still at historically high levels, but were down 6 per cent. from the prior-year period—when 
they had declined 3.8 per cent. compared to the first nine months of 2014. Non-bankruptcy workouts 
continued falling: they numbered 1.3 thousand between January and September 2016, down 32 per cent. year-
over-year.  

Funding: the trend in household and corporate deposits remains positive. Households are especially interested 
in time deposits, while businesses are increasingly setting aside funds for investments.  

Employees  

The table below sets forth the average number of employees of the Issuer for the years ended 31 December 
2016 and 31 December 2015. 

Employees 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 
Employees: 1,023.5 671.0 

(a) senior managers 43.5 24.0 

(b) middle managers  275.0 51.5 

(c) remaining personnel 705.0 595.5 
Other personnel - - 

At 31 December 2016, the Group had 1,323 employees (1,404 at 30 June 2017), of which 479 from the 
Interbanca Group (458 at 30 June 2017).  

Legal Proceedings  

Please see “Documents Incorporated by Reference” above and refer to the unaudited consolidated interim 
report of the Issuer as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2017 which is incorporated by reference herein, 
and in particular “Notes to the Consolidated Half Yearly Report at 30 June 2017 – Group equity and income 
situation - Provisions for risks and charges”. 

Corporate Governance  

The organisational documents of the Issuer conform to the provisions contained in the Italian Civil Code and 
other special regulations regarding banking entities.  
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The Issuer applies the traditional model of administration and control, believing it to be the most suitable way 
to ensure efficient management and effective controls. 

For Banca IFIS, the traditional model of administration and control has allowed it to achieve value creation 
for shareholders, the strengthening of capital and financial balance. The Issuer believes that the presence of 
minority shareholders within the corporate boards, thanks to the slate vote mechanism included in the Articles 
of Association, the growing capacity to provide financial support for SMEs and to bring insolvent individuals 
back into the fold of solvent debtors and potential borrowers of new credit, as well as the steady growth in the 
number of employees complement the Group’s ability to meet the expectations of its stakeholders.  

Ultimately, the Issuer believes that the traditional model appears to be the most suitable to promote the 
development of the Group, as it places the skills relating to strategic supervision, management and control 
within a structure that has so far proved effective and efficient, facilitating clear definition of responsibilities, 
a streamlined decision-making process and an effective dialogue between the bodies themselves. 

In the model applied by Banca IFIS: 

• strategic supervision is performed by the Board of Directors; 

• the management function has been assigned to the chief executive officer. The General Manager also 
performs management functions; 

• internal control is performed by the Board of Statutory Auditors. 

Pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 231 of 8 June 2001, as amended (“Decree 231”, which provides for the 
direct liability of legal entities, companies and associations for certain crimes committed by their 
representatives and encourages companies to adopt corporate governance structures and risk prevention 
systems to stop managers, executives, employees and external collaborators from committing crimes), the 
Board of Directors appoints an independent supervisory board (“Organismo di Vigilanza”) charged with the 
task of (i) monitoring compliance with Decree 231 and (ii) proposing necessary updates to the organisational 
model of the Issuer. In order to supervise the actions of top management adequately, the Organismo di 
Vigilanza must remain fully autonomous. 

The following Committees existed within the Board of Directors:  

• the Risk Management and Internal Control Committee, consisting of four Non-Executive and 
independent Directors; 

• the Appointments Committee, consisting of three Non-Executive Directors, two of whom are 
independent, with an independent President;  

• the Remuneration Committee, consisting of three Non-Executive Directors, two of which are 
independent, with an independent President. 

Board of Directors  

As per the Company’s statutes (the “Articles of Association”), the Board of Directors is composed of a 
minimum of five up to a maximum of fifteen members, elected by the Shareholders’ Meeting. They remain in 
office for a maximum of three years, established at the moment of election and expiring on the date of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve the annual financial statements for their last year of office. 

Pursuant to the Consolidated Banking Law, the members of the Board of Directors are required to abide by 
specific professional, ethical and independency requirements. 

The following table sets forth the names, positions and principal activities of the current members of the 
Board of Directors.  

The current Board of Directors was elected at the shareholders’ meeting of 22 March 2016 for the years 2016, 
2017 and 2018 and will expire on the date in which the shareholders’ meeting called to approve the Annual 
financial statements for the year 2018 takes place. 
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Name Position  Principal Activities Outside the Issuer 
Sebastien Egon Fürstenberg Chairman Chairman of Interbanca S.p.A. and Chairman of La Scogliera 

S.p.A. 
Giovanni Bossi Chief Executive Officer Chief Executive Officer of Interbanca S.p.A. 
Alessandro Csillaghy De Pacser Deputy Chairman Chief Executive Officer of La Scogliera S.p.A. and Director of 

IFIS Finance Sp. z o.o.  
Giuseppe Benini Director Director of Interbanca S.p.A. 
Francesca Maderna Director Accountant 
Antonella Malinconico Director Professor of Banking and Finance at the University of Sannio 

Riccardo Preve Director Entrepreneur 
Marina Salamon Director Deputy Chairman of Illy Caffè S.p.A. and Director of 

Morellato S.p.A. 
Daniele Santosuosso Director Director of Lottomatica S.p.A., Professor of Commercial Law 

at the University La Sapienza, in Rome and Funder and 
Director of “Rivista di Diritto Societario” 

The business address of each of the members of the Board of Directors is Via Terraglio 63, Mestre, 30174 
Venice, Italy. 

Board of Statutory Auditors  

Each member of the Board of Statutory Auditors is appointed by the shareholders and the board is composed 
of three regular auditors, one of whom is appointed as chairman, and two alternate auditors. Members of the 
Board of Statutory Auditors are elected by the shareholders for a term of three years until the date of the 
shareholders’ meeting called for the approval of the financial statements relating to the third year of such 
appointment. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors is part of the internal control system and its activities are carried out in 
compliance with the relevant regulatory requirements, including those set out by the Bank of Italy. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors supervises: 

• compliance with the law and the Articles of Association; 

• observance of the principles of proper administration; 

• the appropriateness of the organisational, administrative and accounting structure adopted by the 
Company and its concrete functioning; 

• adequacy and functionality of the Issuer’s internal audit system; 

• exercise of management and coordination by the Bank; 

• other records and actions specified by the law. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors ascertains, in particular, the adequate coordination of all the functions and 
structures involved in the Internal Audit System, including the Independent Auditors in charge of the audit, 
promoting, if necessary, the appropriate corrective measures. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors informs the Board of Directors of any failings and irregularities it has found, 
asks for the adoption of appropriate corrective measures and verifies their effectiveness over time. 

The following table sets forth the names, positions and principal activities of the current members of the 
Board of Statutory Auditors, all of whose appointments expire at the annual shareholders’ meeting which is 
called for the approval of the Issuer’s annual financial statements as of and for the year ending 31 December 
2018: 

Name Position Principal Activities Outside the Issuer 
Giacomo Bugna Chairman President of the Board of Statutory Auditors of Interbanca 

S.p.A., President of the Board of Statutory Auditors of IFIS 
Leasing S.p.A. and President of the Board of Statutory Auditors 
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Name Position Principal Activities Outside the Issuer 
of IFIS Rental Services s.r.l. 

Giovanna Ciriotto Statutory Auditor Statutory Auditor of Interbanca S.p.A., Statutory Auditor of 
IFIS Leasing S.p.A. and Statutory Auditor of IFIS Rental 
Services s.r.l.  

Massimo Miani Statutory Auditor President of the National Council of Certified Public 
Accountants 

Guido Gasparini Berlingieri Alternate Auditor - 
Valentina Martina Alternate Auditor - 

In accordance with Italian law, members of the Board of Statutory Auditors are registered members of the 
registry of certified public accountants (Revisori Legali) held by the Italian Ministry of Economy and Finance. 

The business address of the members of the Board of Statutory Auditors is Via Terraglio 63, Mestre, 30174 
Venice, Italy. 

Conflicts of Interest  

As of the date of this Base Prospectus, there is no actual or potential conflict of interest between the duties of 
any of the members of the Board of Directors or Board of Statutory Auditors of the Issuer and their respective 
private interests or other duties. 

Independent Auditors 

On 17 April 2014, the Shareholders’ Meeting of the Issuer appointed EY S.p.A. as independent auditors of the 
Issuer for the nine-year period 2014-2022 (the “Independent Auditors”). 

EY S.p.A. is a member of ASSIREVI, the Italian association of auditing firms. 

EY S.p.A. is authorised and regulated by the Italian ministry of Economy and Finance (“MEF”) and 
registered on the special register of auditing firms held by the MEF. 

The registered office of EY S.p.A. is at Via Po 32, Rome, 00198, Italy. 

Recent Developments  

The Board of Directors of the Issuer approved the Strategic Plan on 16 March 2017. 

On 26 May 2017, the Issuer issued a senior, unsecured, fixed rate bond in the amount of €300 million, 
reserved to qualified investors, listed on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange and the ExtraMot 
Pro market of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. (the Italian Stock Exchange). 

On 8 August 2017, the Board of Directors of the Issuer approved the unaudited consolidated half yearly report 
of the Issuer as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2017. 

At 30 June 2017, the Group profit for the period totalled Euro 103.7 million, up 165.0 per cent. from Euro 
39.1 million at 30 June 2016, with a consolidated CET1 and Total Own Funds Ratios of the Group alone 
(excluding the effect of the consolidation of the parent company La Scogliera S.p.A.12), both amounted to 
16.38 per cent. at the end of 30 June 2017, compared to 15.7 per cent. at the end of 2016. 

The unaudited consolidated half yearly report of the Issuer as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2017 is 
incorporated in, and forms part of, this Base Prospectus. For further details, please refer to “Information 
Incorporated by Reference”. 

  

                                                      
12 The reported total own funds refers only to the scope of the Group, thus excluding the effects of the prudential consolidation in the 

parent La Scogliera S.p.A. Consolidated own funds, risk-weighted assets and solvency ratios at 30 June 2017 were determined 
based on the regulatory principles set out in Directive 2013/36/EU (CRD IV) and Regulation (EU) 575/2013 (CRR) dated 26 June 
2013, which were transposed in the Bank of Italy’s Circulars no. 285 and 286 of 17 December 2013. Article 19 of the CRR 
requires inclusion of the unconsolidated holding of the banking Group in prudential consolidation. The CET1 at 30 June 2017 
including La Scogliera S.p.A. amounted to 14.8 per cent., compared to 14.7 per cent. at 31 December 2016, while the Total Own 
Funds Ratio totalled 15.6 per cent., compared to 15.3 per cent. at 31 December 2016. 
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TAXATION 

The statements herein regarding taxation are based on the laws in force as at the date of this Base Prospectus 
and are subject to any changes in law occurring after such date, which changes could be made on a 
retroactive basis. The following summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax 
considerations which may be relevant to a decision to subscribe for, purchase, own or dispose of the Notes 
and does not purport to deal with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of 
which (such as dealers in securities or commodities) may be subject to special rules. Prospective purchasers 
of the Notes are advised to consult their own tax advisers concerning the overall tax consequences of their 
ownership of the Notes. This summary is based upon the laws and/or practice in force as at the date of this 
Base Prospectus. Italian tax laws and interpretations may be subject to frequent changes which could be 
made on a retroactive basis. 

Tax treatment of Notes issued by the Issuer 

Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996 (“Decree No. 239”) sets out the applicable tax treatment of 
interest, premium and other income (including the difference between the redemption amount and the issue 
price) (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Interest”) from notes falling within the category of bonds 
(obbligazioni) or debentures similar to bonds (titoli similari alle obbligazioni) issued, inter alia, by Italian 
banks. 

For these purposes, securities similar to bonds (titoli similari alle obbligazioni) are securities that incorporate 
an unconditional obligation of the issuer to pay at maturity an amount not lower than their nominal value, with 
or without the payment of periodic interest, and do not give any right to directly or indirectly participate in the 
management of the issuer or to the business in connection to which the securities were issued, nor to control 
the same. 

The tax regime set forth by Decree No. 239 also applies to interest, premium and other income from 
regulatory capital financial instruments complying with EU and Italian regulatory principles, issued by, inter 
alia, Italian banks, other than shares and assimilated instruments. 

Italian Resident Noteholders 

Pursuant to Decree No. 239, where the Italian resident holder of Notes, who is the beneficial owner of such 
Notes, is: 

(a) an individual not engaged in an entrepreneurial activity to which the Notes are connected (unless he 
has entrusted the management of his financial assets, including the Notes, to an authorised 
intermediary and has opted for the so called “regime del risparmio gestito” (the “Asset Management 
Regime”) according to Article 7 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 461 of 21st November, 1997, as 
amended (“Decree No. 461”)); or 

(b) a partnership (other than a società in nome collettivo or società in accomandita semplice or similar 
partnership), or a de facto partnership not carrying out commercial activities or professional 
association; or 

(c) private or public institutions (other than companies), trusts not carrying out mainly or exclusively 
commercial activities, the Italian State and public and territorial entities; or 

(d) an investor exempt from Italian corporate income taxation, 

Interest payments relating to the Notes are subject to a tax, referred to as imposta sostitutiva, levied at the rate 
of 26 per cent. (either when Interest is paid or when payment thereof is obtained by the holder on a sale of the 
Notes).  All the above categories are qualified as “net recipients”. 

Where the resident holders of the Notes described above under (a) and (c) are engaged in an entrepreneurial 
activity to which the Notes are connected, imposta sostitutiva applies as a provisional income tax. Interest will 
be included in the relevant beneficial owner’s Italian income tax return and will be subject to Italian ordinary 
income taxation and the imposta sostitutiva may be recovered as a deduction from Italian income tax due. 
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Subject to certain limitations and requirements (including a minimum holding period), Italian resident 
individuals not acting in connection with an entrepreneurial activity may be exempt from any income taxation, 
including the imposta sostitutiva, on Interest if the Notes are included in a long-term savings account (piano di 
risparmio a lungo termine) that meets the requirements set forth in Article 1, paragraph 100-114 of Law No. 
232 of 11 December 2016 (“Law No. 232”). 

Pursuant to Decree No. 239, the 26 per cent. imposta sostitutiva is applied by banks, società di 
intermediazione mobiliare (so called “SIMs”), fiduciary companies, società di gestione del risparmio 
(“SGRs”), stock brokers and other qualified entities identified by a decree of the Ministry of Finance 
(“Intermediaries” and each an “Intermediary”). An Intermediary must (a) be resident in Italy or be a 
permanent establishments in Italy of a non-Italian resident Intermediary, and (b) intervene, in any way, in the 
collection of Interest or, also as transferees, in transfers or disposals of the Notes. For the purpose of the 
application of the imposta sostitutiva, a transfer of notes includes any assignment or other act, either with or 
without consideration, which results in a change of the ownership of the relevant notes or in a change of the 
Intermediary with which the notes are deposited. 

Where the Notes and the relevant coupons are not deposited with an authorised Italian Intermediary (or with a 
permanent establishment in Italy of a foreign Intermediary), the imposta sostitutiva is applied and withheld by 
any Italian Intermediary paying Interest to the holders of the Notes or, absent that by the Issuer. 

Payments of Interest in respect of Notes that qualify as obbligazioni or titoli similari alle obbligazioni are not 
subject to the 26 per cent. imposta sostitutiva if made to beneficial owners who are:  

(i) Italian resident corporations or permanent establishments in Italy of foreign corporations to which the 
Notes are effectively connected;  

(ii) Italian resident partnerships carrying out commercial activities (‘società in nome collettivo’ or ‘società 
in accomandita semplice’);  

(iii) Italian resident open-ended or closed-ended collective investment funds (together the “Funds” and 
each a “Fund”), SICAVs, SICAFs, Italian resident real estate investment funds subject to the regime 
provided for by Law Decree No. 351 of 25 September 2001 and Italian resident pension funds 
referred to in Legislative Decree No. 252 of 5 December 2005 (“Decree No. 252”); and  

(iv) Italian resident individuals holding Notes not in connection with entrepreneurial activity who have 
entrusted the management of their financial assets, including the Notes, to an authorised financial 
Intermediary and have opted for the Asset Management Regime.   

Such categories are qualified as “gross recipients”. To ensure payment of Interest in respect of the Notes 
without the application of 26 per cent. imposta sostitutiva, gross recipients indicated above under (i) to (iv) 
must:  (a) be the beneficial owners of payments of Interest on the Notes and (b) deposit the Notes in due time, 
together with the coupons relating to such Notes, directly or indirectly with an Italian authorised Intermediary 
(or a permanent establishment in Italy of a foreign Intermediary).  Where the Notes and the relevant coupons 
are not deposited with an Italian authorised Intermediary (or a permanent establishment in Italy of a foreign 
Intermediary), the imposta sostitutiva is applied and withheld by any Italian Intermediary paying Interest to 
the holders of the Notes or, absent that, by the Issuer.  

Gross recipients that are Italian resident corporations or partnerships or permanent establishments in Italy of 
foreign entities to which the Notes are effectively connected are entitled to deduct imposta sostitutiva suffered 
from income taxes due. 

Interest accrued on the Notes shall be included in the corporate taxable income (and in certain circumstances, 
depending on the “status” of the Noteholder, also in the net value of production for purposes of regional tax 
on productive activities – “IRAP”) of beneficial owners who are Italian resident corporations or permanent 
establishments in Italy of foreign corporations to which the Notes are effectively connected, subject to tax in 
Italy in accordance with ordinary tax rules. 

Italian resident individuals holding Notes not in connection with entrepreneurial activity who have opted for 
the Asset Management Regime are subject to a 26 per cent. annual substitute tax (the “Asset Management 
Tax”) on the increase in value of the managed assets accrued at the end of each tax year (which increase 
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would include Interest accrued on the Notes). The Asset Management Tax is applied on behalf of the taxpayer 
by the managing authorised Intermediary. 

If the investor is resident in Italy and is a Fund, a SICAV or a SICAF and the relevant Notes are held by an 
authorised intermediary, Interest accrued during the holding period on such Notes will not be subject to 
imposta sostitutiva, but must be included in the financial results of the Fund, the SICAV or the SICAF. The 
Fund, SICAV or SICAF will not be subject to taxation on such result, but a withholding tax of 26 per cent. 
will apply, in certain circumstances, to distributions made in favour of unitholders or shareholders (the 
“Collective Investment Fund Tax”).  

Where a Noteholder is an Italian resident real estate investment fund, to which the provisions of Law Decree 
No. 351 of 25 September 2001, as subsequently amended, apply, or a SICAF, Interest accrued on the Notes 
will be subject neither to imposta sostitutiva nor to any other income tax in the hands of the real estate 
investment fund or SICAF. The income of the real estate fund or of the SICAF is subject to tax, in the hands 
of the unitholder, depending on the status and percentage of participation, or, when earned by the fund, 
through distribution and/or upon redemption or disposal of the units. 

Where a Noteholder is an Italian resident pension fund subject to the regime provided for by Article 17 of 
Legislative Decree No. 252 of 5 December 2005 and the Notes are deposited with an Italian resident 
intermediary, Interest relating to the Notes and accrued during the holding period will not be subject to 
imposta sostitutiva, but must be included in the result of the relevant portfolio accrued at the end of the tax 
period, to be subject to a 20 per cent. substitute tax (the “Pension Fund Tax”) on the increase in value of the 
managed assets accrued at the end of each tax year (which increase would include Interest accrued on the 
Notes).  

Non–Italian resident Noteholders 

According to Decree No. 239, payments of Interest in respect of the Notes issued by the Issuer will not be 
subject to the imposta sostitutiva at the rate of 26 per cent. if made to beneficial owners who are non–Italian 
resident beneficial owners of the Notes with no permanent establishment in Italy to which the Notes are 
effectively connected provided that: 

(a) such beneficial owners are resident for tax purposes in a state or territory which allows an adequate 
exchange of information with the Italian tax authorities and listed in the Ministerial Decree dated 4 
September 1996 as amended from time to time (the “White List”). According to Article 11, par. 4, 
let. c) of Decree no. 239, the White List will be updated every six months period. In absence of the 
issuance of the new White List, reference has to be made to the Italian Ministerial Decree dated 4 
September 1996 as amended from time to time; and 

(b) all the requirements and procedures set forth in Decree No. 239 and in the relevant implementation 
rules, as subsequently amended, in order to benefit from the exemption from imposta sostitutiva are 
met or complied with in due time. 

Decree No. 239 also provides for additional exemptions from the imposta sostitutiva for payments of Interest 
in respect of the Notes made to (i) international entities and organisations established in accordance with 
international agreements ratified in Italy; (ii) certain foreign institutional investors established in countries 
which allow for an adequate exchange of information with Italy; and (iii) Central Banks or entities which 
manage, inter alia, the official reserves of a foreign State. 

To ensure payment of Interest in respect of the Notes without the application of 26 per cent. imposta 
sostitutiva, non–Italian resident investors indicated above must: 

(a) be the beneficial owners of payments of Interest on the Notes; 

(b) deposit the Notes in due time together with the coupons relating to such Notes directly or indirectly 
with a resident bank or SIM, or a permanent establishment in Italy of a non–Italian resident bank or 
SIM, or with a non–Italian resident operator participating in a centralised securities management 
system which is in contact via computer with the Ministry of Economy and Finance; and 



 

 

 115  
 

(c) file with the relevant depository a statement (autocertificazione) in due time stating, inter alia, that he 
or she is resident, for tax purposes, in one of the above mentioned White List states. Such statement 
(autocertificazione), which must comply with the requirements set forth by Ministerial Decree of 12 
December 2001 (as amended and supplemented), is valid until withdrawn or revoked and need not be 
submitted where a certificate, declaration or other similar document meant for equivalent uses was 
previously submitted to the same depository. The statement (autocertificazione) is not required for 
non–Italian resident investors that are international entities and organisations established in 
accordance with international agreements ratified in Italy and Central Banks or entities which manage, 
inter alia, the official reserves of a foreign state. 

Failure of a non–resident holder of the Notes to comply in due time with the procedures set forth in Decree 
No. 239 and in the relevant implementation rules will result in the application of imposta sostitutiva on 
Interests payments to a non–resident holder of the Notes. 

Non-resident holders of the Notes who are subject to substitute tax might, nevertheless, be eligible for a total 
or partial relief under an applicable tax treaty between the Republic of Italy and the country of residence of the 
relevant holder of the Notes. 

Fungible issues 

Pursuant to Article 11, paragraph 2 of Decree No. 239, where the Issuer issues a new Tranche forming part of 
a single series with a previous Tranche, for the purposes of calculating the amount of Interest subject to 
imposta sostitutiva (if any), the issue price of the new Tranche will be deemed to be the same as the issue 
price of the original Tranche. This rule applies where (a) the new Tranche is issued within 12 months from the 
issue date of the previous Tranche and (b) the difference between the issue price of the new Tranche and that 
of the original Tranche does not exceed 1 per cent. of the nominal value of the Notes multiplied by the number 
of years of the duration of the Notes. 

Atypical securities 

Interest payments relating to Notes that are not deemed to fall within the category of bonds (obbligazioni) or 
securities similar to bonds (titoli similari alle obbligazioni), so called “titoli atipici”, may be subject to a 
withholding tax, levied at the rate of 26 per cent under Law Decree No. 512 of 30 September 1983 (“Decree 
No. 512”). For this purpose, securities similar to bonds are securities that incorporate an unconditional 
obligation to pay, at maturity, an amount not lower than their nominal value. 

Where the Noteholder is (i) an Italian individual engaged in an entrepreneurial activity to which the Notes are 
connected, (ii) an Italian company or a similar Italian commercial entity, (iii) a permanent establishment in 
Italy of a foreign entity to which the Notes are connected, (iv) an Italian commercial partnership or (v) an 
Italian commercial private or public institution, such withholding tax is a provisional withholding tax. In all 
other cases, the withholding tax is a final withholding tax. For non-Italian resident Noteholders, the 
withholding tax rate may be reduced by any applicable tax treaty. 

Non-resident holders of the Notes who are subject to the withholding tax under Decree No. 512 might, 
nevertheless, be eligible for a total or partial relief under an applicable tax treaty between the Republic of Italy 
and the country of residence of the relevant holder of the Notes. 

Subject to certain limitations and requirements (including a minimum holding period), Italian resident 
individuals not acting in connection with an entrepreneurial activity may be exempt from any income taxation, 
including the withholding tax on interest, premium and other income relating to “titoli atipici”, if those Notes 
are included in a long-term individual savings account (piano individuale di risparmio a lungo termine) that 
meets the requirements set forth in Article 1, paragraph 100-114 of Law No. 232.  
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Capital Gains 

Italian resident Noteholders 

Pursuant to Decree No. 461, a 26 per cent. capital gains tax (referred to as “imposta sostitutiva”) is applicable 
to capital gains realised by: 

(a) an Italian resident individual not engaged in entrepreneurial activities to which the Notes are 
connected; 

(b) an Italian resident partnership not carrying out commercial activities; 

(c) an Italian private or public institution not carrying out mainly or exclusively commercial activities 

on any sale or transfer for consideration of the Notes or redemption thereof. 

Under the so called “regime della dichiarazione” (the “Tax Declaration Regime”), which is the standard 
regime for taxation of capital gains, the 26 per cent. imposta sostitutiva on capital gains will be chargeable, on 
a cumulative basis, on all capital gains net of any relevant incurred capital losses realised pursuant to all 
investment transactions carried out during any given fiscal year. The capital gains realised in a year net of any 
relevant incurred capital losses must be detailed in the relevant annual tax return to be filed with Italian tax 
authorities and imposta sostitutiva must be paid on such capital gains together with any balance income tax 
due for the relevant tax year. Capital losses in excess of capital gains may be carried forward against capital 
gains of the same kind for up to the fourth subsequent fiscal year. Pursuant to Law Decree No. 66 of 24 April 
2014, as converted into law with amendments by Law No. 89 of 23 June 2014 published in the Official 
Gazette No. 143 of 23 June 2014, (“Decree No. 66”), capital losses realized from 1st January 2012 to 30 June 
2014 may be offset against capital gains of the same nature realized after 30 June 2014 for an overall amount 
of 76.92 per cent. of the same capital losses. 

Alternatively to the Tax Declaration Regime, holders of the Notes who are: 

(a) Italian resident individuals not engaged in entrepreneurial activities to which the Notes are connected; 

(b) Italian resident partnerships not carrying out commercial activities; 

(c) Italian private or public institutions not carrying out mainly or exclusively commercial activities, 

may elect to pay imposta sostitutiva separately on capital gains realised on each sale or transfer or redemption 
of the Notes under the so called “regime del risparmio amministrato” (the “Administrative Savings 
Regime”). Such separate taxation of capital gains is allowed subject to (i) the Notes being deposited with 
banks, SIMs and any other Italian qualified intermediary (or permanent establishment in Italy of foreign 
intermediary) and (ii) an express election for the Administrative Savings Regime being made in writing in due 
time by the relevant holder of the Notes. The intermediary is responsible for accounting for imposta sostitutiva 
in respect of capital gains realised on each sale or transfer or redemption of the Notes, as well as on capital 
gains realised as at revocation of its mandate, net of any relevant incurred capital losses, and is required to pay 
the relevant amount to the Italian tax authorities on behalf of the holder of the Notes, deducting a 
corresponding amount from proceeds to be credited to the holder of the Notes.  Where a sale or transfer or 
redemption of the Notes results in a capital loss, the intermediary is entitled to deduct such loss from gains of 
the same kind subsequently realised on assets held by the holder of the Notes within the same relationship of 
deposit in the same tax year or in the following tax years up to the fourth. Pursuant to Decree No. 66, capital 
losses realised from 1 January 2012 to 30 June 2014 may be offset against capital gains of the same nature 
realised after 30 June 2014 for an overall amount of 76.92 per cent. of the same capital losses. Under the 
Administrative Savings Regime, the realised capital gain is not required to be included in the annual income 
tax return of the Noteholder. 

Special rules apply if the Notes are part of a portfolio managed under the Asset Management Regime by an 
Italian asset management company or an authorised intermediary. The capital gains realised upon sale, 
transfer or redemption of the Notes will not be subject to 26 per cent. imposta sostitutiva on capital gains but 
will contribute to determine the annual accrued appreciation of the managed portfolio, subject to the Asset 
Management Tax. Any depreciation of the managed portfolio accrued at year end may be carried forward 
against appreciation accrued in each of the following years up to the fourth. Pursuant to Decree No. 66, 



 

 

 117  
 

depreciations of the managed assets registered from 1 January 2012 to 30 June, 2014 may be offset against 
any subsequent increase in value accrued as of 1 July 2014 for an overall amount of 76.92 per cent. of the 
same depreciations in value. Also under the Asset Management Regime the realised capital gain is not 
required to be included in the annual income tax return of the Noteholder. 

Subject to certain limitations and requirements (including a minimum holding period), capital gains in respect 
of Notes realized upon sale, transfer or redemption by Italian resident individuals holding the Notes not in 
connection with an entrepreneurial activity may be exempt from taxation, including the 26 per cent. imposta 
sostitutiva, if the Notes are included in a long-term individual savings account (piano individuale di risparmio 
a lungo termine) pursuant Article 1, paragraph 100 – 114, of Law No. 232. 

In the case of Notes held by Funds, SICAVs and SICAFs, capital gains on Notes contribute to determinate the 
increase in value of the managed assets of the Funds, SICAVs or SICAFs accrued at the end of each tax year. 
The Funds, SICAVs or SICAFs will not be subject to taxation on such increase, but the Collective Investment 
Fund Tax will apply, in certain circumstances, to distributions made in favour of unitholders or shareholders.  

Where a Noteholder is an Italian resident real estate investment fund, to which the provisions of Law Decree 
No. 351 of 25 September, 2001, as subsequently amended, apply, or a SICAF, capital gains realised will be 
subject neither to imposta sostitutiva nor to any other income tax in the hands of the real estate investment 
fund or SICAF. The income of the real estate fund or of the SICAF is subject to tax, in the hands of the 
unitholder, depending on the status and percentage of participation, or, when earned by the fund, through 
distribution and/or upon redemption or disposal of the units.  

Any capital gains realised by a Noteholder who is an Italian pension fund (subject to the regime provided for 
by article 17 of the Italian Legislative Decree No. 252 of 5 December 2005) will be included in the result of 
the relevant portfolio accrued at the end of the tax period, to be subject to the Pension Fund Tax.  

The 26 per cent. imposta sostitutiva on capital gains may in certain circumstances be payable on any capital 
gains realised upon sale, transfer or redemption of the Notes by non–Italian resident individuals and 
corporations without a permanent establishment in Italy to which the Notes are effectively connected, if the 
Notes are held in Italy. 

However, pursuant to Article 23 of Decree No. 917, any capital gains realised by non–Italian residents without 
a permanent establishment in Italy to which the Notes are effectively connected through the sale for 
consideration or redemption of the Notes are exempt from taxation in Italy to the extent that the Notes are 
listed on a regulated market in Italy or abroad, and in certain cases subject to timely filing of required 
documentation (in the form of a declaration (autocertificazione) of non–residence in Italy) with Italian 
qualified intermediaries (or permanent establishments in Italy of foreign intermediaries) with which the Notes 
are deposited, even if the Notes are held in Italy and regardless of the provisions set forth by any applicable 
double tax treaty. 

Where the Notes are not listed on a regulated market in Italy or abroad: 

(a) pursuant to the provisions of Decree No. 461 non Italian resident beneficial owners of the Notes with 
no permanent establishment in Italy to which the Notes are effectively connected are exempt from the 
imposta sostitutiva in the Republic of Italy on any capital gains realised upon sale for consideration or 
redemption of the Notes if they are resident, for tax purposes: (a) in a state or territory listed in the 
White List as defined above, and (b) all the requirements and procedures set forth in Decree No. 239 
and in the relevant implementation rules, as subsequently amended, in order to benefit from the 
exemption from imposta sostitutiva are met or complied with in due time. Under these circumstances, 
if non-Italian residents without a permanent establishment in Italy to which the Notes are effectively 
connected elect for the Asset Management Regime or are subject to the Administrative Savings 
Regime, exemption from Italian capital gains tax will apply upon condition that they file in time with 
the authorised financial intermediary an appropriate declaration (autocertificazione) stating that they 
meet the requirement indicated above. The same exemption applies where the beneficial owners of the 
Notes are (i) international entities or organisations established in accordance with international 
agreements ratified by Italy; (ii) certain foreign institutional investors established in countries which 
allow for an adequate exchange of information with Italy; or (iii) Central Banks or entities which 
manage, inter alia, the official reserves of a foreign State; and 
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(b) in any event, non–Italian resident individuals or entities without a permanent establishment in Italy to 
which the Notes are effectively connected that may benefit from a double taxation treaty with Italy, 
providing that capital gains realised upon sale or redemption of Notes are to be taxed only in the 
country of tax residence of the recipient, will not be subject to imposta sostitutiva in Italy on any 
capital gains realised upon sale for consideration or redemption of Notes. 

Under these circumstances, if non Italian residents without a permanent establishment in Italy to which the 
Notes are effectively connected elect for the Asset Management Regime or are subject to the Administrative 
Savings Regime, exemption from Italian capital gains tax will apply upon condition that they promptly file 
with the Italian authorised financial intermediary a self declaration attesting that all the requirements for the 
application of the relevant double taxation treaty are met. 

Any capital gains realised by Italian resident corporations or similar commercial entities or permanent 
establishments in Italy of non-Italian resident corporations to which the Notes are connected, will be included 
in their business income (and, in certain cases, may also be included in the taxable net value of production for 
IRAP purposes), subject to tax in Italy according to the relevant ordinary tax rules. 

Inheritance and gift tax 

Pursuant to Law Decree No. 262 of 3 October 2006, converted with amendments by Law No. 286 of 24 
November 2006 effective from 29 November 2006, and Law No. 296 of 27 December 2006, the transfers of 
any valuable assets (including the Notes) as a result of death or donation (or other transfers for no 
consideration) and the creation of liens on such assets for a specific purpose are taxed as follows: 

(a) 4 per cent. if the transfer is made to spouses and direct descendants or ancestors; in this case, the 
transfer is subject to tax on the value exceeding €1,000,000 (per beneficiary); 

(b) 6 per cent. if the transfer if made to brothers and sisters; in this case, the transfer is subject to the tax 
on the value exceeding €100,000 (per beneficiary); 

(c) 6 per cent. if the transfer is made to relatives up to the fourth degree, to persons related by direct 
affinity as well as to persons related by collateral affinity up to the third degree; and 

(d) 8 per cent. in all other cases. 

If the transfer is made in favour of persons with severe disabilities, the tax applies on the value exceeding 
€1,500,000. 

If the donee sells the Notes for consideration from the receipt thereof as a gift, the donee is required to pay the 
relevant imposta sostitutiva on capital gains as if the gift has never taken place. 

Transfer tax 

Contracts relating to the transfer of securities are subject to the registration tax as follows: (i) public deeds and 
notarised deeds are subject to fixed registration tax at rate of €200; (ii) private deeds are subject to registration 
tax only in case of use or voluntary registration. 

Tax Monitoring Obligations 

Italian resident individuals, non-commercial entities, non-commercial partnerships and similar institutions are 
required to report in their yearly income tax return, according to Law Decree No. 167 of 28 June 1990 
converted into law by Law Decree No. 227 of 4 August 1990, as amended from time to time, for tax 
monitoring purposes, the amount of Notes held abroad during each tax year. The requirement applies also 
where the persons above, being not the direct holder of the financial instruments, are the actual owner of the 
instrument. 

Furthermore, the above reporting requirement is not required to comply with respect to: (i) Notes deposited 
for management with qualified Italian financial intermediaries; (ii) contracts entered into through their 
intervention, upon condition that the items of income derived from the Notes have been subject to tax by the 
same intermediaries; or (iii) if the foreign investments are only composed by deposits and/or bank accounts 
and their aggregate value does not exceed a €15,000 threshold throughout the year. 
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Stamp duty 

Pursuant to Article 13 par. 2 ter of the tariff Part I attached to Presidential Decree No. 642 of 26 October 
1972, a proportional stamp duty applies on an annual basis to any periodic reporting communications which 
may be sent by a financial intermediary to their clients in respect of any financial product and instrument 
(including the Notes), which may be deposited with such financial intermediary in Italy. The stamp duty 
applies at a rate of 0.2 per cent. and it cannot exceed €14,000 for taxpayers which are not individuals. This 
stamp duty is determined on the basis of the market value or, if no market value figure is available, on the face 
value or redemption value, or in the case the face or redemption values cannot be determined, on the purchase 
value of the financial assets (including banking bonds, obbligazioni and capital adequacy financial 
instruments) held.  

The statement is deemed to be sent at least once a year, even for instruments for which is not mandatory nor 
the deposit nor the release nor the drafting of the statement. In case of reporting periods of less than 12 
months, the stamp duty is payable based on the period accounted.  

Based on the wording of the law and the implementing decree issued by the Italian Ministry of Economy on 
24 May 2012, the stamp duty applies to any investor who is a client (as defined in the regulations issued by 
the Bank of Italy on 20 June 2012) of an entity that exercises in any form a banking, financial or insurance 
activity within the Italian territory.  

Wealth tax on financial assets deposited abroad  

According to Article 19 of Decree No. 201 of 6 December 2011, Italian resident individuals holding financial 
assets – including the Notes – outside of the Italian territory are required to pay in its own annual tax 
declaration a wealth tax at the rate of 0.2 per cent. This tax is calculated on the market value at the end of the 
relevant year or, if no market value figure is available, on the nominal value or redemption value, or in the 
case the face or redemption values cannot be determined, on the purchase value of any financial asset 
(including the Notes) held abroad by Italian resident individuals. A tax credit is granted for any foreign 
property tax levied abroad on such financial assets. The financial assets held abroad are excluded from the 
scope of the wealth tax if administered by Italian financial intermediaries pursuant to an administration 
agreement. 

FATCA  

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, a 
"foreign financial institution" may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes (“foreign passthru 
payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. A number of 
jurisdictions (including the jurisdiction of the Issuer) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, 
intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA (“IGAs”), which modify the way 
in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions 
and IGAs to instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to 
FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be 
subject to change. Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to 
payments on instruments such as the Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January 2019. 
However, if additional notes (as described under “Terms and Conditions – Further Issues”) that are not 
distinguishable from previously issued Notes are issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period and 
are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all Notes, including the Notes 
offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering period, as subject to withholding under FATCA. Holders 
should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the Notes. 
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

Notes may be sold from time to time by the Issuer to any one or more of the Dealers. The arrangements under 
which Notes may from time to time be agreed to be sold by the Issuer to, and purchased by, Dealers are set 
out in a dealer agreement dated on or about the date hereof (the “Dealer Agreement”) and made between the 
Issuer and the Dealers. Any such agreement will, inter alia, make provision for the form and terms and 
conditions of the relevant Notes, the price at which such Notes will be purchased by a Dealer and the 
commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) payable or allowable by the Issuer in respect of such 
purchase. The Dealer Agreement makes provision for the resignation or termination of appointment of the 
existing Dealers and for the appointment of additional or other Dealers either generally in respect of the 
Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes. 

General 

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme 
will be required to represent, warrant and agree that it has complied and will comply with all applicable laws 
and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or 
possesses, distributes or publishes this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms or any related offering material, in 
all cases at its own expense. Other persons into whose hands this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms comes 
are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country 
or jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or possess, distribute or publish this 
Base Prospectus or any Final Terms or any related offering material, in all cases at their own expense. 

The Dealer Agreement provides that the Dealers shall not be bound by any of the restrictions relating to any 
specific jurisdiction (set out above) to the extent that such restrictions shall as a result of any change(s), or any 
change(s) in official interpretation, after the date hereof of applicable laws and regulations no longer be 
applicable, but without prejudice to the obligations of the Dealers described in the preceding paragraph headed 
“General” above. 

Selling restrictions may be supplemented or modified with the agreement of the Issuer. Any such supplement 
or modification may be set out in the applicable Final Terms (in the case of a supplement or modification 
relevant only to a particular Tranche of Notes) or in a supplement to this Base Prospectus. 

United States of America 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold 
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions 
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the 
meanings given to them by Regulation S. 

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the 
United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. 
tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the United States Internal 
Revenue Code and regulations thereunder. 

Each Dealer has agreed that, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree 
that, except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes, (i) as part of their 
distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the Notes 
comprising the relevant Tranche, as certified to the Agent or the Issuer by such Dealer (or, in the case of a sale 
of a Tranche of Notes to or through more than one Dealer, by each of such Dealers as to the Notes of such 
Tranche purchased by or through it, in which case the Agent or the Issuer shall notify each such Dealer when 
all such Dealers have so certified) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, 
and such Dealer will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period 
relating thereto a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes 
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. 

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of Notes comprising any Tranche, any offer 
or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may 
violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act. 
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Public offer selling restriction under the Prospectus Directive 

Prior to 1 January 2018, and from that date if the applicable Final Terms (or, as the case may be, Drawdown 
Prospectus) in respect of the Notes specifies “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors” as “Not 
Applicable”, in relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the 
Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each 
further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that with effect from 
and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the 
“Relevant Implementation Date”) it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject 
of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the applicable Final Terms in relation 
thereto (or are the subject of the offering contemplated by a Drawdown Prospectus, as the case may be) to the 
public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant 
Implementation Date, make an offer of such Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State: 

(i) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive; 

(ii) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the 
Prospectus Directive), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers 
nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or 

(iii) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, 

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (i) to (iii) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to 
publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive, or supplement a prospectus pursuant to 
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. 

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of Notes to the public” in relation to any Notes in 
any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient 
information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to 
purchase or subscribe the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure 
implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, the expression “Prospectus Directive” means 
Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, including by Directive 2010/73/EU), and includes any relevant 
implementing measure in the Relevant Member State. 

Republic of Italy 

The offering of the Notes has not been cleared by or registered with the Commissione Nazionale per le Società 
e la Borsa (“CONSOB”) pursuant to Italian securities legislation.  Accordingly, no Notes may be offered, 
sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, nor may copies of the Base Prospectus or of any other document 
relating to the Notes be distributed in the Republic of Italy, except: 

(i) to qualified investors (investitori qualificati), as defined under Article 100 of the Legislative Decree 
No. 58 of 24 February 1998, as amended (the “Italian Financial Act”), as implemented by Article 
26, paragraph 1(d) of CONSOB Regulation No. 16190 of 29 October 2007, as amended (“CONSOB 
Regulation No. 16190”), pursuant to Article 34-ter, first paragraph, letter b), of CONSOB Regulation 
No. 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended (“CONSOB Regulation No. 11971”); or 

(ii) in other circumstances which are exempted from the rules on public offerings pursuant to Article 100 
of the Italian Financial Act and its implementing of CONSOB Regulations including CONSOB 
Regulation No. 11971. 

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that any offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of 
this Base Prospectus or any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy will be made in 
accordance with all Italian securities, tax and exchange control and other applicable laws and regulation.  

Each of the Dealers has represented and agreed that it will not offer, sell or deliver any Notes or distribute 
copies of this Base Prospectus or any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy, except in 
any circumstances where an express exemption from compliance with the offer restrictions applies, as 
provided under the Italian Financial Act or CONSOB Regulation No. 11971. 
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Any such offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of the Base Prospectus or any other 
document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy must be in compliance with the selling restriction 
under (i) and (ii) above and: 

(a) made by investment firms, banks or financial intermediaries permitted to conduct such activities in the 
Republic of Italy in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Italian Financial Act, CONSOB 
Regulation No. 16190, Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, as amended (the “Banking 
Act”) and any other applicable laws or regulation; 

(b) in compliance with Article 129 of the Banking Act and the implementing guidelines of the Bank of 
Italy, as amended, with regard, inter alia, to the reporting obligations required; and 

(c) in compliance with any other applicable laws and regulations or requirement imposed by CONSOB or 
the Bank of Italy or any other Italian authority. 

United Kingdom 

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be 
required to represent and agree, that: 

(i) in relation to any Notes which have a maturity of less than one year, (a) it is a person whose ordinary 
activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or 
agent) for the purposes of its business and (b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any 
Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or 
disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is 
reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for 
the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a 
contravention of Section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the 
“FSMA”) by the Issuer; 

(ii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of 
Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in 
circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and 

(iii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA and the regulations 
adopted thereunder with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise 
involving the United Kingdom. 

France 

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be 
required to represent and agree that it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, 
any Notes to the public in France and it has not distributed or caused to be distributed and will not distribute 
or cause to be distributed to the public in France this Base Prospectus or any other offering material relating to 
the Notes and such offers, sales and distributions have been and will be made in France only to (a) providers 
of investment services relating to portfolio management for the account of third parties (personnes fournissant 
le service d’investissement de gestion de portefeuille pour compte de tiers), and/or (b) qualified investors 
(investisseurs qualifiés), all as defined in, and in accordance with, Articles L.411-1, L.411-2 and D.411-1 of 
the French Code monétaire et financier. 

Japan 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of 
Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948), as amended (the “FIEA”). Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, 
and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not, 
directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer to sell any Notes in Japan or to, 
or for the benefit of, a resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, 
including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan) or to others for re-offering or 
resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident in Japan, except pursuant to an 
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exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, FIEA and other relevant 
laws and regulations of Japan. 

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors 

From 1 January 2018, unless the Final Terms (or, as the case may be, Drawdown Prospectus) in respect of any 
Notes specifies the “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors” as “Not Applicable”, each Dealer has 
represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent 
and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make 
available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed 
by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes 
of this provision: 

(i) the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following: 

(a) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, 
“MiFID II”); or 

(b) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC as amended, where that customer 
would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; 
or 

(c) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive; and 

(ii) the expression an “offer” includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient 
information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide 
to purchase or subscribe the Notes. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. Listing and Admission to Trading 

The Base Prospectus has been approved by the Central Bank, as competent authority under the 
Prospectus Directive. The Central Bank of Ireland only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the 
requirements imposed under Irish and EU law pursuant to the Prospectus Directive. Application has 
been made to the Irish Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to 
trading on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange and to be listed on the Official List. The 
regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of MiFID. 

Notes may be issued under the Programme which are not listed or admitted to trading, as the case may 
be, on the Irish Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange or market. 

2. Authorisation 

The establishment of the Programme was authorised by the Board of Directors of the Issuer on 20 
July 2017. The Issuer will obtain from time to time all necessary consents, approvals and 
authorisations in connection with the issue and performance of the Notes. 

4. Legal and Arbitration Proceedings 

Save as set out at “Description of the Issuer—Legal Proceedings” on page 108 of this Base Prospectus, 
neither the Issuer nor any other member of the Group is or has been involved in any governmental, 
legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of 
which the Issuer is aware) in the 12 months preceding the date of this document which may have or 
have in such period had a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer or the 
Group.  

5. Auditors 

The consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the years ended 31 December 
2016 and 31 December 2015 have been prepared by the Issuer’s management in accordance with 
IFRS and have been audited without qualification by EY S.p.A. as stated in the English translations of 
their audit reports incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. The unaudited consolidated 
interim report of the Issuer as of 30 June 2017 and for the six months then ended has been prepared by 
the Issuer’s management in accordance with IAS 34 and has been reviewed by EY S.p.A. as stated in 
the English translation of its unmodified review report incorporated by reference in this Base 
Prospectus. 

EY S.p.A., with registered office at Via Po 32, 00196 Rome, Italy, is registered under No. 70945  in 
the Single Register of Legal Auditors at the Ministry of the Economy and Finance (Registro Unico dei 
Revisori Legali presso il Ministero dell’Economia e delle Finanze). EY S.p.A. is also a member of 
ASSIREVI, the Italian association of auditing firms. 

6. Significant Material Change 

Since 31 December 2016 there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer and 
since 30 June 2017 there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the 
Issuer. 

7. Documents on Display 

For so long as the Programme remains in effect or any of the Notes are outstanding, copies of the 
following documents may be inspected in electronic format during normal business hours at the 
specified office of each Paying Agent: 

(a) the by-laws of the Issuer; 

(b) the Agency Agreement; 

(c) the Deed of Covenant; 
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(d) the Programme Manual (being a manual containing suggested operating procedures for the 
Programme); 

(e) any Final Terms relating to Notes which are listed on any stock exchange (save that Final 
Terms relating to Notes which are neither admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in the 
European Economic Area or offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where 
a base prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus Directive will only be 
available for inspection by the relevant Noteholders and such holder must produce evidence 
satisfactory to the Issuer and the Paying Agent as to its holding of Notes and identity); 

(f) this Base Prospectus and any supplement to this Base Prospectus and any other document 
incorporated by reference herein or therein; 

(g) the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the years 
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 and the unaudited consolidated interim report of the 
Issuer as of and for the six months ended 30 June 2017; 

(h) the most recently published audited or unaudited consolidated (if available) financial 
statements of the Issuer; and 

(i) the Issuer-ICSDs Agreement (which is entered into between the Issuer and Euroclear and/or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg with respect to the settlement in Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg of Notes in New Global Note form). 

A copy of this Base Prospectus will also be electronically available for viewing on the website of the 
Irish Stock Exchange (www.ise.ie). A copy of the documents incorporated by reference in this Base 
Prospectus will be electronically available for viewing on the Issuer’s website (www.bancaifis.it). 

9. Clearing of the Notes 

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The 
appropriate common code and the International Securities Identification Number in relation to the 
Notes of each Tranche will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. The applicable Final Terms 
shall specify any other clearing system as shall have accepted the relevant Notes for clearance 
together with any further appropriate information. 

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B 1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address 
of Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue J.F. Kennedy, L 1855 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of 
Luxembourg. 

11. Conditions for determining price 

The issue price and the amount of the relevant Notes will be determined at the time of the offering of 
each Tranche based on then prevailing market conditions. 

12. Potential Conflicts of Interest 

Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates (including parent companies) have engaged, and may in the 
future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions and may perform 
services for the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business. In addition, in the ordinary 
course of their business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates (including parent companies) may 
make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related 
derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for 
the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities 
and/or instruments of the Issuer or Issuer's affiliates. Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates 
(including parent companies) that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their 
credit exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, 
such Dealers and their affiliates (including parent companies) would hedge such exposure by entering 
into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short 
positions in securities, including potentially the Notes issued under the Programme. Any such short 
positions could adversely affect future trading prices of Notes issued under the Programme. The 
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Dealers and their affiliates (including parent companies) may also make investment recommendations 
and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial 
instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in 
such securities and instruments. 

The applicable Final Terms will specify any other interests of natural and legal persons involved in 
each issue/offer of Notes under the Programme. 

13. Post-Issuance Information 

The Issuer will not provide any post-issuance information, unless required to do so by any applicable 
laws and regulations. 

14. Copies of ISDA Definitions 

Investors should consult the Issuer should they require copies of the ISDA Definitions. 

 
 
 
 



 

 

   
 

REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE ISSUER 

Banca IFIS S.p.A. 

Via Terraglio 63 
30174 Mestre (VE) 

Italy 

ARRANGER 

UniCredit Bank AG 

Arabellastrasse, 12 
81925 Munich 

Germany 

DEALERS 

Banca IMI S.p.A. 

Largo Mattioli, 3 
20121 Milan 

Italy 

BNP Paribas 

10 Harewood Avenue 
London NW1 6AA 
United Kingdom 

Citigroup Global Markets Limited 

Citigroup Centre 
Canada Square 
Canary Wharf 

London E14 5LB 
United Kingdom 

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch 

Winchester House 
1 Great Winchester Street 

London EC2N 2DB 
United Kingdom 

Goldman Sachs International 

Peterborough Court 
133 Fleet Street 

London EC4A 2BB 
United Kingdom 

Intermonte SIM S.p.A. 

Galleria De Cristoforis 7/8  
20122 Milan 

Italy 

J.P. Morgan Securities plc 

25 Bank Street 
Canary Wharf 

London E14 5JP 
United Kingdom 

Mediobanca – Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A.  

Piazzetta Enrico Cuccia, 
1 20121 Milan  

Italy 

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc 

25 Cabot Square 
Canary Wharf 

London E14 4QA 
United Kingdom 

MPS Capital Services Banca per le Imprese S.p.A. 

Viale Mazzini 23 
53100 Siena 

Italy 

Nomura International plc 

1 Angel Lane  
London EC4R 3AB  

United Kingdom 

UBS Limited 

5 Broadgate 
London EC2M 2QS 

United Kingdom 

UniCredit Bank AG 

Arabellastrasse, 12 
81925 Munich 

Germany 



 

 

   
 

AGENT 

BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 

60, Avenue J.F. Kennedy 
L 1855 Luxembourg 

Grand Duchy of Luxembourg 

LEGAL ADVISERS 

To the Issuer as to Italian and English law: 

Clifford Chance Studio Legale Associato 

Piazzetta M. Bossi, 3 
20121 Milan 

Italy 

To the Dealers as to Italian and English law: 

Simmons & Simmons 
Via Tommaso Grossi, 2 

20121 Milan 
Italy 

Citypoint 
One Ropemaker Street 

London EC2Y 9SS 
United Kingdom 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE ISSUER 

EY S.p.A. 

Via Po 32 
00196 Rome 

Italy 

LISTING AGENT 

BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 

60, Avenue J.F. Kennedy 
L 1855 Luxembourg 

Grand Duchy of Luxembourg 
 


	IMPORTANT NOTICE
	STABILISATION
	MARKET SHARE INFORMATION AND STATISTICS
	PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES
	FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
	CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS
	RISK FACTORS
	The Issuer’s business and results are affected by economic conditions in Italy and, more generally, by a volatile macroeconomic environment
	Economic uncertainty and changes in regulations could significantly affect the Issuer’s customer and debtor performance
	The Issuer may evaluate incorrectly the credit risk associated with the timing and/or the amount of future payments by debtors
	Extensive regulation in the banking sector may adversely affect the Issuer’s business
	The Issuer may be unable to meet minimum capital adequacy requirements
	The Issuer is exposed to liquidity risk
	The Issuer may not be able to cover its exposure to credit and market risk
	The Issuer may be unable to meet the objectives of its growth strategy
	The Issuer may be unable to integrate Interbanca Group’s business successfully
	The Group’s historical financial and operating results are not indicative of future performance and will not be comparable with its future financial and operating results
	The Issuer’s business is exposed to a variety of operational risks, including fraud, errors, security breaches or other adverse events, some that are wholly or partially out of its control
	Any malfunction or defect in the Issuer’s information technology systems could materially affect its ability to operate its business
	The Issuer collects, stores and processes sensitive personal data belonging to its customers
	The Issuer’s risk management policies, procedures and methods may leave it exposed to unidentified or unanticipated risks
	The Issuer may not be able to attract and retain key personnel
	The Issuer is involved in disputes, investigations and legal proceedings which could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer
	There can be no assurances of the success of any of the Group’s future attempts to acquire additional businesses or of the Group’s ability to integrate any businesses acquired in the future
	The Issuer operates in a highly competitive market and may not be able to maintain its current market share
	The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors
	The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive may affect Notes
	Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer
	Redemption prior to maturity for tax reasons
	Redemption for regulatory reasons
	Reform of LIBOR and EURIBOR and other interest rate index and equity, commodity and foreign exchange rate index “benchmarks”
	CMS Linked Interest Notes
	Fixed Rate Notes
	Variable rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor
	Fixed/Floating Rate Notes
	Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium
	Reset Notes
	Subordinated Notes
	Modification or Substitution of Subordinated Notes
	Waiver of set-off
	Conflict of interest – Calculation Agent
	Payments in respect of the Notes may in certain circumstances be made subject to withholding or deduction of tax
	U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) Withholding
	Regulatory classification of the Subordinated Notes
	Risks relating to change of law or administrative practices
	Decisions at Noteholders’ meetings bind all Noteholders
	Investors must rely on the procedures of the clearing systems
	Minimum Denomination
	The Notes do not restrict the amount of debt which the Issuer may incur
	The secondary market generally
	Transfers of the Notes may be restricted, which may adversely affect the secondary market liquidity and/or trading prices of the Notes
	Credit ratings may not reflect all risks
	The Notes may be delisted
	Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments
	Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

	OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME
	INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
	FURTHER PROSPECTUSES AND SUPPLEMENTS
	FORM OF THE NOTES
	FORM OF FINAL TERMS
	TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES
	1. Form, Denomination and Title
	2. Status of Senior Notes
	3. Status of Subordinated Notes
	4. Definitions
	5. Fixed Rate Note provisions
	5.1 Application
	5.2 Interest Accrual
	5.3 Fixed Coupon Amount
	5.4 Calculation of Interest Amount

	6. Reset Rate Note Provisions
	6.1 Application
	6.2 Interest Basis Reset Provisions
	6.3 Interest Accrual
	6.4 Reset Rate Screen Page
	6.5 Calculation of Interest Amount
	6.6 Publication
	6.7 Notifications

	7. Floating Rate and CMS Linked Interest Note Provisions
	7.1 Application
	7.2 Interest Accrual
	7.3 Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes other than CMS Linked Interest Notes
	7.4 Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes which are CMS Linked Interest Notes
	7.5 ISDA Determination
	7.6 Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest
	7.7 Calculation of Interest Amount
	7.8 Publication
	7.9 Notifications

	8. Change of Interest Basis
	9. Zero Coupon Notes Provisions
	9.1 Application
	9.2 Late Payment on Zero Coupon Notes

	10. Payments
	10.1 Payments in respect of Notes
	10.2 Payments in New York City
	10.3 Payments subject to applicable laws
	10.4 Surrender of unmatured Coupons
	10.5 Unmatured Coupons void
	10.6 Payments on a Business Day
	10.7 Agents
	10.8 Partial Payments
	10.9 Exchange of Talons

	11. Redemption and Purchase
	11.1 Final Redemption
	11.2 Redemption for Taxation Reasons
	11.3 Redemption for Regulatory Reasons
	11.4 Redemption at the Option of the Issuer
	11.5 Partial Redemption
	11.6 Redemption of Subordinated Notes
	11.7 Redemption at the Option of Noteholders
	11.8 No other redemption
	11.9 Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes
	11.10 Purchases
	11.11 Cancellations

	12. Taxation
	12.1 Payment without Withholding
	12.2 Additional Amounts

	13. Prescription
	14. Replacement of Notes and Coupons
	15. Events of Default
	15.1 Events of Default of Senior Notes
	15.2 Events of Default of Subordinated Notes

	16. Notices
	17. Meeting of Noteholders, Noteholders’ Representative; Modification
	17.1 Meetings of Noteholders
	17.2 Modification
	17.3 Modification or Substitution of Subordinated Notes following a Regulatory Event or a Tax Event

	18. Rounding
	19. Further Issues
	20. Currency Indemnity
	21. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
	22. Governing Law and Submission to Jurisdiction
	22.1 Governing Law
	22.2 Submission to Jurisdiction
	22.3 Agent for Service of Process

	23. Contractual Recognition of Bail-in Powers

	SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES IN GLOBAL FORM
	USE OF PROCEEDS
	SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER
	TAXATION
	SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE
	GENERAL INFORMATION

